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DirectCash Payments Inc. (the "Corporation" or "DirectCash") is hereby qualifying for distribution 2,800,000 
common shares ("Common Shares") of the Corporation at a price of $23.35 per Common Share (the "Offering").  
The issued and outstanding Common Shares of DirectCash are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the "TSX") 
under the trading symbol "DCI". The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares distributed 
under this short form prospectus on the TSX.  Listing is subject to the Corporation fulfilling all of the listing 
requirements of the TSX on or before October 24, 2012. On July 20, 2012, the last full trading day prior to the 
public announcement of the Offering, the closing price of the Common Shares on the TSX was $24.00. On July 31, 
2012, the last trading day prior to the date of this short form prospectus, the closing price of the Common Shares on 
the TSX was $23.36. The offering price of the Common Shares offered hereunder was determined by negotiation 
between DirectCash and BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. (the "Lead Underwriter"), on its own behalf and on behalf of 
Acumen Capital Finance Partners Limited and Scotia Capital Inc. (collectively, with the Lead Underwriter, the 
"Underwriters"). 

 Price to the Public Underwriters' Fee (1) 
Net Proceeds 

to DirectCash (2) 

    
Per Common Share $23.35 $1.05075 $22.29925 
Total: $65,380,000 $2,942,100 $62,437,900 

Notes: 
(1) The Corporation has agreed to pay the Underwriters a fee equal to 4.5% of the gross proceeds of the Offering (the 

"Underwriters' Fees"). See "Plan of Distribution". 
(2) Before deducting expenses of the Offering payable by the Corporation, estimated to be $110,000. 

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Common Shares, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued 
by DirectCash and delivered to and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with the conditions contained in the 
Underwriting Agreement referred to under "Plan of Distribution" and subject to approval of certain legal matters 
relating to the Offering on behalf of DirectCash by Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, and on behalf of the 
Underwriters by Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP.  

DirectCash's head and registered office is located at Bay #6, 1420 – 28th Street N.E., Calgary, Alberta, T2A 7W6. 
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- ii - 

Subscriptions for Common Shares will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the right 
is reserved to close the subscription books at any time without notice. It is expected that closing will occur on or 
about August 9, 2012, but in any event not later than August 17, 2012 (the "Closing Date").  See "Plan of 
Distribution".  

Except in certain limited circumstances: (i) Common Shares will each be represented by a global certificate issued in 
registered form to CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. ("CDS") or its nominee under the book-based system 
administered by CDS; (ii) no certificates evidencing Common Shares will be issued to purchasers of Common 
Shares; and (iii) purchasers of Common Shares will receive only a customer confirmation from the Underwriter or 
other registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through whom a beneficial interest in the Common 
Shares is purchased.  See "Plan of Distribution". 

Subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may, in connection with the Offering, effect transactions which 
stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares at levels other than those that might otherwise prevail 
on the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. See "Plan of Distribution". 

The Underwriters propose to offer the Common Shares initially at the offering price specified above. After a 
reasonable effort has been made to sell all the Common Shares at the price specified, the Underwriters may 
subsequently reduce the selling price to investors from time to time in order to sell any of the Common Shares 
remaining unsold. Any such reduction will not affect the net proceeds received by DirectCash. See "Plan of 
Distribution". 

An investment in the securities offered hereunder is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. The risk 
factors identified under the heading "Risk Factors" and "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements" in this short form prospectus and in the AIF (as defined herein) should be carefully reviewed and 
evaluated by prospective subscribers before purchasing the securities being offered hereunder. 

The Lead Underwriter and Scotia Capital Inc. are subsidiaries of Canadian chartered banks which are members 
of the Corporation's lending syndicate and to which the Corporation is currently indebted.  Consequently, the 
Corporation may be considered to be a connected issuer of the Lead Underwriter and Scotia Capital Inc. for the 
purposes of securities regulations in certain provinces.  All of the net proceeds of the Offering will be used to 
reduce the outstanding indebtedness of the Corporation to its lenders. The Lead Underwriter also acted as 
financial advisor to the Corporation in connection with the Customers Acquisition (as defined herein). See 
"Relationship Among the Corporation and Certain Underwriters", "Use of Proceeds" and "Material Debt". 
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This short form prospectus and the documents referenced herein may contain "forward-looking statements" within 
the meaning of applicable securities legislation and which involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors which may cause the actual results, events, expectations, performance or achievements of the 
Corporation or the industry in which it participates, to be materially different from any future results, events, 
expectations, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements may include comments with respect to the Corporation's objectives, strategies to 
achieve those objectives, expected financial results, the outlook for the business of the Corporation, the 
Corporation's ability to pursue growth through expansion of existing lines of business and strategic acquisitions, the 
ability of new competitors to enter applicable markets and industry trends. Forward-looking statements typically 
contain words or phrases such as "may", "outlook", "objective", "intend", "estimate", "anticipate", "should", "could", 
"would", "will", "expect", "believe", "plan" and other similar terminology suggesting future outcomes or events. 
Although management believes that the expectations represented in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, 
there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct. 

In particular, but without limiting the foregoing, this short form prospectus contains forward-looking information 
and statements pertaining to the following:  

• the timing and completion of the Offering and the High Yield Offering (as defined herein); 
• the use of proceeds of the Offering and the High Yield Offering; 
• operating, general and administrative and other expenses; 
• cash dividends and the funding and tax treatment thereof; 
• synergies in the acquired businesses including hiring, remuneration and maintenance of staff; 
• the Corporation's acquisition strategy and the existence of acquisition opportunities, the criteria to be 

considered in connection therewith and the benefits to be derived therefrom, including the 
Customers Acquisition (as defined herein) and the InfoCash Acquisition (as defined herein); 

• the impact of the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition on DirectCash's operations, 
opportunities and financial condition; 

• the Corporation's ability to benefit from the combination of growth opportunities and the ability to 
grow through the capital markets; 

• future income tax and its effect on cash flow from operating activities and cash dividends; 
• changes to laws and regulations effecting DirectCash's business;  
• DirectCash's ability to finance the cash in its ATMs at sufficient levels required to grow its business; 
• DirectCash's ability to adopt new technologies and effectively integrate the same into its business; 
• renewal of and borrowing costs associated with the Debt Agreements (as defined herein);  
• future debt levels, financial capacity, liquidity and capital resources; 
• future contractual commitments; 
• the Corporation's treatment under governmental regulatory regimes and current and pending changes 

to the same; 
• business strategies and plans of management, including future changes in the structure of business 

operations, plans for acquired businesses and other general business opportunities; and 
• the reliance on third parties in the industry to develop and expand the Corporation's assets and 

operations.  
 

The forward-looking information and statements contained in this short form prospectus reflect several material 
factors and expectations and assumptions of the Corporation including, without limitation, that the Corporation will 
conduct its operations in a manner consistent with its expectations and, where applicable, consistent with past 
practice; the general continuance of current or, where applicable, assumed industry conditions; the continuance of 
existing, and in certain circumstances, the implementation of proposed tax and regulatory regimes; the ability of the 
Corporation to obtain equipment, services, and supplies in a timely and cost effective manner to carry out its 
activities; the timely receipt of required regulatory approvals; the continued availability of adequate debt and/or 
equity financing and cash flow from operating activities to fund the Corporation's capital and operating requirements 
as needed; and the extent of the Corporation's liabilities. 
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The Corporation believes the material factors, expectations and assumptions reflected in the forward-looking 
information and statements are reasonable but no assurance can be given that these factors, expectations and 
assumptions will prove to be correct. The forward-looking information and statements included in this short form 
prospectus are not guarantees of future performance and should not be unduly relied upon. Such information and 
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events 
to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking information or statements including, without 
limitation: 

• incorrect assessments on transaction and other costs associated with the Customers Acquisition and 
the InfoCash Acquisition; 

• failure of the Customers Acquisition and InfoCash Acquisition to be significantly accretive to 
DirectCash's cash flow from operating activities in the fiscal year following each acquisition; 

• reliance on industry partners; 
• increased debt levels or debt service requirements; 
• fluctuation in foreign exchange or interest rates; 
• changes in general economic, market and business conditions in the markets in which DirectCash 

operates; 
• the need to obtain required approvals from regulatory authorities;  
• changes in laws applicable to the Corporation or other regulatory matters, including increased 

regulations on the Corporation's business; 
• changes in the cash usage habits in the markets in which DirectCash operates; 
• the Corporation's ability to retain and attract qualified management and staff in the markets in which 

DirectCash operates; 
• general economic conditions in Canada, the United States, Mexico, the United Kingdom, Australia, 

New Zealand and globally; 
• unforeseen difficulties in integrating the operations of Customers into DirectCash's operations; 
• the Corporation's reliance on incumbent management teams of Customers and InfoCash and other 

key operational and managerial personnel; 
• risks associated with the ATM business, loss of markets, consumer spending and borrowing trends; 
• the results of litigation or regulatory proceedings that may be brought against DirectCash; 
• stock market volatility and market valuations;  
• limited, unfavourable, or a lack of access to capital markets;  
• changes in the rules governing the various networks that DirectCash utilizes (including VISA, 

MasterCard and Interac); 
• certain other risks detailed from time to time in the Corporation's public disclosure documents 

including, without limitation, the DirectCash AIF (as defined herein) incorporated by reference 
herein and DirectCash's management's discussion and analysis for the three months ended March 31, 
2012 and the year ended December 31, 2011, both of which are incorporated by reference herein as 
well as those risks and contingencies described above and under the heading "Risk Factors" in this 
short form prospectus.  
 

Forward-looking statements involve numerous assumptions and should not be read as guarantees of future 
performance or results. Such statements will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not such future 
performance or results will be achieved. You should not unduly rely on forward-looking statements as a number of 
factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Corporation, could cause actual results to differ materially from 
the results discussed in the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to the factors listed below under 
the heading "Risk Factors" and those discussed in materials filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities 
from time to time. Although the forward-looking statements contained in this short form prospectus are based upon 
what management of the Corporation believes are reasonable assumptions, the Corporation cannot assure investors 
that actual performance or results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. These statements reflect 
current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and are based on information currently 
available to management. There can be no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations upon which these 
forward-looking statements are based will occur. 
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Any financial outlook or future oriented financial information in this short form prospectus, as defined by applicable 
securities legislation, has been approved by management of DirectCash. Such financial outlook or future oriented 
financial information is provided for the purpose of providing information about management's current expectations 
and plans relating to the future. Readers are cautioned that reliance on such information may not be appropriate for 
other purposes. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive. The forward-looking statements 
contained in this short form prospectus, and the documents incorporated by reference herein, are expressly 
qualified by this cautionary statement. The forward-looking information and statements contained in this 
short form prospectus speak only as of the date of this short form prospectus, and none of the Corporation or 
its subsidiaries assumes any obligation to publicly update or revise them to reflect new events or 
circumstances, unless expressly required to do so by applicable securities laws and readers should also 
carefully consider the matters discussed under the heading "Risk Factors" in this short form prospectus.  

SELECTED DEFINITIONS  

In this short form prospectus, the abbreviations and terms set forth below have the meanings indicated: 

"A$" means Australian dollars; 

"ABCA" means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), R.S.A. 2000, c. B-9, as amended or re-enacted from time 
to time, including the regulations promulgated thereunder; 

"Acquired Assets" means those assets of Customers used in the operation of the business of Customers described in 
more detail under "The Customers Acquisition"; 

"Board of Directors" means the board of directors of DirectCash as it may be constituted from time to time; 

"Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, or a statutory holiday, on which major Canadian 
chartered banks are open for business in Calgary, Alberta; 

"Customers" means Customers Limited, a corporation organized under the laws of Tasmania, Australia; 

"Customers Acquisition" means the acquisition by DirectCash of all of the issued and outstanding Customers 
Shares pursuant to the Scheme Implementation Deed completed on July 4, 2012;  

"Customers Annual Financial Statements" means the audited consolidated financial statements of Customers for 
the year ended June 30, 2011, together with the notes thereto and the auditors' report thereon; 

"Customers Interim Financial Statements" means the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements of Customers for the nine months ended March 31, 2012, together with the notes thereto; 

"Customers Shares" means the ordinary shares in the capital of Customers; 

"DirectCash" or the "Corporation" means DirectCash Payments Inc., a corporation existing under the ABCA; 

"DirectCash Shareholders" means the holders of all the issued and outstanding Common Shares; 

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in Canada; 

"IFRS" means international financial reporting standards; 

"InfoCash" means InfoCash Holdings Limited; 
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"InfoCash Acquisition" means the acquisition of InfoCash as described under "Recent Developments – The 
InfoCash Acquisition"; 

"Purchase Price" means the value of consideration payable by DirectCash for all of the issued and outstanding 
Customers Shares pursuant to the Scheme Implementation Deed of approximately A$173 million plus the 
assumption of approximately A$44 million of debt; 

"Scheme Implementation Deed" or "SID" means the Scheme Implementation Deed between DirectCash and 
Customers dated April 2, 2012 pursuant to which DirectCash agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
Customers Shares as more particularly described under "Recent Developments – The Customers Acquisition"; 

"Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act (Canada), R.S.C. 1985, c. 1 (5th Supp), as amended, including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder; 

"TSX" means the Toronto Stock Exchange; 

"Underwriting Agreement" means the agreement dated effective as of July 23, 2012 among DirectCash and the 
Underwriters in respect of the Offering; and 

"United States" or "U.S." means the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any state of the 
United States and the District of Columbia. 

Words importing the singular number only include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing any gender 
include all genders. 

NON-GAAP MEASURES 

DirectCash prepares its financial statements in Canadian dollars and in conformity with GAAP. Consolidated 
financial information prior to January 1, 2010 was reported in accordance with GAAP in effect prior to January 1, 
2010 (which did not include IFRS compliance requirements).  All financial statements and financial data contained 
in this short form prospectus in respect of Customers has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") represents net income plus finance costs, 
depreciation, amortization, acquisition costs, share of loss in equity accounted associate, bargain purchase gain and 
taxes and is not a defined performance measure under GAAP. DirectCash believes that EBITDA is useful 
supplementary disclosure commonly used by the investing community to assess and compare performance between 
entities. DirectCash's and Customers' EBITDA may differ from similar computations as reported by other issuers 
and, accordingly, may not be comparable to EBITDA as reported by such issuers. The most directly comparable 
IFRS measure is "net income". A reconciliation between EBITDA and net income is disclosed in the "Financial 
Highlights" sections of DirectCash's Management's Discussion and Analysis for each of the year ended December 
31, 2011 and the three month period ended March 31, 2012 incorporated by reference into this short form 
prospectus. 

Market capitalization is calculated by applying the period end closing Common Share trading price to the number of 
Common Shares outstanding. Market capitalization is an indication of the equity value.  

Caution Regarding Non-GAAP Measures 

Readers should be cautioned that EBITDA should not replace net income or loss (as determined in accordance with 
GAAP) as an indicator of DirectCash's performance. DirectCash's method of calculating EBITDA may differ from 
the methods used by other issuers. Therefore, DirectCash's EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures 
presented by other issuers. 
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CURRENCY CONVERSION 

DirectCash presents its consolidated financial statements in Canadian dollars. All references in this prospectus to 
"dollars" or "$" are to Canadian dollars and all references to "US$" are to United States dollars and all references to 
"A$" are to Australian dollars. 

The following table sets forth, for each of the periods indicated, the period end exchange rate, the average noon 
exchange rate and the high and low noon rate for one U.S. dollar, as reported by the Bank of Canada and expressed 
in Canadian dollars. On July 31, 2012, the Bank of Canada noon rate for conversion of Canadian dollars into U.S. 
dollars was US$1.00 = CDN$1.0014. 

  
Year Ended December 31,  

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

 2011 2010 2012 
 US$ US$ US$ 
High  ......................................   1.0604 1.0778 1.0272 
Low  .......................................   0.9449 0.9946 0.9849 
Average  .................................   0.9891 1.0299 1.0011 
Closing  ..................................   1.0170 0.9946 0.9991 
 

The following table sets forth, for each of the periods indicated, the period-end exchange rate, the average noon 
exchange rate and the high and low noon rate for one Australian dollar, as reported by the Bank of Canada and 
expressed in Canadian dollars. On July 31, 2012, the Bank of Canada noon rate for conversion of Canadian dollars 
into Australian dollars was A$1.00 = CDN$1.0536. 

  
Year Ended December 31, 

Three Months Ended 
March 31, 

 2011 2010 2012 
 A$ A$ A$ 
High  ......................................   1.0660 1.0180 1.0324 
Low  .......................................   0.9709 0.8633 1.0754 
Average  .................................   1.0206 0.9470 1.0566 
Closing  ..................................   1.0424 1.0180 1.0358 
 

INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA 

The Corporation has obtained the market and competitive position data used throughout this short-form prospectus 
from the Corporation's own research, surveys or studies conducted by third parties, publicly available information 
and industry publications. The publicly available information and the surveys, studies and publications provided by 
third parties generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be 
reliable, but they do not guarantee the accuracy and completeness of that information. The Corporation has not 
independently verified the information, and cannot guarantee its accuracy or completeness. Similarly, the 
Corporation believes its internal research is reliable, but it has not been verified by any independent sources.  
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

Information has been incorporated by reference in this short form prospectus from documents filed with 
certain securities commissions or similar authorities. Copies of the documents incorporated herein by reference 
may be obtained on request without charge from the Chief Financial Officer of DirectCash, at Bay #6, 1420 – 28th 
Street NE, Calgary, Alberta T2A 7W6, Telephone (403) 387-2103. In addition, copies of the documents 
incorporated herein by reference may be obtained from the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada 
through the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

The following documents of the Corporation filed with various securities commissions or similar authorities in the 
provinces of Canada are specifically incorporated by reference into and form an integral part of this short form 
prospectus: 

1. the annual information form of the Corporation dated March 16, 2012 for the year ended December 31, 
2011 (the "AIF"); 

2. the (amended) audited consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, together with the notes thereto and the auditors' report thereon (the "Annual 
Financial Statements"); 

3. management's discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2011; 

4. the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the three 
months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, together with the notes thereto (the "Interim Financial 
Statements"); 

5. management's discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Corporation for the three months ended March 31, 2012; 

6. the information circular – proxy statement of the Corporation dated April 20, 2012 relating to the annual 
meeting of DirectCash Shareholders held on May 24, 2012; 

7. the material change report of the Corporation dated April 2, 2012 in respect of the Corporation's execution 
of the Scheme Implementation Deed to acquire Customers; 

8. the material change report of the Corporation dated May 30, 2012 in respect of the InfoCash Acquisition;  

9. the material change report of the Corporation dated July 6, 2012 in respect of the closing of the Customers 
Acquisition; and 

10. the material change report of the Corporation dated July 24, 2012 in respect of the Offering. 

Any documents of the type referred to above and required by National Instrument 44-101 – Short Form Prospectus 
Distributions to be incorporated by reference in a short form prospectus, including any material change reports 
(excluding confidential reports), comparative interim financial statements and comparative annual financial 
statements (together with the auditors' report thereon), management's discussion and analysis, annual information 
forms, business acquisition reports and information circulars filed by DirectCash with the securities commissions or 
similar authorities in the provinces of Canada subsequent to the date of this short form prospectus and before the 
termination of the distribution of the Offering shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this short form 
prospectus. 

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall 
be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purposes of this short form prospectus to the extent that a 
statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is deemed to be, 

http://www.sedar.com/�
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incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. The modifying or superseding 
statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include any other 
information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or 
superseding statement shall not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded 
statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission 
to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in 
light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be 
deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this short form prospectus. 



- 8 - 

DIRECTCASH PAYMENTS INC.  

General 

The Corporation, through its indirectly owned subsidiaries, carries on the business of: (i) owning and operating 
automated teller machines ("ATMs"), direct payment terminals ("Debit Terminals"), related ATM and Debit 
Terminal equipment, and all associated services provided by the Corporation, including, without limitation, selling, 
distributing, leasing, financing, installing and servicing ATMs, Debit Terminals and associated ATM and Debit 
Terminal equipment; (ii) providing electronic processing services relating to transactions requested or carried out 
using ATMs and Debit Terminals (for equipment owned by the Corporation or third parties); and (iii) marketing and 
transaction processing for prepaid cash cards, prepaid cellular air time, prepaid long distance airtime, prepaid 
telephone land lines, and pre-authorized debit (PAD) services ("Prepaid Products").  See "DirectCash Payments 
Inc.", "DirectCash's ATM and Debit Terminal Businesses", "DirectCash's Prepaid Product & Prepaid Card 
Business" and "DirectCash's Prepaid Cellular, Long Distance, & Land Line Products" in the AIF. 

Since the date of the AIF, the Corporation has completed two acquisitions, discussed in "Recent Developments" 
below.  As a result, the Corporation's organizational structure has changed.  The following chart illustrates the 
DirectCash's organizational structure as of the date of this document: 

 

DirectCash is the largest operator of ATMs in Canada and, with the acquisition of Customers, is now the largest 
operator of ATMs in Australia. DirectCash also carries on business in other markets, including: (a) ATM services in 
the U.S.A., (b) ATM services in Mexico, (c) ATM services and prepaid cards in Australia, (d) ATM services in New 
Zealand, and (e) ATM services and prepaid cards in the U.K. DirectCash is a full-service operator and transaction 
processor in each of these business units and has been in the ATM business since 1997 and the Debit Terminal and 
Prepaid Products businesses since 2002.  
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After giving effect to the acquisitions of Customers and InfoCash (each as described in further detail below), as at 
March 31, 2012, the Corporation operated approximately 7,200 ATM terminals and 3,400 debit terminals in Canada, 
6,000 ATM terminals in Australia, 4,700 ATM terminals in the United Kingdom, 600 ATM terminals in New 
Zealand, 355 ATM terminals in Mexico and 30 ATM terminals in the United States. For the last twelve months 
ended March 31, 2012, we processed over 10.5 million transactions in DirectCash's prepaid products business 
globally.  The Corporation's Common Shares trade on the TSX under the symbol "DCI" and as of July 31, 2012, it 
had a market capitalization of approximately $323 million.  

ATM Business (75% of pro forma revenue and 77% of pro forma gross profit for the year ended December 31, 
2011) 

The ATM business generated $182 million of revenue and $95 million of gross profit for the year ended December 
31, 2011 on a pro forma basis. See "Schedule "A" – Pro Forma Financial Statement of DirectCash". The ATM 
business has three types of arrangements: 

1. Processing Contracts: an ATM which is owned by a retailer or a third party and cash-loaded by the 
retailer or the third party, where DirectCash processes the ATM transactions and the retailer or 
third party pays for the transaction processing, maintenance and service support; 

 
2. Partial Placement: an ATM owned and maintained by DirectCash but cash-loaded by the retailer 

or third party; and 
 
3. Full Placement: an ATM owned, maintained and cash-loaded by DirectCash. 

The Corporation enjoys long term relationships with its customers and these arrangements are under contracts that 
generally include initial terms of approximately six years, renewal provisions and rights of first refusal. As at 
December 31, 2011, the Corporation's customers have executed contracts that have a remaining average life of 
approximately 38 months.  

Revenue from the ATM business is derived from the following sources:  

1. Surcharge and interchange fees; 
2. Processing and maintenance fees; 
3. Margin on exchange rates; 
4. Margin on the sale of ATMs and ATM parts; and  
5. Miscellaneous fees. 

Growth in the Corporation's ATM business is focused on adding ATM assets through accretive acquisitions of 
competitors and maintaining existing customer relationships by offering best in class customer service and support 
and growing organically with the Corporation's sales force. With approximately 7,200 ATMs currently deployed in 
Canada, DirectCash is the largest provider in Canada's fragmented ATM market. According to the Interac 
Association, there are presently approximately 60,000 ATMs in Canada.  The Corporation estimates that 
approximately 23,000 ATMs are owned by approximately 150 non-bank deployers with only five of these deployers 
owning in excess of 500 units. This represents an opportunity for further industry consolidation and growth for the 
Corporation's business. In addition, new industry upgrades to ATMs present us with the opportunity to incent 
customers to switch to DirectCash from alternate suppliers by providing new upgraded ATMs as well as the 
Corporation's significant investment in technology, service and infrastructure.  Please refer to the "Industry" section 
below for further details.  

To date in 2012, the Corporation has made several acquisitions, one of which was the Customers Acquisition on 
July 4, 2012. Additionally, the Corporation has acquired 4,800 ATM sites since January 1, 2012 including through 
the other acquisition of note, the InfoCash Acquisition, which was completed on May 25, 2012, wherein the 
Corporation acquired the automated teller machine business of InfoCash, based in the United Kingdom, consisting 
of approximately 4,700 ATM sites for consideration of $19.1 million.  InfoCash is the third largest independent 
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deployer of ATMs in the United Kingdom, and provides an excellent platform for European growth, with a strong 
management team in place.   

After giving effect to the acquisitions of Customers and InfoCash, approximately, 21% of the Corporation's ATM 
units are the result of organic sales contributed by the Corporation's experienced sales team. The Corporation 
supplements organic growth by making acquisitions in the Corporation's target markets at reasonable valuations, 
which have contributed approximately 79% of the Corporation's ATM units. Acquisitions have historically been 
financed by a conservative mix of cash flow from operations, equity and debt, allowing us to maintain a strong 
balance sheet.   

After giving effect to the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition, the following charts set out the 
number of active ATMs connected through DirectCash up to March 31, 2012, as well as the corresponding number 
of annual approved ATM transactions. 

Number of Active DirectCash ATMs  
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Note: 

(1) For the years ended December 31 and the last twelve months ended March 31, 2012.  Includes Customers and  
               InfoCash.  

Prepaid Products Business (24% of pro forma revenue and 22% of pro forma gross profit for the year ended 
December 31, 2011) 

For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Corporation's prepaid products business generated $58 million of 
revenue and $26 million of gross profit for DirectCash from the following (see "Schedule "A" – Pro Forma 
Financial Statement of DirectCash"):  

1. Sale of prepaid phone and prepaid cash cards; 
2. Transaction fees associated with the use of prepaid cash cards; 
3. Monthly fees associated with the use of prepaid cash cards; 
4. Account fees associated with the use of prepaid cash cards; and 
5. Pre-authorized debit fees whereby fees are earned for facilitating payments between merchants 

and their customers. 

These arrangements are also under long-term contracts, which generally include initial terms of up to ten years, 
renewal provisions and rights of first refusal.  The majority of the Corporation's prepaid products business is 
conducted in Canada with approximately 97% of revenues from this business unit earned in Canada.  

For the last several years, the prepaid products business has been the Corporation's highest organic growth line of 
business, largely due to the Corporation's strategic alliance with DirectCash Bank ("DC Bank"), as well as growth 
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within the Corporation's existing customers' businesses as the Corporation has launched new products and services. 
Organic growth has accounted for 100% of growth in prepaid products since 2002. In Canada, DirectCash offers 
prepaid card products for both the MasterCard (a prepaid credit card product) and Interac (a debit card product) 
networks. A prepaid Visa product is currently offered by the Corporation's Australian operations and the 
Corporation plans to introduce the same in Canada in 2012/2013. All prepaid products are referred to as such 
because they are branded by either MasterCard, Visa or Interac. All prepaid products are pre-loaded with balances 
and no credit is advanced to the card holder by us or any third party as part of the transaction. Prior to any value 
being loaded on a card, the Corporation obtains security from the Corporation's merchants in the form of a Letter of 
Credit or cash collateral security.  

DirectCash's focus in this line of business is the development of new products and the diversification of the 
Corporation's customer base. The Corporation expects to see continued growth through its existing customer base as 
customers expand their prepaid products offering both domestically and internationally. To this end, it has 
developed and expanded products such as the sale of prepaid telephone cards, virtual voucher telephone cards, 
electronic fund transfer services, gift cards, and prepaid Visa products. Additionally, through its strategic alliance 
with DC Bank, DirectCash can now arrange for bank accounts and related financial services offered to customers of 
its prepaid card products. 

Approved Prepaid Card Transactions(1) Gross Profit per Card Load(2) 
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(1) For the years ended December 31 and the last twelve months ended March 31, 2012. 
(2) Gross profit per card load is a Non-GAAP financial measure, which is calculated as Prepaid Products gross profit  
 divided by prepaid card activations during the period; for the years ended December 31 and the three months  
 ended March 31, 2012. 

 

Debit Terminal Business (1% of pro forma revenue and 1% of pro forma gross profit for the year ended December 
31, 2011) 

DirectCash is a non-financial institution debit terminal provider in Canada, currently operating approximately 3,400 
debit terminals. For the year ended December 31, 2011, this business segment generated $2 million of revenue and 
$2 million of gross profit for DirectCash from the following (see "Schedule "A" – Pro Forma Financial Statement of 
DirectCash"):  

1. Debit Processing: a debit terminal which is owned by a retailer or third party, where DirectCash 
processes transactions and the retailer or third party pays for the transaction processing, 
maintenance, service and support; and 
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2. Debit Placement: a debit terminal which is owned by DirectCash and is placed into a retailer's 
premises, whereby DirectCash typically collects a rental fee. 

These arrangements are also under long-term contracts, which generally include initial terms of approximately six 
years, renewal provisions and rights of first refusal.   

The Debit Terminal Business is a complementary ancillary business for us as a significant amount of the 
Corporation's debit terminals are sold to merchants who are customers of the Corporation's ATM or Prepaid Product 
Business units. DirectCash differentiates itself in this business by offering unique products and services through the 
Corporation's debit terminals which the larger banks traditionally do not offer such as the sale of prepaid cellular and 
long distance products. As with the ATM business, industry upgrades to debit terminals provide the opportunity for 
us to attract new customers in need of debit payment systems or existing debit terminal users who will switch to the 
Corporation's services as a result of obtaining upgraded debit terminal devices.  

The following charts set out the number of debit terminals connected through DirectCash, up to March 31, 2012, as 
well as the corresponding number of annual debit terminal transactions.  
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Note:  

(1) For the years ended December 31 and the last twelve months ended March 31, 2012. 

Recent Developments 

On May 25, 2012, DirectCash announced that it had entered into an agreement with Triton Systems of Delaware, 
LLC ("Triton") to acquire the automated teller machine business of InfoCash, a wholly owned subsidiary of Triton 
based in the United Kingdom, which acquisition closed on May 25, 2012. The purchase price was $19.1 million 
including working capital such as inventory, prepaid expenses and accounts receivable. A total of approximately 
4,700 ATM sites and related contracts were acquired by DirectCash in the United Kingdom pursuant to this 
acquisition.  

On April 2, 2012, DirectCash announced it had entered into an agreement with Customers whereby it agreed to 
acquire all of the outstanding shares of Customers for A$1.27 per share in cash.  The total consideration for the 
purchase of 100% of the fully diluted shares of Customers was approximately A$173 million.  In addition the 
Corporation assumed approximately A$44 million in outstanding debt of Customers, which was subsequently re-
paid. The acquisition was implemented through a court-approved Scheme of Arrangement under Australian law 
completed on July 4, 2012.  

On June 22, 2012 the Corporation entered into new credit facilities with its lenders in connection with the closing of 
the Customers Acquisition.  See "Material Debt". 
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On July 23, 2012 DirectCash announced that it intends to issue $125 million aggregate principal amount of 7-year 
senior unsecured notes (the "Notes"). The Notes will be direct senior unsecured obligations of DirectCash ranking 
pari passu with all other present and future senior unsecured indebtedness of the Corporation. The Notes will be 
offered on a private placement basis through a syndicate of underwriters led by BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. (the "High 
Yield Offering").  Closing of the High Yield Offering is expected to occur on or about August 8, 2012 following a 
limited marketing process and determination of pricing.  

The Customers Acquisition 

On April 2, 2012, DirectCash announced it had entered into a Scheme Implementation Deed with Customers 
whereby the Corporation agreed to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Customers for A$1.27 per share in cash.  
The total consideration for the purchase of 100% of the fully diluted shares of Customers was approximately A$173 
million.  In addition, the Corporation agreed to assume approximately A$44 million of Customers' outstanding debt, 
which was subsequently repaid. Through the Customers Acquisition, the Corporation achieved the leading position 
in the Australian ATM market, where DirectCash currently has existing operations in the prepaid products line of 
business. 

Overview of Customers  

Headquartered in Melbourne, Australia, Customers is the largest ATM operator in Australia.  Customers provides 
ATM services primarily for retail, banking, gaming and entertainment, and hospitality industries, as well as mobile 
ATM services and ATM outsourcing services for corporations and financial institutions in Australia.  Similar to 
DirectCash, Customers' ATM sites are under contracts, typically with five year initial terms and renewal provisions. 
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, Customers generated $129 million in revenues and $66 million in 
gross profit. 

Customers' deployed ATM fleet represents over 21% of the aggregate Australian ATM market (including bank-
owned ATMs) and approximately 46% of the independent ATM market (source: Edgar, Dunn & Company 2010 
Australian ATM Market Study published November 11, 2010).  As of March 31, 2012, Customers had 
approximately 6,600 active ATMs deployed across Australia and New Zealand.  Customers entered the ATM 
business in 2003 and has since grown primarily through the acquisition of other independent ATM operators.  
Notable acquisitions include: St George Bank in 2005 (700 ATMs) and ATM Solutions, from Macquarie Bank in 
2007 (3,500 ATMs). In the last 24 months, Customers has been working with New Zealand banks to allow their 
cardholders access to Customers' ATMs in New Zealand.  As of April 2012, Customers' New Zealand ATMs were 
able to accept the majority of New Zealand's financial institutions' cards, thereby significantly improving the outlook 
of this business. Customers owns a 47.75% interest in New Zealand ATM Services Limited ("NZ ATM") which is 
one of the two major independent ATM operators in New Zealand. As of March 31, 2012, NZ ATM had 
approximately 585 ATMs deployed in New Zealand. Pursuant to a shareholders' agreement governing NZ ATM, 
Customers may be required to, among other things, acquire the remaining 52.25% of NZ ATM by March 2013 for 
total consideration of approximately A$11.0 million (including outstanding shareholder loans). 

The Australian ATM market is less mature than the Canadian market, and therefore is less saturated.  As a result, 
Customers' ATMs produce higher transaction volumes than the average ATM in Canada.  In light of the earlier stage 
of market development in Australia, as compared to Canada, the Corporation aims to replicate its successful strategy 
of: consolidating other independent ATM providers; levering Customers' early success in contracting with financial 
institutions to outsource their ATM networks; reducing Customers' cost structure to levels more comparable to 
DirectCash's; and creating efficiencies in both organizations given the scale of the combined business.  

Acquisition Highlights: 

• Unique opportunity to significantly grow the Corporation's core ATM business by adding 
approximately 6,600 ATM sites, for a pro forma total of  approximately 18,900, and become the 
largest branded ATM provider in both Canada and Australia and one of the largest, publicly 
traded, ATM providers in the world.  
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• Creates additional geographic diversification with operations now in six countries, including: 
Canada, Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, Mexico, and the United States. 

• Provides a platform for growth within Australia and throughout the Asia Pacific region, including 
the existing Customers initiative into New Zealand. 

• Opportunity to capitalize on favourable Australian market fundamentals driven by fewer ATMs 
per capita and higher transaction volume per ATM in comparison to the Canadian market. 

• As the co-founder, President & CEO, and major shareholder of DirectCash, Jeffrey Smith and his 
management team have a detailed understanding of the ATM business, and as a result, are very 
well positioned to apply industry best practices and improve performance at Customers. 

• Significant economies of scale are anticipated in transaction processing including the ability to 
reduce redundant managerial positions, consolidate call center operations and gain purchasing 
power with suppliers of machine hardware and telecommunication providers. 

Business Strengths 

Leading market position and premier operator. By focusing on providing retailers with reliable, low cost ATMs and 
debit terminals, superior customer service and real time web reporting, the Corporation has grown to be the largest 
ATM provider in Canada and Australia and the third largest non-bank ATM provider in the United Kingdom. The 
Corporation is one of the largest, publicly traded ATM providers in the world with operations in Canada, Australia, 
New Zealand, Mexico, the United Kingdom and the United States. 

DirectCash 

Canadian ATM Market Share(1) 

Customers 

Australian ATM Market Share(2) 

  

Source: Interac Association Statistics and Retail Banking Research 

Notes:  

(1) DirectCash ATMs as at March 31, 2012. DirectCash competitors as at December 31, 2011. DirectCash metric excludes 
ATMs in Mexico, the United States and the United Kingdom. 

(2) As at March 31, 2012, excluding Customers ATMs in New Zealand. Customers' competitors as at June 30, 2011. 

DirectCash is a relatively low cost operator with significant in-house processing capability.  These factors create a 
significant barrier to entry, and position us to continue the consolidation of smaller industry players.  In addition, the 
Corporation has a lower cost structure than a Schedule 1 Bank as banks typically deploy higher cost ATMs and are 
subject to higher maintenance fees, creating an opportunity for banks to pursue outsourcing strategies through 
DirectCash. 
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Diversified revenue base. The Corporation's business is diversified in terms of product offering as well as 
geography, which provides greater stability to the Corporation's revenue. The Corporation participates in three 
distinct business units: (i) the ATM business, (ii) the prepaid products business, and (iii) the debit terminal business. 
Between these three segments DirectCash is able to cross-sell the Corporation's products and services. To date, 
DirectCash has no known common competitor in all three market segments in the countries where DirectCash 
operates. Additionally, the Corporation continues to diversify the Corporation's revenue geographically in Mexico, 
the United Kingdom and Australia. 

Stable and recurring revenue.  The contractual nature of the Corporation's business provides recurring transactional 
and fixed revenue streams with a large number of geographically diverse customers including small, medium and 
large retail enterprises in a variety of market segments. DirectCash enters into contracts with the Corporation's 
customers in the ATM and debit terminal business which typically have an initial term of six (6) years. These are 
standard form contracts that generally include a renewal for a further period equal to the initial term and rights of 
first refusal. Once an ATM or debit terminal is deployed at a location there is little ongoing maintenance capital 
expenditures required. In the prepaid product business, the Corporation's customers include significant market 
players in the cheque cashing, tax return and pay day loan industries. All of these prepaid product merchants have 
entered into contracts with us which typically range in term from 3 to 10 years. The Corporation's long-term contract 
base, together with the approximately 90% contract renewal rate that the Corporation has historically obtained, 
keeps revenue stable during periods of economic uncertainty.  

Consistent financial performance and conservative leverage metrics. From 2007 to 2011, prudent management of 
operations at DirectCash has resulted in growing financial performance with an 8.4% CAGR in revenue, an 11.8% 
CAGR in gross profit, and 13.9% CAGR in EBITDA.  The Corporation has identified a number of areas for 
operational improvement at Customers where DirectCash anticipates it can realize significant cost savings by 
implementing best practices and leveraging supplier relationships.  Additionally, the Corporation has historically 
taken a conservative approach to leverage and will continue to do so. Since inception, excluding the acquisitions of 
Customers and InfoCash, DirectCash has completed 39 acquisitions requiring capital of $57.0 million of which 
approximately 44% was financed through the issuance of Common Shares.  

Highly experienced management team. DirectCash has an experienced and entrepreneurial team, with a significant 
ownership interest in the Company.  As at June 30, 2012, total insider ownership was approximately 35%, with 
Jeffrey Smith and Susan Gallacher (previous Executive Vice President and co-founder of DirectCash and currently a 
director of DirectCash) collectively owning approximately 33%.  Many team members have been involved in the 
ATM industry since regulatory changes enabled non-bank ATM providers to enter the Canadian market in late 1996. 
The management team has demonstrated a strong track record of identifying and executing on accretive acquisition 
opportunities.  As part of the recent InfoCash Acquisition, DirectCash retained Tim Wilder (current Managing 
Director of InfoCash) and his management team.  Mr. Wilder is an experienced executive and ATM entrepreneur, 
with 15 years experience with InfoCash and over 25 years industry experience.  The addition of Mr. Wilder and his 
team bring significant management strength to DirectCash. 

Jeffrey Smith expects to spend a significant amount of time in Australia managing the Australian business, however, 
the Corporation expects to hire a new managing director as the restructuring of the Australian business takes place.  

Business Strategy 

Overview 

The Corporation is well positioned to capitalize on continued demand for ATM and debit terminal services and 
prepaid products, given: (i) the Corporation's ability to offer a full range of services from ATM and debit terminal 
deployment to transaction processing, reporting and settlement; (ii) the Corporation's present position in the 
marketplace; (iii) the Corporation's skilled and experienced management team; (iv) the Corporation's terminal and 
host-based software technology; and (v) the geographic scope of the Corporation's current operations.  The 
Corporation's business strategy is focused on building upon the Corporation's leadership position and continuing to 
expand the Corporation's revenue base.  
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Attracting New Clients by Leveraging the Corporation's Reputation and Size 

DirectCash intends to continue to utilize the Corporation's service offering, technology infrastructure and the broad 
geographic scope of the Corporation's operations to attract new clients and grow market share.  The Corporation 
intends to gain market share by targeting various retailers that may currently use competitors' products.  DirectCash 
believes that these businesses would benefit from the reduced complexity and cost effectiveness of using a fully 
integrated provider such as DirectCash.  DirectCash also actively targets new clients who have not previously 
utilized an ATM or debit terminal in their business or have just opened their business.  

Expanding Services Offered to Existing Client Base 

The Corporation intends to continue to leverage the Corporation's relationships with existing ATM customers to 
offer the sale of, and transaction processing services for, debit terminals and the sale of prepaid products. 

Development Opportunities in Canada 

The Corporation intends to continue to target additional industry sectors for the sale and processing of prepaid cards.  
DirectCash believes that a significant amount of market growth remains in the debit terminal business and the 
prepaid card business.  The Corporation's relationship with DC Bank may allow us to expand into new product 
segments, including expanding the Corporation's ability to offer accounts with other businesses such as remote first 
nations bands for their members as well as payroll providers.  The Corporation is also pursuing the managed 
services business whereby it provides services for ATMs that are not part of the Corporation's network as well as a 
gift cards product line. 

International Markets 

The Corporation intends to continue to look for other opportunities in countries which permit non-bank ATM 
operations which do not yet have large numbers of ATMs.  DirectCash established operations in Mexico in 2008 
through DirectCash Management México S.A. de C.V. and DSM Services S.A. de C.V. and are continuing to 
develop that business. 

Prior to the Customers Acquisition, DirectCash, through the Corporation's DirectCash Management Australia Pty 
Ltd. subsidiary, commenced operations in Australia in early October 2009.  The initial business conducted in 
Australia was to provide prepaid products for the Australian affiliates of one of the Corporation's existing customers 
in the same business in Canada.  A total of approximately 98,000 prepaid cards have been deployed in Australia 
since inception.  

The Corporation's United Kingdom subsidiary (DirectCash Management UK Ltd.) commenced revenue generating 
operations in May 2010.  The initial business conducted in the United Kingdom was to provide prepaid products for 
affiliates of one of the Corporation's existing customers in the same business in Canada.  Additionally, on May 25, 
2012, DirectCash announced the acquisition of InfoCash, an ATM business based in the United Kingdom.  

Maintaining and Enhancing DirectCash's Technology Platform 

DirectCash has invested substantial time, effort and financial resources on the development of the Corporation's 
technology infrastructure including: the DirectCash Switch, web reporting engine, debit terminal software, prepaid 
products software, prepaid card management system and call center software.  DirectCash believes that this 
investment has resulted in a competitive advantage in each of the Corporation's business units.  The Corporation is 
committed to further enhancing the Corporation's technology and believe that it will be an important component of 
the Corporation's continued success in retaining customers and attracting new customers in each of the Corporation's 
business units. 
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Value Pricing & Asset Ownership 

Due to economies of scale with the Corporation's suppliers, the Corporation is able to offer significant discounts to 
customers when compared to many of the Corporation's competitors.  DirectCash plans to continue offering the 
Corporation's value pricing model and unique payment options such as conditional sales contracts, lease agreements 
and revenue sharing contracts in the ATM and debit terminal businesses.  Additionally, as contracts renew and 
upgrades are required, the Corporation is giving customers the option to have us purchase the replacement ATM, 
which allows us to increase the Corporation's revenue from the site. 

Acquisition and Investment Strategy 

In addition to expanding the Corporation's business through organic growth, DirectCash intends to continue to 
pursue acquisition opportunities in the ATM, debit terminal and prepaid products businesses.  Various smaller 
competitors in Canada provide ATM and debit terminal services.  The fragmented nature of these industries 
provides an opportunity for us to acquire these smaller ATM and debit terminal service providers.  DirectCash has 
historically completed and successfully integrated acquisitions of smaller competitors.  These acquisitions have 
allowed us to realize improved operating efficiencies and economies of scale by increasing the number of ATMs and 
debit terminals without materially increasing the Corporation's existing infrastructure.   

Industry 

The ATM Industry – Canada 

The number of ATMs in Canada has continued to grow each year since 1997 (when there were 19,200 ATMs). 
There were 60,063 ATMs as of the end of 2011 according to Interac statistics. Since 1997 the number of ATMs that 
are not located on the premise of a financial institution have accounted for the vast majority of growth in this sector. 
This growth is driven by the benefits retailers receive from having an ATM located on their premise, which include 
increased merchandise sales and the retailer's share of the surcharge fee.  

The Canadian ATM industry is fragmented with various small service providers. DirectCash estimates that there are 
over 150 independent sales organizations in Canada which provide ATM services. However, the majority of the 
market share relating to branded non-financial institution ATMs is occupied by less than five (5) companies.  

Since 2000, the major Canadian chartered banks' ATM networks have remained relatively static. This has occurred 
primarily for two reasons. Many business owners have replaced financial institution-owned ATMs with non-
financial institution ATMs which are more attractive for business owners since a greater portion of the surcharge fee 
is paid to the business owner. Additionally, certain Schedule 1 Banks have voluntarily removed some off-premise 
ATMs due to the relatively lower financial returns received by such banks on such ATMs as banks typically deploy 
higher cost ATMs and are subject to higher maintenance fees. 

The Canadian ATM Industry – Required Security Upgrades 

Security upgrades currently required under Interac, MasterCard, and VISA rules are having a significant impact on 
the industry. These upgrades include the requirements to have: (a) EMV (Europay, MasterCard, VISA) certified 
chip card (the replacement technology for the historical magnetic stripe cards) software/readers; and (b) network 
approved encrypted PIN pad devices, installed on all ATMs and debit terminals thereby providing the ability to 
accept EMV chip card transactions. As an early adopter of the required upgrades, the impact of the requirements on 
DirectCash's business is primarily positive as it presents DirectCash with the opportunity to incent customers to 
switch to DirectCash from alternate suppliers by providing new upgraded ATMs as well as the Corporation's 
significant investment in technology, services and infrastructure. 

The deadlines mandated by Interac and MasterCard for conversion of ATMs and debit terminals are as follows: (a) 
100% of ATMs must be upgraded with EMV certified chip pin entry devices by December 31, 2012; (b) 60% of 
debit terminals must be upgraded with a EMV certified chip pin entry device by December 31, 2012; and (c) 100% 
of debit terminals must be upgraded by December 31, 2015. VISA's rule changes do not require a switch to the new 
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technology by any particular date. However, both MasterCard and VISA rules provide that after March 31, 2011, 
certain liabilities (i.e. in respect of transaction errors or frauds) will be reallocated to industry participants who are 
still accessing the MasterCard and VISA networks using non-upgraded equipment, cards or software. As at June 30, 
2012, DirectCash was 84% compliant and expects to be 100% compliant by December 31, 2012.  

The ATM Industry – Australia 

The ATM market in Australia was established in the early 1970s. Recent growth in non-bank ATM providers was 
spurred in 2009 by the introduction of direct charging legislation, which removed disloyalty fees charged by banks, 
removed interchange fees in most circumstances and introduced surcharging by the ATM operator. As a result, 
previously uneconomic locations became economical, leading to a number of new entrants. In the face of increased 
competition, the inability of smaller players to maintain margins has led to some industry consolidation. As at June 
30, 2010, 28,295 ATMs were deployed in Australia by both banks and independent ATM providers (source: Edgar, 
Dunn & Company 2010 Australian ATM Market Study published November 11, 2010).  

The Australian ATM Industry - Required Security Upgrades 

Security upgrade deadlines mandated by MasterCard for conversion of ATMs and debit terminals are as follows: (a) 
100% of ATMs must be upgraded by December 31, 2015; and (b) 100% of debit terminals must be upgraded with a 
EMV certified chip pin device by April 30, 2013. As at March 31, 2012, the Customers' ATM fleet was over 80% 
EMV capable, with these terminals requiring only a minor software upgrade to achieve full EMV compliance. The 
remainder of the fleet is scheduled for normal end-of-life replacement over the next two to three years, within the 
EMV rollout timetable.  

The ATM Industry – United Kingdom 

Non-bank providers originally deployed ATMs under bank sponsorship arrangements in the late 1990's. In July 
2000, the Link Interchange Network ("LINK") allowed direct connection of Independent ATM Deployers ("IADs"). 
At the same time, LINK enabled surcharging by the IAD on all LINK debit cards and also agreed to an Interchange 
fee to be paid on all non-surcharged transactions. These changes enabled the significant growth in IADs that has 
occurred over the last 12 years. As at December 31, 2011 there were just over 65,000 ATMs in the United Kingdom 
of which approximately 30,000 were operated by IAD's. This IAD total represents a 10.7% increase from the 
previous year (source: Retail Banking Research Ltd., Global ATM Market and Forecasts to 2016 United Kingdom 
published in September, 2011). 

The United Kingdom ATM Industry – Security Upgrade position 

United Kingdom ATMs are at a higher mandated compliance level than is currently required in much of the rest of 
the world. All ATMs have been both EMV and Triple DES Encryption compliant since 2006. LINK has mandated a 
further requirement that ATMs should connect to it using Remote Key Transport rather than the manual input of 
security master keys at each ATM. Approximately 45% of InfoCash ATMs operate under a LINK dispensation that 
ends in year 2023, 42% are fully compliant and the remainder need to be upgraded as they become due for 
refurbishment over the next 2 to 3 years. 

Comparison of ATM Market Fundamentals 

According to figures provided by Bank of International Settlements ("BIS"), as at December 31, 2011, Canada had 
the second most ATMs per 100,000 inhabitants. According to BIS statistics, Canada had 180 ATMs per 100,000 
inhabitants as of 2011, as compared to the United States which had 138 ATMs per 100,000 inhabitants, Australia 
which had 123 ATMs per 100,000 inhabitants and the United Kingdom which had 101 ATMs per 100,000 
inhabitants.  
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ATMs Per 100,000 Population 
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Source: BIS, RBA, ABS, APCA, NZ Banker's Association, Statistics NZ, RBS, Interac Association, Retail Banking Research as at December 31, 
2011.  

ATMs in Australia and the United Kingdom experience significantly higher transaction volumes than in Canada 
achieving an average monthly transaction volume per ATM of 3,778 in the United Kingdom and 2,436 in Australia 
versus 314 in Canada. 

Avg. Transaction Volume per ATM per Month 
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Source: BIS, RBA, ABS, APCA, NZ Banker's Association, Statistics NZ, RBS, Interac Association, Retail Banking Research. For the calendar 
year 2011 for Canada and for the calendar year 2010 for Australia and the United Kingdom.  

The Prepaid Product and Prepaid Card Industry 

The prepaid card product in Canada emerged in 2002 and more recently in Australia and the United Kingdom. Users 
of prepaid products include tax refund discounters, cheque cashing businesses, store front loan businesses (i.e. pay 
day loans or car title loans), employers distributing payroll in remote locations, federal and provincial governments, 
gift cards and any other business that would otherwise pay cash or issue gift cards to their customers in a store front 
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environment. A prepaid card is a debit card/credit card with a pre-set advance limit which eliminates the need for a 
consumer to carry cash. Prepaid cards are advantageous to merchants as they can be used to build their brand and 
grow revenue. Prepaid cards provide a method by which merchants that historically would have dispensed cash now 
dispense a retailer card instead, which benefits the merchant by reducing operating costs, improving service delivery 
and improving employee security.  

The Debit Terminal Industry 

Interac direct payment, or debit, allows individuals to use their banking cards to effect "cashless" payments for 
goods and services at participating merchants. Interac debit began in Canada as a pilot project in 1990 and rolled out 
across Canada in 1994. According to Interac, the number of debit terminals in Canada has grown every year since 
debit was deployed nationally in 1994. In 2000, debit surpassed cash for the first time as Canadians' preferred way 
to pay for purchases. This trend has continued resulting in Canadians being among the highest users of debit cards 
worldwide. 

Non-financial institution debit terminals may charge a surcharge fee to customers who pay with their debit cards. 
Surcharging transactions at debit terminals enables the retailers to earn revenue on their terminals, offsetting the 
terminal and transaction processing fees paid by retailers. In addition, retailers are able to purchase non-financial 
institution debit terminals rather than paying a continuous rental fee.  

Selected Pro Forma Financial Information 

The following tables set out certain pro forma financial for DirectCash after giving effect to, among other things, the 
Customers Acquisition, the Offering and the High Yield Offering and certain other adjustments for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 and the three months ended March 31, 2012.   

The following tables should be read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements 
of DirectCash as at and for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and for the year ended December 31, 2011, 
including the notes thereto, attached as Schedule "A" to this short form prospectus. Reference should also be made 
to: (a) the Annual Financial Statements; (b) the Interim Financial Statements; (c) the Customers Annual Financial 
Statements; and (d) the Customers Interim Financial Statements. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of DirectCash included in this short form prospectus and 
the following selected pro forma financial information are presented for illustrative purposes only and are not 
necessarily indicative of: (i) the financial results that would have occurred had the Customers Acquisition and 
related events actually occurred at the times contemplated by the notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated 
financial statements; or (ii) the results expected in future periods. 

 
Three Months 

Ended March 31, 
Year Ended 

December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) 
2012 

(unaudited) 
2011 

(unaudited) 
Revenue $60,780 $241,386 
Cost of Recurring Services and Products 31,498 118,505 
Gross Profit 29,282 122,881 
Operating Expenses   
   Personnel expenses(1) 7,568 27,288 
   Other expenses(2) 4,930 20,021 
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Three Months 

Ended March 31, 
Year Ended 

December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) 
2012 

(unaudited) 
2011 

(unaudited) 
Finance costs and deferred financing costs 4,591 18,965 
Depreciation of property and equipment 5,303 17,118 
Amortization of intangible assets 9,654 39,251 
Acquisition costs 4,151 4,151 
Income taxes recovered (766) (1,576) 
Net income (loss) (3) (6,156) 3,765 
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders (5,939) 4,529 
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share attributable to 
shareholders 

(0.36) 0.27 

   
As at March 31, 

2012 
(unaudited) 

Cash in circulation  44,076 
Total assets  392,561 
Debt, including current portion(4)  198,278 
Shareholders' equity  135,976 

Notes: 
(1) Includes employee profit sharing plan and long-term incentive plan. 
(2) Includes non-recoverable GST. 
(3) Includes other income (bargain purchase gain) of $6,303 for the year ended December 31, 2011 (three months ended 

March 31, 2012 - $nil).  
(4) Includes current portion of Revolving Facility and Term Loan of $1.1 million, non-current Term Loan of $78.170 

million and non-current senior unsecured notes of $119.0 million. 
 

Pro forma Consolidated EBITDA 
(Unaudited) 

 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Three months ended 

March 31, 2012 
Year ended 

December 31, 2011 
Net income (loss) (6,156) 3,765 
Add (deduct) from net income (loss):   
Finance costs and deferred financing costs 4,591 18,965 
Depreciation of property and equipment 5,303 17,118 
Amortization of intangible assets 9,654 39,251 
Acquisition costs 4,151 4,151 
Share of loss in equity accounted associate - 156 
Bargain purchase gain - (6,303) 
Income taxes recovered (766) (1,576) 
 
EBITDA (1) 16,777 75,527 

Note: 
(1) EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure – see "Non-GAAP Measures". 
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

The following is a description of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to DirectCash's share 
capital. 

Common Shares 

DirectCash is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value. Subject to 
the provisions of the ABCA, holders of Common Shares are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of 
shareholders. Subject to the rights of the holders of preferred shares ("Preferred Shares") and any other shares 
having priority over the Common Shares, holders of Common Shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when 
declared by the Board of Directors of DirectCash and upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up to receive, 
DirectCash's remaining property. There are currently 13,839,279 Common Shares issued and outstanding. 

Preferred Shares 

DirectCash is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Preferred Shares without nominal or par value. There are 
currently no Preferred Shares issued and outstanding. 

CAPITALIZATION OF DIRECTCASH 

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of DirectCash as at March 31, 2012 before giving 
effect to the Offering, the High Yield Offering and the Customers Acquisition, as at March 31, 2012 after giving 
effect the Customers Acquisition but before giving effect to the Offering and the High Yield Offering, as at March 
31, 2012 after giving effect to the Offering and the Customers Acquisition but before giving effect to the High Yield 
Offering and as at March 31, 2012 after giving effect to the Customers Acquisition, the Offering and the High Yield 
Offering. 

 

As at March 31, 2012 
before giving effect to 
the Offering, the High 
Yield Offering and the 
Customers Acquisition 

(000's except share 
numbers) 

As at March 31, 2012 
after giving effect to 

the Customers 
Acquisition (but before 

giving effect to the 
Offering and the High 

Yield Offering) 
(000s except share 

numbers) 

As at March 31, 2012 
after giving effect to 
the Offering and the 

Customers 
Acquisition (but 

before giving effect to 
the High Yield 

Offering)(3) 

(000s except share 
numbers) 

As at March 31, 2012 
after giving effect to 

the Offering, the 
High Yield Offering 
and the Customers 

Acquisition (3) 

(000s except share 
numbers) 

     
Debt Agreements(1)(2)(4)     
     
Revolving Facility(4)(6)  $ 1,998  $ 10,406  $ -  $ 278 
Term Loan   -   85,000   85,000   85,000 
Acquisition Facility   32,504   -   -   - 
Equity Bridge   -   50,000   -   - 
Bond Bridge   -   125,000   125,000   - 
Senior Unsecured Notes   -   -   -   125,000 
Deferred Finance Costs   -   (9,800)   (9,800)   (12,000) 
     
Total Debt  $ 34,502  $ 260,606  $ 200,200  $ 198,278 
     
Shareholders' Equity     
     
Common Shareholder Equity 

(unlimited) 
 $ 86,014  $ 72,889   $    135,976(5)  $ 135,976(5) 

(number)   13,839,279   13,839,279   16,639,279   16,639,279 
Preferred Shares (unlimited)  Nil Nil Nil Nil 
(number) Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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Notes: 

(1) For a Description of the Debt Agreements see "Material Debt" below. 
(2) The aggregate net proceeds of the Offering and the High Yield Offering will be used to repay the Equity Bridge and the 

Bond Bridge and part of the Revolving Facility. See "Use of Proceeds".  
(3) Based on the issuance of 2.8 million Common Shares pursuant to the Offering for aggregate gross proceeds of $65.38 

million less the Underwriters' Fee of $2.9 million and expenses of the Offering estimated to be $110,000 and aggregate 
gross proceeds of $125 million pursuant to the High Yield Offering less the net Underwriters' fee and expenses of the 
High Yield Offering estimated to be $2.7 million.  See also the pro forma financial information in respect of 
DirectCash after giving effect to the Offering, the High Yield Offering and the Customers Acquisition set forth in 
Schedule A – "Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements of DirectCash". 

(4) $19.1 million of the purchase price for the InfoCash Acquisition was funded through available funds under the 
Corporation's previous revolving credit facility that was replaced by the Revolving Facility. See "Material Debt- 
Revolving Facility". After giving effect to the InfoCash Acquisition as if it had occurred on March 31, 2012 (but before 
giving effect to the Offering and the High Yield Offering), $29.5 million would be outstanding under the Revolving 
Facility. Proceeds from the Offering and the High Yield Offering are intended to be applied to outstanding 
indebtedness under the Corporation's Debt Agreements, including the Revolving Facility, the Equity Bridge and the 
Bond Bridge. See "Use of Proceeds". 

(5) Net of income tax benefits of $759,000. 
(6) Revolving Facility does not include US$2.5 million outstanding under an existing Letter of Credit. 

PRIOR SALES 

There were no issuances by DirectCash of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common Shares in the 
twelve month period prior to the date hereof.  

PRICE RANGE AND VOLUME OF TRADING OF COMMON SHARES 

The outstanding Common Shares trade on the TSX under the trading symbol "DCI".  The following sets out the high 
and low trading prices and aggregate volume of trading for the periods noted below.  

 Price Range  
 High ($) Low ($) Volume 
2011    
May  23.10 21.00 248,208 
June 23.00 21.88 176,166 
July 22.89 21.90 113,621 
August 22.74 17.23 263,956 
September 21.97 19.50 174,955 
October 20.35 18.67 131,014 
November 21.21 18.58 121,815 
December 21.25 19.26 172,353 
2012    
January  21.33 19.65 310,887 
February  21.39 20.53 430,158 
March 21.49 20.26 305,859 
April 24.93 21.24 194,209 
May 25.05 21.75 212,492 
June 24.90 23.11 203,341 
July  24.62 23.00 578,711 

Note: 

(1) On July 31, 2012, the last trading day prior to the date of this short form prospectus, the closing price of the Common 
Shares on the TSX was $23.36. 
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DIVIDENDS TO SHAREHOLDERS 

The following monthly cash dividends were declared and paid in 2011 and 2012 in the following amounts: 

 Cash Distribution Per Common Share 
For the Month Ended 2011 2012 

   
January $0.115 $0.115 
February $0.115 $0.115 
March  $0.115 $0.115 
April  $0.115 $0.115 
May  $0.115 $0.115 
June  $0.115 $0.115 
July  $0.115 $0.115(1) 
August  $0.115  
September  $0.115  
October  $0.115  
November  $0.115  
December  $0.115  

Note: 

(1) Declared July 18, 2012 and payable on August 31, 2012 to shareholders of record on July 31, 2012. 
 

Monthly dividends (paid to DirectCash Shareholders of record on the last day of each calendar month, or such other 
date as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors) are generally paid on the last business day 
of the following month.  As August 31, 2012 will be the record date for the dividend to DirectCash Shareholders for 
the month of August, provided the Offering closes on or prior to August 31, 2012, subscribers for Common Shares 
under the Offering who complete their purchase of Common Shares from the Underwriters on or prior to August 31, 
2012 and who hold their Common Shares on such date will be eligible to receive the dividend of the Corporation 
payable on September 30, 2012. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amount of any dividends payable by the Corporation will be at the discretion of 
the Board of Directors from time to time.  The amount may vary depending on, among other things, the 
Corporation's earnings, financial requirements for the Corporation's operations, the satisfaction of solvency tests 
imposed by the ABCA for the declaration and payment of dividends and other conditions existing from time to time 
including the Corporation's compliance with the Debt Agreements (as defined herein) and the covenants under the 
High Yield Offering. See "Material Debt" and "Recent Developments – High Yield Offering". 

The historical dividends described above may not be reflective of future dividends, which will be subject to 
review by the Board of Directors taking into account the prevailing circumstances at the relevant time.  
Although the Corporation intends to declare and pay dividends of its available cash to DirectCash 
Shareholders, these dividends may be reduced or suspended.  The actual amount distributed will depend on 
numerous factors, including profitability, debt covenants and obligations, fluctuations in working capital, the 
timing and amount of capital expenditures, applicable law and other factors beyond the control of the 
Corporation.  See "Risk Factors" herein and in the AIF. 

For the Corporation's first four fiscal quarters following the closing of the Customers Acquisition, the Corporation is 
prohibited by the terms of the Debt Agreements from declaring or making any distributions in an amount greater 
than $1.38 per Common Share per annum.  

DETAILS OF THE OFFERING 

Book-Based System  

The Common Shares will be issued in "book-entry only" form and must be purchased or transferred through a CDS 
Participant. 
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Except in certain limited circumstances: (i) Common Shares will be represented by a global certificate issued in 
registered form to CDS or its nominee under the book-based system administered by CDS; (ii) no certificates 
evidencing Common Shares will be issued to purchasers of Common Shares; and (iii) purchasers of Common Shares 
will receive only a customer confirmation from the Underwriter or other registered dealer who is a CDS Participant 
and from or through whom a beneficial interest in the Common Shares is purchased. 

As indirect holders of Common Shares, investors should be aware that they: (a) may not have Common Shares 
registered in their name; (b) may not have physical certificates representing their interest in the Common Shares; 
(c) may not be able to sell the Common Shares to institutions required by law to hold physical certificates for 
securities they own; and (d) may be unable to pledge Common Shares as security. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, DirectCash has agreed to issue and sell an aggregate of 2,800,000 
Common Shares and the Underwriters have severally agreed to purchase such Common Shares on August 9, 2012, 
or such other date as DirectCash and the Underwriters may mutually agree, but in any event not later than August 
17, 2012. Delivery of the Common Shares is conditional upon payment on closing of $23.35 per Common Share by 
the Underwriters to the Corporation.  The Common Shares shall be taken up by the Underwriters, if at all, on or 
before August 17, 2012. 

The Underwriting Agreement provides that DirectCash will pay the Underwriters' Fee of $1.05075 per Common 
Share in consideration for their services in connection with the Offering. The fee payable to the Underwriters in 
respect of the Common Shares is payable upon the closing of the Offering. The terms of the Offering were 
determined by negotiation between DirectCash and the Lead Underwriter, on its own behalf, and on behalf of the 
other Underwriters. 

Monthly dividends paid to DirectCash Shareholders of record on the last day of each calendar month, or such other 
date as may be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors are generally paid on the last business day of 
the following month.  As August 31, 2012 will be the record date for the dividend to DirectCash Shareholders for 
the month of August, provided the Offering closes on or prior to August 31, 2012, subscribers for Common Shares 
under the Offering who complete their purchase of Common Shares from the Underwriters on or prior to August 31, 
2012 and who hold their Common Shares on such date will be eligible to receive the dividend of the Corporation 
payable on September 30, 2012.  See "Dividends to Shareholders".  

The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are several and not joint, and may be 
terminated at their discretion upon the occurrence of certain stated events. If an Underwriter fails to purchase the 
Common Shares which it has agreed to purchase, the remaining Underwriter(s) may terminate their obligation to 
purchase their allotment of Common Shares, or may, but are not obligated to, purchase the Common Shares not 
purchased by the Underwriter or Underwriters which fail to purchase.  The Underwriters are, however, obligated to 
take up and pay for all Common Shares if any are purchased under the Underwriting Agreement. The Underwriting 
Agreement also provides that DirectCash will indemnify the Underwriters and their directors, officers, agents, 
shareholders and employees against certain liabilities and expenses. Common Shares will be issued in the book-
based system administered by CDS and must be purchased or transferred through a CDS participant. See "Details of 
the Offering". 

DirectCash has been advised by the Underwriters that, in connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may effect 
transactions that stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares at levels other than those that might 
otherwise prevail in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. 

The Underwriters propose to offer the Common Shares initially at the offering price specified herein. After a 
reasonable effort has been made to sell all of the Common Shares at the price specified, the Underwriters may 
subsequently reduce the selling price to investors from time to time in order to sell any of the Common Shares 
remaining unsold. Any such reduction will not affect the proceeds received by DirectCash. 
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DirectCash has agreed that, prior to 90 days after the Closing Date of the Offering, it shall not announce the offering 
of, or make any agreement to issue, any Common Shares or securities exchangeable, convertible or exercisable into 
Common Shares without the prior written consent of the Lead Underwriter, on behalf of the Underwriters, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Furthermore, each of Jeffrey J. Smith, President & Chief Executive 
Officer of the Corporation, and Susan Gallacher, Director of the Corporation, will also agree in writing prior to the 
Closing Date, not to sell, or agree to sell (or announce any intention to do so), any Common Shares or securities 
exchangeable or convertible into Common Shares for a period of 90 days from the Closing Date without the prior 
written consent of the Lead Underwriter, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. 

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares distributed under this short form prospectus 
on the TSX.  Listing is subject to the Corporation fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the TSX on or before 
October 24, 2012. 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds to DirectCash from the sale of the Common Shares hereunder is estimated to be approximately $62 
million after deducting the Underwriters' Fee of $2.9 million and the estimated expenses of the Offering of 
$110,000. See "Plan of Distribution". The net proceeds from the Offering will be used to repay approximately $12 
million of the Corporation's Revolving Facility as well as to repay the Equity Bridge both used to fund a portion of 
the Purchase Price in respect of the Customers Acquisition.  See "The Customers Acquisition".  The Revolving 
Facility was also used to fund a portion of the InfoCash Acquisition and for general corporate purposes.  See "Risk 
Factors – Credit Facility Risk" and "Material Debt" 

DirectCash's current indebtedness under its Debt Agreements has been incurred in the normal course of business and 
operations in connection with previous acquisitions including the Customers Acquisition and InfoCash Acquisition, 
capital and other expenditures made by DirectCash.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Corporation 
incurred an aggregate of $8.3 million of capital expenditures, including $3.9 million on cash-based acquisitions and 
other expenses. 

RELATIONSHIP AMONG THE CORPORATION AND CERTAIN UNDERWRITERS 

The Lead Underwriter and Scotia Capital Inc. are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Canadian chartered banks which are 
members of the Corporation's lending syndicate under the Debt Agreements and to which the Corporation is 
currently indebted. Consequently, the Corporation may be considered to be a connected issuer of the Lead 
Underwriter and Scotia Capital Inc. for the purposes of securities regulations in certain provinces.  

On a pro forma basis at March 31, 2012 after giving effect to the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash 
Acquisition, approximately $289.5 million was outstanding under the Debt Agreements ($29.5 under the Revolving 
Facility, $85.0 under the Term Loan, $50.0 under the Equity Bridge and $125.0 under the Bond Bridge).  The Debt 
Agreements are secured by a security interest and charge over all of the assets of the Corporation.  The Corporation 
is in compliance with all material terms of the Debt Agreements and the lenders under such facilities have not 
waived any breach by the Corporation thereunder since their execution.  See "Material Debt".  Neither the 
Corporation's financial position nor the value of the security under the Debt Agreements has materially changed, in 
an adverse manner, since the indebtedness was incurred under the Debt Agreements. See "Consolidated 
Capitalization of the Corporation".  

All of the net proceeds of the Offering will be used to reduce outstanding indebtedness under the Corporation's 
Equity Bridge and Revolving Facility. See "Use of Proceeds" and "Plan of Distribution".  

The decision to distribute the Common Shares offered hereunder and the determination of the terms of the 
distribution were made through negotiations primarily between the Corporation and the Lead Underwriter, on its 
own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters. The lenders under the Corporation's credit facilities did not 
have any involvement in such decision or determination, but have been advised of the issuance and terms thereof.  
As a consequence of the Offering the Underwriters will receive their respective share of the Underwriters' Fee. 
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The Lead Underwriter also acted as financial advisor to the Corporation in connection with the Customers 
Acquisition. 

INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

Certain legal matters relating to the Offering will be passed upon by Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP on behalf of 
DirectCash, and by Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP on behalf of the Underwriters. As at the date hereof, the partners 
and associates of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, as a group, and of Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP, as a group, 
own, respectively, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the Common Shares. 

KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, are the auditors of DirectCash. KPMG LLP has confirmed that it is 
independent of DirectCash, in accordance with the relevant rules and related interpretation prescribed by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Alberta. 

KPMG Australia, are the auditors of Customers and were the auditors of Customers prior to the Customers 
Acquisition. KPMG Australia has confirmed that it is independent of Customers and was independent of Customers 
prior to the Customers Acquisition, in accordance with the requirements of the Australian Corporations Act and 
other ethical requirements relevant to KPMG Australia's role as statutory auditors of Customers. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP, counsel to the Corporation and Fraser Milner Casgrain LLP, 
counsel to the Underwriters, provided the Common Shares are listed on a designated stock exchange (which 
includes the TSX) on the date of closing, the Common Shares will, on the date of closing, be qualified investments 
under the Tax Act for trusts governed by registered retirement savings plans ("RRSPs"), registered retirement 
income funds ("RRIFs"), registered disability savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, registered education 
savings plans and tax free savings accounts ("TFSAs"). 

Notwithstanding that the Common Shares may be qualified investments as described above, the holder of a TFSA or 
the annuitant of a RRSP or RRIF, as the case may be, will be subject to a penalty tax if the Common Shares are a 
"prohibited investment" for the TFSA, RRSP or RRIF, as the case may be. Common Shares will generally be a 
"prohibited investment" if the holder of a TFSA or the annuitant of a RRSP or RRIF does not deal at arm's length 
with DirectCash for purposes of the Tax Act or has a "significant interest" (as defined in the Tax Act) in DirectCash 
or a corporation, partnership or trust with which DirectCash does not deal at arm's length for purposes of the Tax 
Act.  

Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Common Shares in a TFSA, RRSP or RRIF should consult their 
own tax advisors regarding their particular circumstances. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Common Shares is subject to certain risks. Investors should carefully consider the risks 
described under "Risk Factors" in the AIF and the additional risk factors set forth below. 

Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition 

DirectCash has completed the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition to strengthen its position in the 
ATM industry and to create the opportunity to achieve the anticipated benefits. Achieving the benefits of the 
Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition depends in part on successfully consolidating functions and 
integrating operations, procedures and personnel in a timely and efficient manner, as well as on DirectCash's ability 
to realize the anticipated growth opportunity and synergies from combining each of the Customers and InfoCash 
businesses and operations with those of DirectCash. The integration of the businesses acquired in the Customers 
Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition requires the dedication of substantial management effort, time and 
resources, which may divert management's focus and resources from other strategic opportunities and from 
operational matters during this process. The integration process may result in the loss of key employees and the 
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disruption of ongoing business, customer and employee relationships that may adversely affect DirectCash's ability 
to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition. In addition, as a 
result of recent acquisitions, DirectCash has (directly or indirectly) retained certain management personnel related to 
the acquired businesses, each of whom DirectCash (and its subsidiaries) rely on for the effective management of the 
respective businesses, the loss of whom could have an adverse effect on DirectCash. 

Potential Undisclosed Liabilities Associated with the Acquisitions 

In connection with the Customers Acquisition and the InfoCash Acquisition, there may be liabilities that DirectCash 
failed to discover or was unable to quantify in its due diligence, which it conducted prior to the execution of the 
Scheme Implementation Deed in respect of the Customers Acquisition and the acquisition agreement in respect of 
the InfoCash Acquisition, as applicable, and DirectCash may not be indemnified for some or all of these liabilities. 
In addition, Customers has not certified that the disclosure in this short form prospectus relating to the Customers 
Acquisition and the Acquired Assets represents full, true and plain disclosure and that the disclosure does not 
contain a misrepresentation. Customers will have no liability to purchasers of Common Shares pursuant to this 
Offering if the disclosure relating to the Customers Acquisition or the Acquired Assets contains a misrepresentation. 
In addition, previously acquired entities may have completed historical tax filings that may be considered aggressive 
and, if re-assessed, may give rise to the requirement to pay certain penalties and/or additional taxes. 

Credit Facility Risk  

The Corporation is required to comply with covenants under its credit facilities which include certain financial ratio 
tests, which from time to time either affect the availability, or price, of additional funding and in the event that the 
Corporation does not comply therewith the Corporation's access to capital could be restricted or repayment could be 
required.  The failure of the Corporation to comply with such covenants, which may be affected by events beyond 
the Corporation's control, could result in the default under the Corporation's credit facilities which could result in the 
Corporation being required to repay amounts owing thereunder.  Even if the Corporation is able to obtain new 
financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms or terms that are acceptable to the Corporation.  If the 
Corporation is unable to repay amounts owing, the lenders under the credit facility could proceed to foreclose or 
otherwise realize upon the collateral granted to them to secure the indebtedness.  The acceleration of the 
Corporation's indebtedness under one agreement may permit acceleration of indebtedness under other agreements 
that contain cross default or cross-acceleration provisions.  In addition, the Corporation's credit facilities may 
impose operating and financial restrictions on the Corporation including restrictions on the payment of dividends, 
repurchase or making of other distributions with respect to the Corporation's securities, incurring of additional 
indebtedness, provision of guarantees, the assumption of loans, making of capital expenditures, entering into of 
amalgamations, mergers, take-over bids or disposition of assets, among others.   

Vault Cash 

The Corporation maintains cash in many ATMs (i.e. DirectCash is the owner of the cash and is responsible for 
replenishing cash in such ATMs).  The Corporation funds certain of its vault cash requirements in part from a 
revolving credit facility.  Funding increasing vault cash requirements from available lines of credit brings the 
Corporation closer to the lender's limits under the credit facility.  This reduces the credit available for the 
Corporation to use for other purposes.  Further, if vault cash requirements increase past the Corporation's ability to 
fund such requirements and it could not arrange an appropriate expansion of such credit facilities, then it would have 
to consider funding alternatives for some ATMs which could result in a reduced level of profitability from the 
affected ATMs. Vault cash is also attained via bailment arrangements in Australia and other markets, where in 
general, cash is rented under a bailment arrangement from financial institutions and negotiated fees are paid for the 
use of that money.  A typical requirement of such facilities is that DirectCash maintains specific types of insurance 
in certain values.  Such bailment arrangements and insurance policies may not always be available as required, on 
acceptable terms, or at all. The Corporation's ability to obtain this funding at a level sufficient to operate its business 
and to increase the size of this funding as the business grows will have a significant impact on its business and 
operations.  Additionally, certain terms under the Corporation's bailment agreements contain cross-defaults and, in 
the event of a default, could have a material adverse impact on its business.  Any amendment or cancellation of 
these facilities would result in an inability to replenish cash in its ATMs in Australia, which would have a significant 
impact on its business and operations. See "Material Debt". 
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Corruption and Bribery Risk 

The Corporation's operations are governed by, and involve interactions with, many levels of government in 
numerous countries. Like most companies, the Corporation is required to comply with anti-corruption and anti-
bribery laws, including the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act and the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act, as well as similar laws in the countries in which the Corporation conducts its business. In recent 
years, there has been a general increase in both the frequency of enforcement and severity of penalties under such 
laws, resulting in greater scrutiny and punishment to companies convicted of violating anti-bribery laws. 
Furthermore, a company may be found liable for violations by not only its employees, but also by its third party 
agents. Although the Corporation takes steps to mitigate such risks, such measures are not always effective in 
ensuring that the Corporation, its employees or third party agents will comply strictly with such laws. If the 
Corporation finds itself subject to an enforcement action or is found to be in violation of such laws, this may result 
in significant penalties, fines and/or sanctions imposed on the Corporation resulting in a material adverse effect on 
the Corporation's reputation and results of its operations. 

Litigation  

In the normal course of the Corporation's operations, it may become involved in, named as a party to, or be the 
subject of, various legal proceedings, including regulatory proceedings, tax proceedings and legal actions. The 
outcome of outstanding, pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and may be determined 
adversely to the Corporation and as a result, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's assets, 
liabilities, business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if the Corporation prevails in any such legal 
proceeding, the proceedings could be costly and time-consuming and would divert the attention of management and 
key personnel from the Corporation's business operations, which could adversely affect its financial condition. See 
also "Legal Proceedings" in the AIF incorporated by reference herein. 

Global Financial Crisis 

Deterioration in global credit markets, as well as changes in legislative and regulatory requirements, could have a 
negative impact on financial institutions that the Corporation conducts business with.  

The Corporation has a significant number of customer and vendor relationships with financial institutions in all of its 
key markets, including relationships in which those financial institutions pay us for the right to place their brands on 
our devices. Additionally, the Corporation relies on a small number of financial institution partners to provide them 
with the cash that the Corporation maintains in its corporate-owned devices. Turmoil in the global credit markets in 
the future, such as that recently experienced, may have a negative impact on those financial institutions and the 
Corporation's relationships with them. In particular, if the liquidity positions of the financial institutions with which 
the Corporation conducts business deteriorate significantly, these institutions may be unable to perform under their 
existing agreements with them. If these defaults were to occur, the Corporation may not be successful in its efforts to 
identify new branding partners and cash providers, and the underlying economics of any new arrangements may not 
be consistent with our current arrangements. 

Corporate Structure Risk  

The Corporation is dependent upon cash dividends, distributions or other transfers from its subsidiaries in order to 
repay any debt the Corporation may incur, make dividend payments to its shareholders and meet its other 
obligations. The right of the Corporation, as a unitholder or shareholder of these entities, to realize on the assets of 
these entities in the event of their bankruptcy or insolvency, would be subordinate to the rights of their creditors and 
claimants preferred by statute. The Debt Agreements also prohibit certain subsidiaries from making distributions if a 
default or event of default has occurred and is continuing or would occur after giving effect to a distribution. See 
"Material Debt". 
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Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Corporation's payments to shareholders and holders of Notes (assuming completion of the High Yield Offering) 
are denominated in Canadian dollars. However, a significant portion of the Corporation's revenues and expenses are 
denominated in foreign currencies, including United States dollars, Australian dollars, Mexican Peso and British 
pounds. As a result, the Corporation is exposed to currency exchange rate risks. Exchange rates may vary 
substantially and may give rise to favourable or unfavourable foreign currency exposure. Despite the Corporation's 
hedges against currency exchange rate risks, there can be no assurance that any arrangements to mitigate this 
exchange rate risk will be sufficient to fully protect against this risk. If hedging transactions do not fully protect 
against this risk, changes in the currency exchange rate between Canadian dollars and the foreign currencies in 
which the Corporation operates could adversely affect the Corporation's ability to pay dividends and discharge 
interest obligations and its financial position. 

Regulatory Risks in Australia 

Under amendments made by the Gambling Regulation Amendment (Licensing) Act 2009 (Vic), ATMs will not be 
permitted in approved gaming venues in Victoria, Australia from July 1, 2012, unless specifically approved by the 
Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation. Around 120 of DirectCash's ATMs acquired pursuant 
to the Customers' Acquisition will be removed as a consequence of this legislation which currently generate 
approximately 4% to 4.5% of core Australian business revenues. DirectCash is developing an EFTPOS solution 
which is intended to comply with legislation governing the operation of electronic funds transfer at point-of-sale 
("EFTPOS") devices in gaming venues; however, it is unclear how successful DirectCash's EFTPOS solution will 
be in the market. It is also uncertain whether similar legislation will be passed in other states of Australia. 

The Commonwealth Government has released exposure drafts of the National Gambling Reform Bill 2012 and the 
National Gambling Reform (Related Matters) Bill 2012. The draft Bills contain a requirement that by February 1, 
2013, a $250 per card per day withdrawal limit be placed on all ATMs in gaming venues nationally, except in 
casinos and in communities where this may cause unreasonable inconvenience. The Bills have yet to be introduced 
into Parliament and whether the Bills will be passed in the current or an amended form is unknown. However, the 
imposition of any limitations on ATM withdrawals in gaming venues may impact DirectCash's ability to earn 
revenue from the 23% of its Australian convenience ATM fleet located in gaming venues (excluding Victoria). 

A joint Federal Department of Treasury and Reserve Bank of Australia Taskforce is examining whether there is a 
need for further measures to enhance competition and transparency across Australia's ATM industry. The measures 
that will be adopted and their impact on DirectCash are currently unknown. 

Additionally, ATM charges in some remote Aboriginal communities may be reduced or abolished in the near future, 
following public concern over the affordability of these fees.  DirectCash does not expect the net impact of these 
changes to significantly affect DirectCash's financial performance. 

Structural and Cyclical Changes Occurring in the Payments Sector in Australia 

Cash remains the most common form of payment by consumers in Australia. Nonetheless, cash use as a share of 
total payments has declined, falling as a share of both the number and value of payments. This may adversely affect 
the performance and sustainability of DirectCash's business. There are also a number of ongoing technology and 
security developments occurring in the payments sector which DirectCash may not be able to successfully 
implement in a timely and cost-effective manner. 

MATERIAL DEBT 

The following is a summary of the agreements and instruments evidencing the Corporation's material indebtedness 
and other material financial arrangements. This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of such agreements and instruments, including the 
definitions of certain terms therein that are not otherwise defined in this short form prospectus.  
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Certain credit facilities, described below, have been established by a syndicate of lenders (collectively, the 
"Lenders") in favour of the Corporation and, as applicable, three of its material subsidiaries (collectively, the 
"Borrowers").  The agreements (collectively, the "Debt Agreements") between the Borrowers, the Lenders and the 
Canadian chartered bank that acts as agent for the Lenders (the "Agent") under which the credit facilities are made 
available contain representations and warranties, covenants and events of default customary for agreements of this 
nature.  The credit facilities established under the Debt Agreements consist of the following: 

1. Revolving Facility:  

The Borrowers have a $115 million five-year revolving credit facility available for general corporate 
purposes (the "Revolving Facility") which was accessed to fund a portion of the Purchase Price payable for 
the Customers Acquisition and to repay indebtedness incurred in part to fund the InfoCash Acquisition.  
Interest and fees payable in respect of the Revolving Facility are based upon the ratio of the Corporation's 
consolidated funded debt for borrowed money to the Corporation's consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the 
Debt Agreements).  The Revolving Facility matures on June 28, 2017. 

2. Term Loan:  

The Borrowers have an $85 million five-year non-revolving amortizing term credit facility (the "Term 
Loan") which was utilized in part to fund a portion of the Purchase Price payable for the Customers 
Acquisition.  Interest and fees payable in respect of the Term Loan are also based upon the ratio of the 
Corporation's consolidated funded debt for borrowed money to the Corporation's consolidated EBITDA (as 
defined in the Debt Agreements).  The Term Loan partially amortizes over five years in quarterly 
instalments commencing February 28, 2013 and matures on June 28, 2017. 

3. Equity Bridge Loan:  

The Corporation has a $50 million one-year non-revolving equity bridge facility (the "Equity Bridge").  
The Equity Bridge was utilized in full to fund a portion of the Purchase Price payable for the Customers 
Acquisition.  Interest and fees payable on the Equity Bridge are based upon the ratio of the Corporation's 
consolidated funded debt for borrowed money to the Corporation's consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the 
Debt Agreements) and the time elapsed following the funding date.  The Equity Bridge is payable on June 
28, 2013 and 100% of the net proceeds of the Offering must be used to pay down the Equity Bridge prior to 
being applied for other purposes. 

4. Bond Bridge Loan:  

The Corporation has a $125 million one-year non-revolving bond bridge facility (the "Bond Bridge").  The 
Bond Bridge was utilized in full to fund a portion of the Purchase Price payable on the Customers 
Acquisition.  Interest and fees payable in respect of the Bond Bridge are based upon the Corporation's 
credit ratings from each of Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Ratings Services at the 
date of calculation and the time elapsed following the funding date.  The Bond Bridge is payable on June 
28, 2013 and 100% of the net proceeds of the High Yield Offering must be used to pay down the Bond 
Bridge. 

Under each Debt Agreement, the Corporation is subject to the certain financial covenants and has agreed that the 
ratio of consolidated funded debt to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Debt Agreements) will not exceed 3.5 
to 1.0, with the permitted ratio decreasing to 2.5 to 1.0 by July, 2015, and that the ratio of EBITDA (as defined in 
the Debt Agreements) less unfunded capital expenditures, dividends and cash taxes to interest expense and 
scheduled principal payments on funded debt will equal or exceed 1.25 to 1.0.  The Corporation has also agreed that 
during its first four fiscal quarters following the closing of the Customers Acquisition it will not pay dividends or 
make other distributions to DirectCash Shareholders in excess of $1.38 per Common Share per annum.  Breach of 
any of these covenants or the occurrence of any other event of default under the Debt Agreements would, in the 
absence of a consent or amendment being granted by the Lenders, result in the Borrowers being unable to draw 
additional funds under the Revolving Facility or pay further dividends to DirectCash Shareholders and could result 
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in the Lenders exercising their remedies under the Debt Agreements.  As at the date of the most recent interim 
financial statements of the Corporation on a pro forma basis taking into account the Customers Acquisition and the 
Offering, the Corporation is in compliance with the foregoing covenants. 

Customers' subsidiary ATM Solutions Australasia Pty Ltd. ("ATM Solutions") is party to a bailment facility 
agreement with an Australian chartered bank (the "Bailment Provider") that sets out the terms and conditions on 
which ATM Solutions is given custody of cash owned by the Bailment Provider and utilized in the ATM operations 
of ATM Solutions in Australia (the "Bailment Facility").  All such cash remains the property of the Bailment 
Provider and does not become either an asset or a liability of ATM Solutions.  The Corporation or one or more of its 
subsidiaries may enter into similar agreements with other financial institutions from time to time in the future.   

The obligations under the Debt Agreements and under certain hedging and cash management arrangements that the 
Borrowers have entered or may enter into from time to time (each on a pari passu first priority basis subject to the 
proviso below) and the obligations under the Bailment Facility (on a second priority basis subject to the proviso 
below) are or will be guaranteed by the Corporation, the other Borrowers and the Corporation's other material 
subsidiaries (which include its significant operating subsidiaries) and are secured by a security interest and charge 
over all assets of the Corporation and the guarantors in favour of the Agent as collateral agent, provided that the 
obligations to the Bailment Provider under the Bailment Facility are secured by a first charge and security interest 
over all claims against approved cash suppliers (which are the persons approved by the Bailment Provider to 
transport and load cash into ATMs), all claims under insurance policies in relation of the destruction, loss, theft or 
damage of any cash provided by the Bailment Provider and all bailment settlement amounts paid or payable by third 
party financial institutions to reimburse the Corporation or any subsidiary which is party to any one Bailment 
Facility for the value of the cash withdrawn from an applicable ATM.   

On July 23, 2012 DirectCash announced that it intends to issue $125 million aggregate principal amount of 7-year 
Notes. The Notes will be direct senior unsecured obligations of DirectCash ranking pari passu with all other present 
and future senior unsecured indebtedness of the Corporation. The Notes will be offered on a private placement basis 
through a syndicate of underwriters led by BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc.  Closing of the High Yield Offering is expected 
to occur on or about August 8, 2012 following a limited marketing process and determination of pricing.  

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The auditors of DirectCash are KPMG LLP, of Calgary, Alberta. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares is Valiant Trust Company at its principal office in Calgary, 
Alberta. 

EXEMPTION FROM THE INSTRUMENT  

Pursuant to a decision of the Alberta Securities Commission dated July 11, 2012, the Corporation was granted relief 
from the requirement to file, in accordance with Section 4.1(b) of National Instrument 44-101 – Short Form 
Prospectus Distributions, a completed Personal Information Form and Authorization of Indirect Collection, Use and 
Disclosure of Personal Information (a "PIF") for each director and executive officer of the Corporation that 
previously provided a PIF in connection with the filing of the preliminary short form prospectus dated August 30, 
2010 of DirectCash Income Fund. 
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STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an 
agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two Business Days after receipt or deemed 
receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, securities legislation further provides a 
purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus and any amendment 
contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission or 
damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the 
purchaser's province. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the 
province in which the purchaser resides for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. 
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AUDITORS' CONSENTS 

Consent of KPMG LLP 

We have read the short form prospectus dated August 1, 2012 relating to the sale and issue of common shares of 
DirectCash Payments Inc. (the "Company"). We have complied with Canadian generally accepted standards for an 
auditor's involvement with offering documents. 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the above-mentioned short form prospectus of our report to the 
shareholders of the Company on the consolidated financial statements of the Company, which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. Our report is dated March 19, 2012. 
 

(signed) "KPMG LLP "  
Chartered Accountants 
August 1, 2012 
Calgary, Canada 

Consent of KPMG Australia 

We have read the short form prospectus dated August 1, 2012 relating to the qualification for distribution of 
2,800,000 Common Shares of DirectCash Payments Inc. ("DirectCash"). We have complied with Canadian 
generally accepted standards for an auditor's involvement with offering documents. 

We consent to the use in the above-mentioned short form prospectus of our report to the members of Customers 
Limited on the consolidated statement of financial position of Customers Limited as at June 30, 2011 and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. Our report is dated August 24, 2011. 

(signed) "KPMG" 
Melbourne, Australia 
August 1, 2012  
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DirectCash Payments Inc. 

Pro-forma Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

As at March 31, 2012 (unaudited) 

 DirectCash 

Payments Inc. 

Customers 

Ltd. 

Pro-forma 

Adjustments Note 

Pro-forma 

Consolidated 

Assets:      

Current assets:      

Cash in circulation  $ 42,987  $ 1,089  $ -   $ 44,076 

Restricted funds 14,301 -   14,301 

Trade and other receivables 3,878 4,998   8,876 

Inventories 2,767 -   2,767 

Prepaid expenses 752 -   752 

Other - 1,194   1,194 

 64,685 7,281 -  71,966 

Non-current assets:      

Other receivables 900 -   900 

Deferred tax asset 7,569 -   7,569 

Property and equipment 10,313 58,964 -  69,277 

Intangible assets 15,253 17,508 152,898 2(a) 185,659 

Goodwill 52,366 142,785 (142,785) 2(a) 52,366 

Other assets - 4,622   4,622 

Investments accounted for using the equity method - 202   202 

  $ 151,086  $ 231,362  $ 10,113   $ 392,561 

Liabilities and Shareholders' equity      

Current liabilities:      

Revolving credit facility  $ 1,998  $ -  $ (1,720) 2(c)  $ 278 

Acquisition credit facility 32,504 - (32,504) 2(c) - 

Current portion of term loan - - 830 2(c) 830 

Loans and borrowings - 42,680 (42,680) 2(c) - 

Restricted funds liability 14,301 -   14,301 

Derivative financial instruments - 240   240 

Trade and other payables 14,411 9,077   23,488 

Employee benefits - 1,025   1,025 

Income tax payable 125 2,173   2,298 

Dividends payable 1,592 2,794   4,386 

Other - 2,294   2,294 

 64,931 60,283 (76,074)  49,140 

Non-current liabilities:      

Term loan - - 78,170 2(c) 78,170 

Senior unsecured notes - - 119,000 2(b) 119,000 

Deferred tax - 1,581 (759) 2(e) 822 

Employee benefits - 348   348 

Other - 8,964   8,964 

Deferred rent 99 -   99 

Deferred revenue 42 -   42 

 141 10,893 196,411  207,445 

Shareholders equity:      

Share capital 194,990 191,443 (191,443) 2(f)  

   63,087 2(e) 258,077 

Contributed surplus (current and unvested EPSP/LTIP) 2,785 -   2,785 

Shares held in trust by EPSP/LTIP Trustee (2,079) -   (2,079) 

Foreign currency translation reserve 119 - -  119 

Option reserve - (8,974) -  (8,974) 

Deficit (109,801) (19,742) 15,591 2(d,f) (113,952) 

Non-controlling interest - (2,541) 2,541 2(a) - 

Total Shareholders' equity 86,014 160,186 (110,224)  135,976 

  $ 151,086  $ 231,362  $ 10,113   $ 392,561 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements 

 



 

 

DirectCash Payments Inc. 

Pro-forma Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 (unaudited) 

 
DirectCash 

Payments Inc. 

Customers 

Ltd. 

Pro-forma 

Adjustments Note 

Pro-forma 

Consolidated 

Revenue:      

Recurring services   $ 92,598  $ 128,723  $ -   $ 221,321 

Products 19,539 -   19,539 

Interest and other income 205 321   526 

 112,342 129,044   241,386 

Other income (bargain purchase gain) 6,303 -   6,303 

Operating Expenses:      
Cost of recurring services 38,734 62,689   101,423 

Cost of products 17,082 -   17,082 

Personnel expenses 10,942 14,904   25,846 
Employee profit sharing plan/Long-term incentive plan 1,442 -   1,442 

Share of loss of equity accounted associates  - 156   156 

Other expenses 7,471 9,649   17,120 
Non-recoverable GST - 2,901   2,901 

Acquisition costs - - 4,151 3(d) 4,151 

Depreciation of property and equipment 4,750 12,368 -  17,118 
Amortization of intangible assets 11,274 10,372 17,605 3(a) 39,251 

 91,695 113,039 21,756  226,490 

Results from Operating Activities 26,950 16,005 (21,756)  21,199 

Net Finance costs:      

Finance costs (1,672) (4,808) (12,485) 3(b,c) (18,965) 
Unrealized gain on foreign exchange 4 -   4 

 (1,668) (4,808) (12,485) 

 

(18,961) 

Net Income before income taxes 25,282 11,197 (34,241) 2,238 

Current income tax expense 255 1,734   1,989 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 4,703 135 (8,403) 3(e) (3,565) 

Net Income from continuing operations 20,324 9,328 (25,838)  3,814 

Loss from discontinued operations (net of tax) - (49)   (49) 

Net Income for the year 20,324 9,279 (25,838)  3,765 

Other comprehensive loss      

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (747) (24)   (771) 

Comprehensive loss (747) (24)   (771) 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 19,577 9,255 (25,838)  2,994 

NET INCOME ATTIBUTABLE TO:      

Shareholders of the Company 20,324 10,043 (25,838)  4,529 

Non controlling interest - (764) -  (764) 

Net income for the year  $ 20,324  $ 9,279  $ (25,838)   $ 3,765 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:      

Shareholders of the Company 19,577 9,988 (25,838)  3,727 

Non controlling interest - (733) -  (733) 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year $          19,577 $           9,255 $         (25,838)  $            2,994 

Net income per share attributable to shareholders of 

the Company:      

Basic  $ 1.48  $ 0.07    $ 0.27 

Diluted  $ 1.47  $ 0.07    $ 0.27 

Weighted average shares outstanding:      

Basic 13,747,319 134,869,357  3(f) 16,547,319 

Diluted 13,839,279 134,869,357  3(f) 16,639,279 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements. 

 



 

 

DirectCash Payments Inc. 

Pro-forma Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss) 

For the three month period ended March 31, 2012 (unaudited) 

 
DirectCash 

Payments Inc. 

Customers 

Ltd. 

Pro-forma 

Adjustments Note 

Pro-forma 

Consolidated 

Revenue:      

Recurring services  $ 23,903  $ 32,874  $ -   $ 56,777 

Products 3,934 -   3,934 

Interest 45 24   69 

 27,882 32,898   60,780 

Operating Expenses:      

Cost of recurring services 10,375 17,422   27,797 

Cost of products 3,701 -   3,701 

Personnel expenses 2,759 4,289   7,048 

Employee profit sharing plan/Long-term incentive plan 520 -   520 

Other expenses 2,043 2,197   4,240 

Non-recoverable GST - 690   690 

Acquisition costs   4,151 3(d) 4,151 

Depreciation of property and equipment 1,171 4,132   5,303 

Amortization of intangible assets 2,660 2,052 4,942 3(a) 9,654 

 23,229 30,782 9,093  63,104 

Results from Operating Activities 4,653 2,116 (9,093)  (2,324) 

Net Finance costs:      

Finance costs (344) (1,126) (3,121) 3(b,c) (4,591) 

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange (7) -   (7) 

 (351) (1,126) (3,121)  (4,598) 

Net Income (loss) before income taxes 4,302 990 (12,214)  (6,922) 

Current income tax expense 91 416   507 

Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 990 - (2,263) 3(e) (1,273) 

Net Income (loss) for the period 3,221 574 (9,951)  (6,156) 

Other comprehensive Income (loss)      

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 525 (20)   505 

Comprehensive Income (loss) 525 (20) -  505 

Total Comprehensive Income (loss) for the period 3,746 554 (9,951)  (5,651) 

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTIBUTABLE TO:      

Shareholders of the Company 3,221 791 (9,951)  (5,939) 

Non controlling interest - (217) -  (217) 

Net income (loss) for the period $            3,221 $ 574 $            (9,951)  $           (6,156) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:      

Shareholders of the Company 3,746 840 (9,951)  (5,365) 

Non controlling interest - (286) -  (286) 

Total Comprehensive Income (loss) for the period $            3,746 $ 554 $            (9,951)  $           (5,651) 

Net income (loss) per share attributable to 

shareholders of the Company:      

Basic and diluted  $ 0.23 $                  0.01    $ (0.36) 

Weighted average shares outstanding:      

Basic 13,733,111 134,869,357  3(f) 16,533,111 

Diluted 13,839,279 134,869,357  3(f) 16,639,279 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements. 

 



 

 

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

On July 4, 2012, DirectCash Payments Inc. ("DirectCash" or the "Company") completed its previously announced acquisition 

of Customers Limited ("Customers") through a court-approved Scheme of Arrangement (the "Arrangement") under 

Australian Law. The accompanying unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements of DirectCash have been prepared 

for the inclusion in DirectCash's short form prospectus. The unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared by management of DirectCash ("Management") to give effect to the acquisition.  Except as otherwise defined 

herein, capitalized terms used in these pro-forma financial statements shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the short 

form prospectus. 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management of DirectCash using the 

following information: 

(a) Audited consolidated financial statements of Customers for the year ended June 30, 2011 under IFRS 

(b) Unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Customers for the six months ended 

December 31, 2011 under IFRS 

(c) Unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Customers for the nine months ended 

March 31, 2012 under IFRS 

(d) Audited consolidated financial statements of DirectCash for the year ended December 31, 2011 under IFRS 

(e) Unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of DirectCash for the three months ended 

March 31, 2012 under IFRS. 

These unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited and unaudited 

consolidated financial statements of DirectCash and Customers including the notes thereto.  The financial statements of 

DirectCash are specifically incorporated by reference and can be found at www.sedar.com and the financial statements of 

Customers are included herein - see Schedule B "Financial Statements of Customers Limited." 

Accounting policies used in the preparation of the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements are in accordance 

with those used in the preparation of the audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements of DirectCash. In the 

opinion of Management, the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements include all the adjustments necessary for 

fair presentation in accordance with IFRS. 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position gives effect to the transactions outlined in Note 2 as if 

they occurred on March 31, 2012. The pro-forma adjustments and allocation of the purchase price for Customers are based on 

preliminary valuation data and these estimates and assumptions may change by a material amount. Any changes in the final 

determination of the fair value of the net assets of Customers will change the final purchase price allocation used to account 

for this transaction. The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2011 and for the three months ended March 31, 2012 give effect to the transactions outlined in Note 3 as if 

they had occurred at the beginning of the respective periods. 

The pro-forma information is based on estimates and assumptions set forth in the notes to such information. The unaudited 

pro-forma consolidated financial statements may not necessarily be indicative of the financial results of operations that would 

have occurred if the acquisition and related events reflected herein and described in Notes 2 and 3 to the unaudited pro-forma 

consolidated financial statements had occurred on the assumed dates or the results that may be obtained in future periods. In 

preparing these unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements, no adjustments have been made to reflect the 

synergies and related cost savings and restructuring and integration costs that may result from combining the operations and 

administration of DirectCash and Customers. 

Foreign currency translation 

Customers' financial statements used to prepare the unaudited pro-forma statements as referenced above were prepared in 

Australian dollars. For the purpose of the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position, the Customers 

http://www.sedar.com/


 

figures have been converted from Australian dollars into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate as of March 31, 2012 of 

1.0358. For the purpose of the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 

December 31, 2011, the Customers figures have been converted from Australian dollars into Canadian dollars using the 

average exchange rate for the year of 1.0206. For the purpose of the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of 

comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Customers figures have been converted from Australia 

dollars into Canadian dollars using the average exchange rate for the three month period of 1.0566.  

Unless otherwise stated, all dollar amounts stated herein are expressed in Canadian dollars. 

2. PRO-FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ASSUMPTIONS AND 

ADJUSTMENTS 

Under the Arrangement, DirectCash acquired all of the outstanding fully diluted shares of Customers ("Customers Shares") at 

A$1.27 per share. For the purposes of these unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements, the number of Customers 

Shares is considered to be 136,280,822 based on 134,869,357 shares outstanding as at March 31, 2012 and 1,411,465 

performance rights which vested upon acquisition. For the purposes of these unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial 

statements, the total estimated consideration is $179.3 million. 

The Arrangement will be accounted for using the acquisition method, with DirectCash being the acquirer for accounting 

purposes, whereby the assets and liabilities are recorded at their fair values with the excess of the aggregate consideration 

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets allocated to goodwill, if applicable. Following the completion of the 

Arrangement, the net assets, liabilities and operations of Customers' operating entities will be combined with DirectCash's 

operating entities and continue as DirectCash Payments Inc. 

The fair values of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed will be finalized subsequent to the closing of the transaction. 

The allocation of the consideration transferred will be subject to adjustment as certain cost estimates are realized and tax 

balances finalized. 

For purposes of preparing the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position, the consideration transferred 

has been allocated to Customers' assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values at March 31, 2012 

as follows: 

Consideration: 

(000's except share numbers) 

    

 A$ per share # of shares  Total CAD 

Cash paid on closing 1.27 136,280,822 $ 179,273 

     

Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed:     

(000's)     

Property and equipment   $ 58,964 

Other non-current assets    4,824 

Identifiable intangible assets    170,406 

Option reserve    8,974 

Net working capital deficiency    (10,322) 

Loans and borrowings    (42,680) 

Deferred tax liabilities    (1,581) 

Other non-current liabilities    (9,312) 

    179,273 

 

The following pro-forma adjustments have been made to the unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial 

position to reflect DirectCash's acquisition of Customers assuming the Arrangement occurred on March 31, 2012: 

(a) The excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired has been 

allocated to intangible assets. Management expects that the actual amount assigned to the fair values of the 

identifiable assets and liabilities acquired will result in changes to earnings in periods subsequent to the 

Customers acquisition and that those changes could be material. 



 

(b) Senior unsecured notes has been increased by $119.0 million to reflect aggregate gross proceeds of $125.0 

million pursuant to the High Yield Offering less the underwriters' fee payable in connection with the High 

Yield Offering and the Bond Bridge Facility of $5.5 million and expenses of the High Yield Offering 

estimated to be $0.5 million.  

(c) The Company borrows approximately $85.3 million gross proceeds under its Debt Agreements which is 

comprised of a draw on the Revolving Facility and the Term Loan both maturing on June 28, 2017. The 

acquisition credit facility of DirectCash and the loans and the borrowings of Customers are fully repaid and 

associated facilities cancelled. Term Loan and Revolving Facility have been increased to $79.3 million to 

reflect aggregate gross proceeds of $85.3 million less deferred finance costs estimated at $6.0 million. 

(d) The total estimated transaction costs incurred by DirectCash on the Arrangement and the financing thereof 

are $19.2 million, of which approximately $12.0 million has been recorded as deferred finance costs as 

described above, to be amortized over the term of the related debt and approximately $4.2 million were 

expensed. Deferred finance costs have been deducted from the related debt.  

(e) Share capital has been increased by $63.1 million to reflect the issuance of 2,800,000 Common Shares for 

aggregate gross proceeds of $65.4 million less the Underwriters fees of $2.9 million and expenses of the 

Offering estimated to be $0.1 million, offset by $0.7 million of tax effect on the capitalized equity issuance 

costs. 

(f) The share capital and deficit of Customers have been eliminated.  

(g) The pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position does not include any adjustments related to the 

InfoCash Acquisition. 

3. PRO-FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

ASSUMPTIONS AND ADJUSTMENTS 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 

for the three months ended March 31, 2012 have been prepared to reflect the combined operations of DirectCash and 

Customers assuming the Arrangement was completed at the beginning of the respective periods. 

The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 

for the three months ended March 31, 2012 have been adjusted as follows: 

(a) Amortization expense for intangible assets has been increased by $17.6 million and $4.9 million for the 

year ended December 31, 2011 and the three months ended March 31, 2012 respectively, as a result of fair 

value adjustments recorded to intangible assets acquired. 

(b) The amortization expense associated with deferred financing costs has been accrued based on the terms 

estimated for the Revolving Facility and Term Facility (5 years) and the Notes (7 years). The amortization 

expense associated with deferred financing costs has been included in finance costs. 

(c) Finance costs have increased by $12.5 million and $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 

the three months ended March 31, 2012 respectively, based on DirectCash's estimated interest rate under 

the Debt Agreements and the High Yield Offering, to reflect the additional long term debt required to fund 

the cash consideration paid to Customers' shareholders and the amortization expense associated with the 

deferred financing costs as outlined in Note 3(b). 

(d) The total estimated transaction costs expensed by DirectCash on the Arrangement of approximately $4.2 

million, including the costs of the Equity Bridge Facility are represented as acquisition costs in the pro-

forma consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2011 and 

for the three months ended March 31, 2012. 

(e) Deferred income taxes related to the above pro-forma adjustments have been calculated using an effective 

tax rate of 28%. 



 

(f) The pro-forma basic and diluted weighted average number of DirectCash Shares outstanding for the year 

ended December 31, 2011 are 16,547,319 and 16,639,279 respectively, including 2,800,000 Common 

Shares issued under the Offering, with the Offering assumed to have been completed at the beginning of 

the year. The pro-forma basic and diluted weighted average number of DirectCash Shares outstanding for 

the three months ended March 31, 2012 are 16,533,111 and 16,639,279 respectively, including 2,800,000 

Common Shares issued under the Offering, with the Offering assumed to have been completed at the 

beginning of the period. 

(g) The pro-forma consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) do not include any adjustments 

related to the InfoCash Acquisition. 

(h) The Company segments its revenues and cost of goods sold by line of business. Pro-forma revenues and 

gross profit by line of business are as follows: 

Three Months Ended March 31, 2012 (000's) 

 

ATM Business 

Prepaid Products 

Business 

Debit Terminal 

Business Total 

Revenue:     

DirectCash $ 13,696 $ 13,704 $ 482 $ 27,882 

Customers 32,898 - - 32,898 

Total 46,594 13,704 482 60,780 

Percentage 77% 22% 1% 100% 

     

Cost of Recurring Services 

and Products:     

Direct Cash 6,766 7,216 94 14,076 
Customers 17,422 - - 17,422 

Total 24,188 7,216 94 31,498 

     

Gross Profit 22,406 6,488 388 29,282 

Percentage 77% 22% 1% 100% 

     

 

Year ended December 31, 2011 (000's) 

 

ATM Business 

Prepaid Products 

Business 

Debit Terminal 

Business Total 

Revenue:     
DirectCash $ 52,598 $ 57,688 $ 2,056   $ 112,342 

Customers 129,044 - - 129,044 

Total 181,642 57,688 2,056 241,386 

Percentage 75% 24% 1% 100% 
     

Cost of Recurring Services 

and Products:     

Direct Cash 24,150 31,230 436 55,816 

Customers 62,689 - - 62,689 

Total 86,839 31,230 436 118,505 
     

Gross Profit 94,803 26,458 1,620 122,881 

Percentage 77% 22% 1% 100% 
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Directors’ Report 
 
4.2 Remuneration report - audited 
 
Principles of compensation  
 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for key management personnel of the 
Customers Group. Remuneration of key management personnel is referred to as compensation throughout 
this report. 
 
Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group. Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Company and executives 
of the Group, including the five most highly remunerated Company and Group executives. 
 
Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Group are competitively set to attract and retain 
appropriately qualified and experienced directors and executives having regard to the size of the Company 
and its capacity to pay. 
 
The compensation structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward 
the achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for 
shareholders. The compensation structures take into account: 
 

• The capability and experience of the key management personnel; 
• The key management personnel’s ability to control Group performance; and 
• The Group’s performance including the Group’s earnings. 

 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive 
remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
The Company’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board for 
approval compensation arrangements for directors and senior executives. The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee obtains independent advice from time to time on the appropriateness of the 
compensation packages offered to directors and senior executives, given trends in the market generally and 
the objectives of the Group’s compensation strategy. 
 
Non-executive director remuneration 
 
The Company’s non-executive directors receive fixed fees for their services. The fees paid reflect the 
demands that are made on and the responsibilities of the non-executive directors. Non-executive directors’ 
fees are reviewed annually and are determined by the Board having regard to fees paid to non-executive 
directors of comparable companies, and where considered necessary the Board seeks external advice on 
market remuneration levels. Total compensation for all non-executive directors, last voted on by 
shareholders at the 2009 AGM, is not to exceed $450,000 per annum. 
 
Each non-executive director currently receives a base fee of $87,000 per annum, which covers membership 
of the Board and of each Board Committee. The Chairman receives a fixed fee of $140,000 per annum. An 
additional fee is also payable to each director who chairs a Board Committee as follows: 
 

• Audit and Risk Committee Chair - $10,000 per annum; and 
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chair - $5,000 per annum. 

 
In addition to the above fees, non-executive directors also receive superannuation contributions in 
accordance with law. Mr Burney’s director’s fees are paid to the Taverners Group. 
 
Executive remuneration 
 
Executive compensation consists of the following elements: 
 

• Fixed compensation; and 
• Performance linked compensation: 

 Short term incentive; and 
 Long term incentive. 
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Remuneration report – audited (continued) 
 
Fixed compensation  
 
Fixed compensation consists of base compensation (which is calculated on a total cost basis) as well as 
employer contributions to superannuation funds.   
 
Compensation levels are reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee through a 
process that considers individual performance and the overall performance of the Group. In addition, 
external consultants are consulted periodically to ensure the senior executives’ compensation is competitive 
in the market place. A senior executive’s compensation is also reviewed on promotion. 
 
Performance linked compensation  
 
Performance linked compensation comprises short-term incentives and long-term incentives and is designed 
to reward key management personnel for meeting or exceeding their financial and personal objectives. The 
short term incentive is provided in the form of cash, while the long term incentive is provided as performance 
share rights under the rules of the Employee Incentive Plan Rules.  
 
Short term incentive 
 
Each year the Board, on the advice of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, sets the key 
performance indicators (KPI’s) for senior executives for the purposes of the STI. The KPI’s comprise 
measures of total Company performance and individual performance and contain a mixture of financial, non-
financial, strategic, risk and people metrics. The measures are chosen as they directly align the individual’s 
STI to the KPI’s of the Group, its strategy and performance.  
 
The financial objectives and KPI’s related to the payment of short-term incentives include the achievement of 
a profit before tax target for the financial year. The personal objectives and KPI’s related to the payment of 
short term incentives are determined by reference to the key deliverables for each executive’s role towards 
achieving the Company’s annual growth and budgeted objectives that are consistent with the Company’s 
strategic plan. 
 
At the end of each financial year, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee assesses the actual 
performance of the individual and the Group against the KPI’s set at the beginning of the year and makes a 
recommendation to the Board as to the appropriate STI that should be paid. This method of assessment was 
chosen as it provides the Nomination and Remuneration Committee with an objective assessment of the 
individual’s performance. The performance evaluation in respect of the year ended 30 June 2011 has taken 
place in accordance with this process. 
 
Long Term Incentive 
 
Long term incentive grants to executives are delivered in the form of performance share rights over ordinary 
shares of the Company under the Employee Incentive Plan. The decision to make an award of performance 
share rights is made by the Board annually, on the advice of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
Individual participation is based on a number of factors, including the strategic significance of the executive’s 
role, ability to influence the generation of shareholder wealth and personal performance. 
 
The ability to exercise the performance share rights is conditional on the individual remaining an employee 
and the achievement of performance hurdles that are based on future earnings per share. The performance 
share rights currently outstanding were issued in November 2010 and require that the individual executive 
remains as an employee until 30 June 2013 and provides that the performance share rights issued to the 
executive will vest in accordance with the following schedule: 
 
EPS Achievement- Year ended 30 June 2013 % of Award 
Earnings per share of 33.5 cents  100% 
Earnings per share of 28.3 cents  75% 
Earnings per share of 23.2 cents  50% 
Earnings per share of less than 23.2 cents 0% 
 
Hedging of unvested performance share rights is prohibited. In the event of a change of control of the 
Company, the Board has the discretion to accelerate the vesting of the performance share rights. 
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Remuneration report – audited (continued) 
 
Consequences of performance on shareholders’ wealth 
 
The Board considers that the above performance linked compensation structure is generating the desired 
outcome, with the level of short and long term incentives received by senior executives being wholly 
dependent on growth of earnings per share attributed to shareholders (in the case of the long term incentive) 
and materially dependent on profit before tax performance (in the case of the short term incentive). 
 
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board has regard to the 
following indices in respect of the current year and the previous four financial years. 

 
Employment contracts  
 
The Company has a service contract with Mr Timothy J Wildash, the Managing Director, for a term of three 
years commencing from 1 July 2010. The Company may terminate the contract at any time by giving Mr 
Wildash 12 months’ notice (or by payment of fixed compensation in lieu of notice) or immediately for 
misconduct. Mr Wildash is entitled to resign his employment with the Company on six months’ notice. The 
Company must give Mr Wildash 12 months’ notice if it does not intend to seek an extension of the term of 
the agreement and where less than 12 months’ notice of non-renewal is given, the Company must pay Mr 
Wildash’s fixed remuneration in lieu of notice. 
 
Unless otherwise specified below, the terms of employment of other key management personnel are as 
follows: 
 

• The executive is entitled to resign his employment on three months’ notice; and 
• The Company is entitled to terminate the executive’s employment on six months’ notice (or by 

payment of fixed compensation in lieu of notice), or immediately for misconduct. 
 
The service agreements for each of Peter Campigli and Adam Olding provide that the Company is entitled to 
terminate the executive on 12 months’ notice (or by payment of fixed compensation in lieu of notice). 
 
The Company’s former Chairman, Greg Monaghan, has been engaged on a fixed term 12 month 
consultancy agreement with the Company, commencing on 23 November 2010, under which he is paid 
$140,000 per annum, inclusive of GST. 
 

 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

  
 

 Continuing 
Operations 

 

Revenue 124,398 117,025 89,495 80,362 42,293 
EBITDA 
(excluding 
share based 
payments) 44,234 48,022 31,361 8,061 4,291 
Net profit (loss) 
before tax 17,428 24,767 3,923 (15,777) (7,180) 

Dividends paid1 14,836 - - - - 
Capital return to 
equity holders2 

- 22,094 - - - 

Basic earnings 
per share 

0.138 0.138 0.049 (0.258 (0.010) 

Diluted earnings 
per share 

0.138 0.136 0.045 (0.258) (0.010) 

Change in share 
price at year end 

(73%) 33% 154% (60%) (11%) 

       
1. A final dividend of 8 cents per ordinary share was paid in December 2010, and an interim dividend of 3 cents 
per ordinary share was paid in April 2011 
2. Two capital returns of 8 cents each were paid during the previous financial year. 
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1 Appointed 23 November 2010 3 Resigned as Chairman and director on 23 November 2010.  5 Appointed 15 May 2010 
2 Appointed 4 October 2010 4 Resigned 23 November 20103  6 Ceased engagement 10 May 2011 

Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration (Company and Group)  
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and each of the 5 named Company executives and relevant Group executives who 
receive the highest remuneration and other key management personnel of the consolidated entity are: 

  Short-term     Share-based payments  S300A (1)(e)(i) 

Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related % 

S300A (1)(e)(vi) 

Value of options 
and performance 
share rights as 
proportion of 

remuneration %   

Salary & 
fees  

$ 

STI cash 
bonus 

$ 

Total 
$ 

Post 
employment 

benefits 
$ 

Other long 
term 

benefits 
$ 

Termination 
benefits 

$ 

Performance 
Share Rights 

$ 

Options  
$ 

Shares 
$ 

Total 
$ 

Non-executive Directors              
Mr P L Polson1 2011 75,658 - 75,658 5,963 - - - - - 81,621 - - 
 2010 - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Mr C V Carbonaro 2011 88,667 - 88,667 36,250 - - - - - 124,917 - - 
 2010 29,000 - 29,000 50,000 - - - 10,555 - 89,555 - 12 
Mr R M Herron2  2011 67,864 - 67,864 5,849 - - - - - 73,713 - - 
 2010 - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Mr R A Burney1 2011 46,136 - 46,136 - - - - - - 46,136 - - 
 2010 - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Executive Director              
Mr T J Wildash, MD & CEO 2011 602,743 90,000 692,743 47,890 5,106 - - - - 745,739 12 - 
 2010 433,823 80,000 513,823 50,656 4,488 - (133,333) - - 435,634 64 40 
Former Directors              
Mr G K Monaghan3 2011 53,517 - 53,517 4,816 - - - - - 58,333 - - 
 2010 116,208 - 116,208 10,459 - - - 10,555 - 137,222 - 8 
Mr G R Rooke4  2011 33,256 - 33,256 2,993 - - - - - 36,249 - - 
 2010 72,477 - 72,477 6,523 - - - - - 79,000 - - 
Executives              
Mr P L Campigli, CFO 2011 278,614 56,350 334,964 23,491 1,870 - - - - 360,325 16 - 
 2010 231,581 39,500 271,081 26,319 538 - - - - 297,938 13 - 
Mr R Martin, Manager,  
Corporate Affairs and Marketing 2011 156,507 31,875 188,382 14,582 432 - - - - 203,396 16 - 
 2010 125,750 26,250 152,000 10,911 - - - - - 162,911 16 - 
Mr A R Olding, GM Legal and 
Strategy, Company Secretary 2011 230,998 70,835 301,833 20,432 568 - - - - 322,833 22 - 
 2010 164,129 72,030 236,159 13,581 - - - - - 249,740 29 - 
Mr C Walker, COO 2011 246,084 68,751 314,835 26,034 1,271 - - - - 342,140 20 - 
 2010 213,936 49,896 263,832 17,144 - - - - - 280,976 18 - 
Mr A Wingrove, GM Corporate 
Business5 2011 182,776 25,711 208,487 16,650 316 - - - - 225,453 11 - 
 2010 - - - - - - - - - - - - 
Total Directors and 
Executives Remuneration 2011 2,062,820 343,522 2,406,342 204,950 9,563 - - - - 2,620,855   
 2010 1,386,904 267,676 1,654,580 185,593 5,026 - (133,333) 21,110 - 1,732,976 - - 
Former Executive              

  Mr R Ulrick, Company 
Secretary6 2011 111,800 - 111,800 - - - - - - 111,800 - - 
 2010 132,600 - 132,600 - - - - - - 132,600 - - 
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Remuneration report – audited (continued) 
 
Notes in relation to the table of Directors’ and executive officers’ remuneration - audited 
 
(A) The short-term incentive bonus is for performance during the respective financial year using the 

criteria outlined on page 14. The amount was finally determined on 19 August 2011 after performance 
reviews were completed and approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

 
(B) The fair value of the performance share rights is based on a valuation dated 19 August 2011.   
 
Options 
 
There were no options granted to Directors and executive officers during the financial year. 
 
Details on performance related remuneration 
 
Details of the Group’s policy in relation to the proportion of the remuneration that is performance related is 
discussed on page 14. 
 
Analysis of bonuses included in remuneration 
 
Details of the vesting profile of the short term incentive cash bonuses awarded as compensation to each 
director of the Company, each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group executives and 
other key management personnel are detailed below. 
 
 2011 Short-term bonus 
 Included in 

remuneration 
$ 

% vested 
in year 

% unvested 
in year (C) 

% forfeited 
in year (B) 

Executive Director     
Mr T J Wildash 90,000 30 - 70 
     
Executives     
Mr P L J Campigli  56,350 57.5 - 42.5 
Mr R Martin 31,875 42.5 42.5 15 
Mr A R Olding  70,835 85 - 15 
Mr C Walker 68,751 82.5 - 17.5 
Mr A Wingrove 25,711 42.5 42.5 15 
 
(A) Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represent the amount that vested in the 

financial year based on achievement of personal goals and satisfaction of specified performance 
criteria. 

 
(B) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance criteria not being met in relation to the current year. 
 
(C) Relates to amounts withheld that will vest over two years in accordance with contractual agreements. 
 
Shares, options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation  
 
Details of rights over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to key 
management person during the reporting period are as follows: 
 
 Number of 

performance 
rights 

granted 
during 2011 Grant date 

Fair value per 
performance 

right at  
grant date 

($) 

Exercise 
price of 

performance 
right 
($) Expiry Date 

Number of 
performance 

rights 
vested 

during 2011 
Executive 
Director 

      

Mr T J Wildash 350,000 23/11/2010 $1.94992 Nil 23/11/2015 Nil 
       
Executives       
Mr P L J Campigli  55,300 19/11/2010 $1.96999 Nil 19/11/2015 Nil 
Mr A R Olding  58,334 19/11/2010 $1.96999 Nil 19/11/2015 Nil 
Mr C Walker 58,334 19/11/2010 $1.96999 Nil 19/11/2015 Nil 
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All performance share rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s 
employment. The performance share rights are exercisable at any time after vesting up until the expiry date. 
In addition to a continuing employment service condition, the ability to exercise the performance share rights 
is conditional on the Group achieving certain performance hurdles. Details of the performance criteria are 
included in the long term incentives discussion on page 14.  
 
Modification of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions  
 
No terms or equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options and rights granted as 
compensation to a key management person) have been altered or modified by the Group during the 
reporting period or the prior period. 
 
Exercise of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation  
 
No options or rights over equity instruments were exercised during the reporting period.  
 
Analysis of options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation  
 
Details of vesting profile of performance share rights granted as remuneration to each director of the 
Company and each of the named Company executives and relevant Group executives is detailed below. 
 
 Options and rights granted 

 Number 
Date 

Granted 
% vested 

in year 

% 
forfeited 
in year  

Financial 
years in 

which grant 
vests 

Executive Director      
Mr T J Wildash  350,000 23/11/2010 0 0 1/07/2013 
      
Executives      
Mr P L J Campigli  55,300 19/11/2010 0 0 1/07/2013 
Mr A R Olding  58,334 19/11/2010 0 0 1/07/2013 
Mr C Walker 58,334 19/11/2010 0 0 1/07/2013 
 



Customers Limited 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income  
For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 Note 2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
Continuing operations    

Revenue 9 124,398 117,025 
ATM network expense 11 (56,794) (49,115) 
Gross profit  67,604 67,910 
    
Other income 10 54 115 
Employee benefits expense  13 (12,799) (10,165) 
Contract termination costs  - (597) 
Non-recoverable GST  (2,516) (3,184) 
Other expenses  12 (8,109) (6,057) 
EBITDA   44,234 48,022 
    
Depreciation and amortisation  18,20,21 (22,600) (20,567) 
Results from operating activities   21,634 27,455 
    
Finance income 14 215 2,251 
Finance costs 14 (4,069) (4,818) 
Net finance costs  (3,854) (2,567) 
    
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees (net of tax) 19 (352) (121) 
Profit before income tax   17,428 24,767 
    
Income tax benefit  / (expense) 15 1,317 (5,890) 
Profit from continuing operations  18,745 18,877 
    
Discontinued operations    
Loss from discontinued operation (net of income tax) 7,15 (60) (238) 
Profit for the year  18,685 18,639 
    
Other comprehensive income    
Foreign currency translation differences  (49) 7 
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to  
profit or (loss), net of tax  - (83) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (49) (76) 
Total comprehensive income for the year  18,636 18,563 
    
Profits attributable to    
Owners of the Company  18,798 18,639 
Non-controlling interest  (113) - 
Profit for the year  18,685 18,639 
    
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
Owners of the Company  18,749 18,563 
Non-controlling interest  (113) - 
Total comprehensive income for the year  18,636 18,563 
    
Earnings per share    
Basic earnings per share ($ per share) 29 0.138 0.138 
Diluted earnings per share ($ per share) 29 0.138 0.136 
    
Earnings per share - continuing operations    
Basic earnings per share ($ per share) 29 0.138 0.140 
Diluted earnings per share ($ per share) 29 
 

0.138 0.137 

Notes 1 to 39 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 



Customers Limited 
 
Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2011 

 
 Note 2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
Assets    
    
Cash and cash equivalents 17 5,441 80 
Trade and other receivables 16 3,123 3,638 
Other current assets 18 1,669 1,620 
Total current assets  10,233 5,338 
    
Trade and other receivables 16 4 1,715 
Plant and equipment 20 51,334 52,790 
Investments in equity accounted investees 19 158 1,079 
Intangible assets 21 156,397 151,201 
Other non-current assets 18 4,215 4,102 
Total non-current assets  212,108 210,887 
Total assets  222,341 216,225 
    
Liabilities    
    
Bank overdraft 17 - 119 
Trade and other payables 23 11,749 10,896 
Current tax payable  2,513 3,988 
Loans and borrowings 26 33,654 3,500 
Employee benefits 25 951 690 
Total current liabilities  48,867 19,193 
    
Payables 23 2,748 - 
Loans and borrowings 26 - 27,114 
Deferred tax liabilities 22 1,828 1,696 
Provisions 24 2,682 3,151 
Employee benefits 25 302 195 
Total non-current liabilities  7,560 32,156 
Total liabilities  56,427 51,349 
Net assets  165,914 164,876 
    
Equity    
    
Share capital 28 184,826 186,123 
Reserves  (42) 7 
Accumulated losses  (17,292) (21,254) 
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the company  167,492 164,876 
    
Non-controlling interest  (1,578) - 
Total equity  165,914 164,876 
    
Notes 1 to 39 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 
 
 



Customers Limited 
 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
As at 30 June 2011 
 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
      
      
Balance at 1 July 2009 203,731 83 - (40,081) 163,733 
      
Total comprehensive income for the period      
      
Profit or loss - - - 18,639 18,639 
Other comprehensive income      
Foreign currency translation differences - - 7 - 7 
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to profit or (loss), net of tax - (83) - - (83) 
Total other comprehensive income - (83) 7 - (76) 
Total comprehensive income for the period - (83) 7 18,639 18,563 
      
Transaction with owners recorded directly into equity      
      
Contributions by and distributions to owners      
Share-based payment transactions - - - 188 188 
Own shares acquired (6,804) - - - (6,804) 
Capital returned to equity holders (22,082) - - - (22,082) 
Shares issued net of transaction costs 11,278 - - - 11,278 
Total contributions by and distributions to owners (17,608) - - 188 (17,420) 
Balance at 30 June 2010 186,123 - 7 (21,254) 164,876 

 

 Attributable to the equity holders of the Company 

 
Share capital Cash flow 

hedge reserve 
Translation 

reserve 
Accumulated 

losses 
Total equity 



Customers Limited 
 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
As at 30 June 2011 
 

 
 Share 

capital 
Cash flow 

hedge 
reserve 

Translation 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Total Non-
controlling 

interest 

Total equity 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
        
        
Balance at 1 July 2010 186,123 - 7 (21,254) 164,876 - 164,876 
Total comprehensive income for the period        
        
Profit or loss - - - 18,798 18,798 (113) 18,685 
Other comprehensive income        
Foreign currency translation differences - - (49) - (49) 77 28 
Total other comprehensive income - - (49)  - (49) 77 28 
Total comprehensive income for the period - - (49)  18,798 18,749 (36) 18,713 
        
Transaction with owners recorded directly into equity        
Contributions by and distributions to owners        
        
Share-based payments transactions - - - - - - - 
Own shares acquired (1,285) - - - (1,285) - (1,285) 
Capital returned to equity holders (12) - - - (12) - (12) 
Dividends to owners of the Company - - - (14,836) (14,836) - (14,836) 
Total contributions by and distributions to owners (1,297)   (14,836) (16,133)  (16,133) 
        
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  -      
  -      
Acquisition of non-controlling interests with a change in control - - - - - (1,542) (1,542) 
Total transactions with owners of the Company (1,297)  - (14,836) (16,133) (1,542) (17,675) 
Balance at 30 June 2011 184,826 - (42) (17,292) 167,492 (1,578) 165,914 



Customers Limited 
 
Consolidated statements of cashflows 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 
 Note 2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts from customers  122,939 114,289 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (76,863) (66,828) 
Cash generated from operations  46,076 47,461 
    
Interest received  92 607 
Discontinued operations  (86) (341) 
Income taxes (paid)/received  - 38 
Net cash from operating activities  46,082 47,765 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Acquisition of plant and equipment  (13,659) (23,828) 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired   (1,591) - 
Investments in associates  - (884) 
Loan to equity accounted investees  (118) (391) 
Disposal of investment in associate  - 5,000 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  145 270 
Acquisition of convertible notes  - (1,000) 
Proceeds from convertible notes  1,000 - 
Interest received from convertible notes  64 33 
Acquisition of intangibles  (6,539) (3,215) 
Acquisition of other non current assets  (2,741) (2,504) 
Net cash used in investing activities (23,439) (26,519) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from borrowings  6,300 31,200 
Repayment of borrowings  (3,500) (28,550) 
Net proceeds from issue of share capital  - 11,278 
Interest paid  (3,700) (3,988) 
Payment of transaction costs related to loans and borrowings  (130) (687) 
Payment of capital return  (12) (22,082) 
Dividends paid 28 (14,836) - 
Repurchase of own shares  (1,285) (6,804) 
Repayment of interest rate swap  - (762) 
Payment of finance leases   - (8,880) 
Net cash used in financing activities (17,163) (29,275) 
    
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents  5,480 (8,029) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  (39) 7,990 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June   5,441 (39) 
 
 
Notes 1 to 39 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
1. Reporting entity 

 Customers Limited (the “Company”) is a Company domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is 2/148 Chesterville Road, Cheltenham VIC 3192. The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 
and for the year ended 30 June 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
“Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. 
The Group is primarily involved in the provision of ATM services. 

  
2. Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

 The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 August 2011. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in note 4. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

 The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that 
Class Order, all financial information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
unless otherwise stated. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

 The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

• note 16 – trade and other receivables 
• note 18, 20 and 21 – useful life of assets 
• note 24 and 33 – provisions and contingencies 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes: 

• note 21 – key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections 

(e) Going concern 

 The consolidated financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. Directors are of the opinion that 
funds will be available to finance operations and that realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in 
the normal course of business. In assessing whether a going concern basis is appropriate, the Directors have taken 
into account all available information about the future which is at least 12 months from the date of this report. 

In particular, the Company has requested that its syndicate banks, National Australia Bank and Westpac, extend its 
existing banking facilities for a term of 3 years and increase the limits under the facility for growth purposes.  The 
Company has obtained credit approval from one of the banks to the requested extension and is awaiting credit 
approval from the second bank. At this point in time the Company has no reason to believe that approval will not be 
granted. 

  
3. Significant accounting policies 

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements.  



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Business combinations 

 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential 
voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

 Acquisitions on or after 1 July 2009 

For acquisitions on or after 1 July 2009, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus if the business combination is 

achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less  
• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.  

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, 
subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interest are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners 
and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling 
interests are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 

Acquisitions between 1 July 2004 and 1 July 2009 

For acquisitions between 1 July 2004 and 1 July 2009, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition 
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess was negative, a bargain purchase gain was recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in 
connection with business combinations were capitalised as part of the cost of the acquisition. 

(ii) Subsidiaries 

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

(iii) Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity accounted investees) 
 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and 
operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of 
the voting power of another entity. Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the Group has 
joint control, established by contractual agreement and require unanimous consent for strategic financial and 
operating decisions. 

Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity 
accounted investees) and are initially recognised at cost.  

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date significant influence ceases. 

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that 
interest including any long-term investments, is reduced to “nil” and the recognition of further losses is discontinued 
except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.  
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency 

(i) Foreign currency transactions 

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency 
gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning 
of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign 
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign 
currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss. 

(ii) Foreign operations 

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 
are translated to Australian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations, excluding operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to Australian dollars at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency 
translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then 
the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a 
foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount 
in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while 
retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When 
the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a foreign operation 
while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified 
to profit or loss 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor 
likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are 
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, and are presented within equity in the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR). 

(c) Financial instruments 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 

 The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade 
date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 
and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial 
assets. 

 Loans and receivables 

 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment losses. 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or 
less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 

(ii) Share capital 

 Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and 
share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

Repurchase of share capital (own shares acquired) 

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes 
directly attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are 
classified as own shares acquired and are presented as a deduction from total equity. 

(d) Plant and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

 Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.   

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition 
for its intended use, and the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which 
they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as 
part of that equipment. 

 
Gains and losses on disposals of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposals with the carrying amount of plant and equipment and are recognised net within “other income” in profit 
and loss. 

(ii) Depreciation 

 Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of each part of an 
item of plant and equipment. 

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
  
 Furniture and fittings 7 to 15 years Leasehold Improvements term of lease   
 Plant and equipment 4 years Motor Vehicles 6.67 years 
 ATMs 8 years ATM removal cost 8 years 
 ATMs – other capitalised costs 4 to 5 years  

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

(e) Intangible assets 

(i) Goodwill 

 Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of 
goodwill at initial recognition, see note 3(a)(i). 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Subsequent measurement 

 Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the 
carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an 
investment is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the equity 
accounted investee. 

(ii) Other intangible assets 

 Other intangible assets such as customer contracts and relationships that are acquired by the Group, which have 
finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Other intangible assets consist of purchased and development of software costs, and costs associated with 
trademarks, licences and agreements. 

 Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit and loss as incurred. 

(iv) Amortisation 

 • Amortisation is calculated over the cost of the asset, or any other amount substituted for cost, less its 
residual value. 

• Software is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of four years. 

• Customer related intangibles are amortised on a straight line basis over 5 years. 

• Capitalised software development costs are amortised over the effective useful life of the project, once the 
project has been completed. 

• Purchased software licences are amortised on a straight line basis over 7 years. 

• Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

(f) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets (including receivables) 

 A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 
that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency 
by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, 
indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security. In 
addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is 
objective evidence of impairment. 

The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and collective level. All 
individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables found 
not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 
identified. Receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by Grouping 
together receivables with similar risk characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries 
and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and credit 
conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 
receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When 
a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not 
yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be assessed individually are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “CGU”). Goodwill acquired in a business 
combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.  
Impairment losses are recognised in profit and loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised 
in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 
exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. 

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognised separately, and 
therefore is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is 
tested for impairment as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be 
impaired. 

(g) Employee benefits 

(i) Defined contribution plans 

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a 
cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution plan that are due 
more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are discounted to their 
present value. 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 

 The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus on costs; that is discounted to determine 
its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting 
date on government bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. 

(iii) Short-term benefits 

 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and 
the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(iv) Share-based payment transactions 

 The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become 
entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which 
the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately 
recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do not meet the related service and non-market 
performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant 
date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for 
differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

Directors consider that the non-market hurdles will not be met, therefore no expense has been reported. 

(h) Provisions 

 A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised as finance cost. 

ATM removal costs relates to the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the ATMs and restoring the sites on 
which they are located. 

(i) Revenue 

 Services rendered 

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

Goods Sold 

Revenue from the sale of ATMs or other equipment is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 

(j) Lease payments 

 Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, and spread over the 
lease term. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

(k) Finance income and costs 

 Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, and gains on hedging instruments that are 
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest 
method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings and finance leases, amortisation of borrowing costs, and 
losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs that are not directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(l) Income tax 

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating 
to investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and 
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised. 

 Tax consolidation 

 The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated Group. As a 
consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated Group are taxed as a single entity from that date. The head 
entity within the tax-consolidated Group is Customers Limited. 

Current tax expense / income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of 
the members of the tax-consolidated Group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of 
the tax-consolidated Group using the ’separate taxpayer within the Group’ approach by reference to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying 
under tax consolidation. 

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries are 
assumed by the head entity in the tax-consolidated Group and are recognised by the Company as amounts payable 
(receivable) to / (from) other entities in the tax-consolidated Group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement 
amounts (refer below). Any difference between these amounts is recognised by the Company as an equity 
contribution or distribution. 

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated Group to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated Group will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised. 

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised 
assessments of the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only. 

 Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements 

 The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated Group, has entered into a tax funding 
arrangement which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated Group in respect of tax 
amounts. The tax funding arrangements require payments to / from the head entity equal to the current tax liability / 
(asset) assumed by the head entity and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, resulting in the 
head entity recognising an inter-entity receivable (payable) equal in amount to the tax liability / (asset) assumed. 
The inter-entity receivables (payables) are at call. 

Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing 
of the head entity’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax authorities. 

The head entity in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated Group, has also entered into a tax 
sharing arrangement. The tax sharing agreement provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax 
liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised in the financial statements in respect of this arrangement as payment of any amounts under the tax 
sharing agreement is considered remote. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(m) Segment reporting 

 Determination and presentation of operating segments 

 An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s 
other components. All operating segments’ operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Managing 
Director to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for 
which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the Managing Director include items directly attributable to a segment as well 
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire plant and equipment, and 
intangibles other than goodwill. 

(n) Goods and services tax 

 On 3 March 2009, the Reserve Bank of Australia amended the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) 
Regulations 1999 (the Principal Regulations) to define the supply of certain automatic teller machine (ATM) services  
as a ‘financial supply’. This ensures that no GST is charged on those ATM transactions. 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries are not grouped for GST purposes. Each entity 
accounts for its GST obligations individually, except for ATM operating companies that are grouped. Entities in the 
Group that derived revenue from a financial supply account for their GST credits in accordance with the financial 
supplies GST rules. 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset, or as a separate expense which is disclosed separately as 
“Non-recoverable GST”. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows. 

(o) Deferred commission costs 

 Deferred commission costs are recognised at cost and are incurred in securing merchant contracts for a period in 
accordance with the Group’s standard terms and conditions. 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. 

(p) Bailment facility 

 The Group has access to a bailment facility for the supply of cash to ATMs owned by the Group. The Group is only 
exposed to risks in the areas of theft and losses, however insurances are held to mitigate these risks. The Group 
has no physical access to cash in ATMs that are using the bailment facility. 

The settlement of the cash asset and corresponding liability is through the Consumer Electronic Clearing System 
(CS3) and as such a right of set-off exists. As a result of the above factors, no asset or liability is shown for these 
amounts. The funds cannot be used for any purpose other than the supply of cash to ATMs. 

The Group is charged for this facility based on the amount drawn and the BBSY 30 day rate plus a margin. This 
expense is disclosed separately in the ‘ATM network expenses’ note 11. 

(q) Discontinued operations 

 A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary acquired 
exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the 
operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a 
discontinued operation, the comparative profit / (loss) is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued 
from the start of the comparative period. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Earnings per share 

 The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit 
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 
the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees. 

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

 The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may 
impact the Group in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2011, but have 
not been applied in preparing this financial report: 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets 
resulting from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. AASB 9 will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. Retrospective 
application is generally required, although there are exceptions, particularly if the Group adopts the standard for the 
year ended 30 June 2012 or earlier. The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of the standard. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be 
consolidated. The amendments, which will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 financial statements, 
are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements includes requirements if parties have rights to and obligations for underlying assets 
and liabilities under a joint arrangement. The amendments, which become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 
financial statements, are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

IFRS 12 Disclosures or Interests in Other Entities contains the disclosure requirements for entities that have 
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structure entities. The amendments, 
which will become mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Group has not yet determined 
the potential effect of the standard. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement introduces new fair value measurements. The amendments, which will become 
mandatory for the Group’s 30 June 2014 financial statements. The Group has not yet determined the potential 
effect of the standard. 

AASB 124 Related Party disclosures (revised December 2009) simplifies and clarifies the extended meaning of the 
definition of related party and provides a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government related 
entities. The amendments, which will become mandatory for the Groups 30 June 2012 financial statements, are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statement- Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income; the IAS will 
make a number of changes to the presentation of other comprehensive income including presenting separately 
those items that would never be reclassified to profit or loss and the impact of tax on those items. The amendments 
application date which will become mandatory for the Groups 30 June 2012 financial statements, are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures removes many of the additional domestic disclosures previously 
required so as to align the requirements of accounting standards for publicly accountable for-profit entities in both 
Australia and New Zealand.  The amendments are effective 1 July 2011 (with early adoption permitted) and are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

  
4. Determination of fair values 

 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and / or 
disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

(i) Share based payment transactions 

 The fair value of employee performance share rights is measured using the binomial tree model. Measurement 
inputs include value of the underlying asset, volatility in value of the underlying asset, exercise price of the option, 
time to expiration of the option, riskless interest rate corresponding to life of the option, and dividends paid on the 
underlying asset. 
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5. Financial risk management 

 Overview 

 The Group has exposure to the following risks: 

 Credit risk 

 Liquidity risk 

 Market risk 

 Operational risk 
 

 Risk management framework 

 This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are 
included throughout this financial report. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. The Board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for 
developing and monitoring risk management policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on 
its activities. 

Risk management policies have been established by the Board to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, 
through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Group Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
Group’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit and Risk Management Committee is assisted in its 
oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Group Audit Committee. 

 Trade and other receivables 

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
However, management considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base including the default risk of the 
industry, as these factors may have an influence on credit risk.  

Goods are sold subject to retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group may have a 
secured claim. The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. 

The Group has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of the incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that 
relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component established for Groups of similar 
receivables in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is 
determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar financial assets. 

 Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will have on the Group’s result. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. The Board continually monitors and assesses market risk. 

 Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions. 

Typically the Group ensures that it has access to sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses 
for a period of 90 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted. The Group’s policy is to maintain the following lines of credit: 

 $5,000,000 overdraft facility.  Interest would be payable at the cash rate plus a margin 
Refer to note 26 for details of the status of the Group’s existing debt facilities. 
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 

 Currency risk 

 The Group is exposed to currency risk on purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective 
functional currencies of Group entities, primarily the Australian dollar (AUD). The currencies in which transactions 
primarily are denominated are AUD, US Dollar (USD) and NZ Dollar (NZD). 

The Group considers current exchange rates and assess in accordance with future capital requirements to 
determine whether any hedging of foreign currency is required. The Group evaluates future capital requirements 
when exchange rates are favourable with the view of bringing forward future acquisitions. 

 

 Operational risk 

 Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate 
behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations. 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 
to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for 
the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions 
 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 

 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements  

 documentation of controls and procedures 

 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 
procedures to address the risks identified 

 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action 

 development of contingency plans 

 training and professional development 

 ethical and business standards 

 risk mitigation, including internal audit function and insurance where this is appropriate 

 Interest rate risk 

 The Group has entered into a competitive variable interest rate, lower than the previous fixed rates. Management 
will assess interest rate swaps on a regular basis to determine whether they are required to enter into any such 
future agreement. 

 Capital management 

 The Board’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Board of Directors 
monitor the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with the higher levels of 
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group monitors its current and future funding requirements 
for at least the next four years and presents regularly to the Board on a range of funding alternatives to meet these 
commitments in advance of when funding is required. As part of the funding options available, the Group may 
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets 
to reduce debt. Any repurchases of its own shares are made on the market, and the shares are subsequently 
cancelled. The timing of these purchases depends on the market prices. Primarily the shares are intended to 
reduce the Group’s number of shares on public issue. Buy and sell decisions are made in accordance with the 
framework set by the Board. 
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6. Segment reporting 

 The Group has three reportable segments, as described below. The reportable segments offer different services, 
and are managed separately because they require different resources and marketing strategies. Management 
reports accordingly on each operating segment and the Group’s Managing Director reviews the results of each 
segment on a monthly basis. 

  

 The Group comprises the following business segments 

 1. Convenience ATMs – The provision of ATM services to the convenience market in Australia. 

2. Financial Institutions – The provision of ATM services and other services to the financial institutions and 
corporate markets in Australia. 

3. New Zealand – The provision of ATM services to the New Zealand market. 
 

 Convenience 
ATMs 

Financial 
Institutions 

New 
Zealand Total 

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
         
External revenues  124,378 117,025 - - 20 - 124,398 117,025 
Inter segment revenue 488 382 - - - - 488 382 
EBITDA 47,597 48,022 (2,681) - (682) - 44,234 48,022 
Interest revenue 155 639 - - 1 - 156 639 
Interest expense (3,697) (4,298) - - (3) - (3,700) (4,298) 
Depreciation and 
amortisation (22,118) (20,531) (439) (36) (43) - (22,600) (20,567) 
Reportable segment 
profit / (loss) before 
income tax 

21,627 24,924 (3,120) (36) (727) - 17,780 24,888 

Share of profit/(loss) 
of equity method 
investees 

59 75 - - (411) (196) (352) (121) 

Reportable segment 
assets 211,198 216,225 4,921 - 6,222 - 222,341 216,225 
Investments in 
associates 158 1,079 - - - - 158 1,079 
Capital expenditure 11,235 24,463 1,425 2,385 176 - 12,836 26,848 
Intangibles 150,536 150,821 1,812 380 4,049 - 156,397 151,201 
 Goodwill 133,713 133,713 - - 4,049 - 137,762 133,713 
 Other intangibles 16,823 17,108 1,812 380 - - 18,635 17,488 
Reportable segment 
liabilities 53,679 51,349 - - 2,748 - 56,427 51,349 

  

 Geographical segments 

 The Group’s segments are managed in Australia and New Zealand. In presenting information on the basis of 
geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. Segment 
assets are based on the geographical location of the assets. 

 

     2011 2010 

 Revenues 
Non-current 

assets Revenues 
Non-current 

assets 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 
     
Australia 124,378 207,883 117,025 209,873 
New Zealand 20 5,178 - 1,014 
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7. Discontinued operations 

 During the year, costs of $86,263 of which an income tax benefit of $25,880 arises, were incurred relating to 
professional fees associated with placing into liquidation Customer Asia Limited, ATM Express Pty Ltd, ASP 
Consulting Pty Ltd, Autocard ATM Pty Ltd, Customer Point Pty Ltd and ACN 113671097. 

 
8. Acquisitions of subsidiary and non-controlling interests 

 On 6 May 2011 the Group obtained control of New Zealand ATM Services Limited (“NZ ATM”), an independent 
ATM owner and payment services provider by acquiring an additional 13.50 percent of the shares and voting 
interests in the company. As a result, the Group’s equity interest in NZ ATM increased from 34.25 percent to 47.75 
percent. 

Taking control of NZ ATM will enable the Group to expand its business into New Zealand. The acquisition is 
expected to provide the Group with an increased share of the independent ATM market through access to the 
acquiree’s customer base. The Group also expects to reduce costs through economies of scale. 

In the 2 months to 30 June 2011 NZ ATM contributed revenue of $20,000 and loss of $727,000 to the Group’s 
result.  

The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, and the recognised amounts of assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The fair value of acquired assets and liabilities have been 
determined on a provisional basis. 

 
Consideration transferred  2011 

  $000 
   

Cash  1,885 
   
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
   
Property, plant and equipment  777 
Other assets  174 
Cash and cash equivalents  294 
Loans and borrowings  (4,082) 
Trade and other payables  (114) 
Total net identifiable liabilities  (2,951) 

 
Goodwill   

   
Total consideration transferred  1,885 
Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised 
amounts of the net asset and liabilities of the acquiree  (1,542) 
Fair value of existing interest in the acquiree  569 
Fair value of identifiable liabilities  2,951 
Goodwill  3,863 
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  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
9. Revenue    
    

Transaction revenue  117,591 109,405 
Contractual revenue 1   2,837 5,267 
Other ATM revenue  3,970 2,353 
  124,398 117,025 
    
1. Contractual revenue consists of shortfalls and terminations.    

    
10. Other income    
    

Dividend income  54 - 
Net gain on sale of plant and equipment  - 115 

  54 115 
    
11. ATM network expenses    

    
Transaction based payments   34,457 29,035 
Communication expenses  4,721 4,253 
Cash servicing expenses  7,123 6,730 
Maintenance expenses  4,928 5,021 
Bailment expenses  4,970 4,076 
Other ATM expenses  595 - 

  56,794 49,115 
    
12. Other expenses    

    
Management and professional fees  1,551 524 
Administration expenses  2,723 2,135 
Information technology costs  799 637 
Occupancy costs  1,056 914 
Allowance for impairment  1,886 1,552 
Other  94 295 

  8,109 6,057 
     
13. Employee benefit expense    
    
 Wages and salaries 9,788 6,991 
 Other associated personnel expenses 1,714 1,864 
 Contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds 929 817 
 Increase in liability for annual leave 261 231 
 Increase in liability for long service leave 107 74 
 Employee share based payments  - 188 
  12,799 10,165 
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  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
14. Finance income and finance costs    

     
 Recognised in profit or loss    
     
 Interest expense on borrowings and finance leases  3,700 4,298 
 Borrowing cost  - 231 
 Amortisation of deferred borrowing costs  369 289 
 Finance expense  4,069 4,818 

     
 Interest income  (156) (639) 
 Realised gain on foreign exchange contracts  - (21) 
 Foreign exchange differences  (59) (2) 
 Net change in fair value of interest rate swaps and cash flow hedge  - (1,589) 
 Finance income  (215) (2,251) 
 Net finance cost recognised in profit / (loss)  3,854 2,567 

     
15. Income tax expense    

     
 Current tax (benefit) / expense    
 Current year  4,281 3,988 
 Adjustment for prior period due to merchant contracts  (5,756) - 
   (1,475) 3,988 
     
 Deferred tax (benefit) / expense    
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences   977 2,597 
 Adjustment for prior period  (845) (798) 
   132 1,799 
 Total income tax (benefit) / expense  (1,343) 5,787 
     
 Income tax (benefit) / expense from continuing operations  (1,317) 5,890 
 Income tax (benefit) / expense from discontinued operation  (26) (103) 
 Total income tax  (benefit) / expense in profit / (loss)  (1,343) 5,787 
     
 Reconciliation of effective tax rate    
     
 Profit for the year  18,685 18,639 
 Total income tax (benefit) / expense  (1,343) 5,787 
 Profit before income tax   17,342 24,426 
     

 
Income tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate of 30% 
(2010:30%)  5,203 7,328 

     
 Discontinued operations  26 102 
 Non-deductible expenses  801 950 
 Non-assessable income  (675) (895) 
 Capital gains  - (582) 
 Additional allowable tax deductions  (97) (318) 
   5,258 6,585 
 Prior year adjustments  (6,601) (798) 
 Total income tax expense / (benefit)  (1,343) 5,787 
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  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
16. Trade and other receivables    

 Current    
     
 Trade debtors  2,118 4,104 
 Other debtors  1,630 1,750 
   3,748 5,854 
 less: allowance for impairment  (625) (2,216) 
   3,123 3,638 

 Non Current    
     

 Loans due from associates  - 1,715 
 Loans other  4 - 
   4 1,715 

     

 
The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment 
losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 30.   

     
17(a). Cash and cash equivalents    

     
 Cash at bank and on hand  5,441 80 
 Bank overdrafts  - (119) 
   5,441 (39) 
     

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and sensitivity analysis for 
financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 30.   

     
17(b). Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities    

     
 Profit for the period  18,685 18,639 
     
 Adjustments for:    
 Depreciation  15,209 15,910 
 Amortisation of intangible assets  5,142 3,827 
 Amortisation of deferred commissions  1,538 831 
 Amortisation of bailment rights  710 - 
 Amortisation of deferred borrowing costs  369 289 
 Interest paid   3,700 4,298 
 Foreign exchange  (59) 2 
 Share based payments expense  - 188 
 Net loss / (gain) on sale of plant and equipment  94 (115) 
 Change in fair value of interest rate swaps   - (1,589) 
 Change in fair value of forward contracts  - (21) 
 Share of loss in associate  352 121 
  45,740 42,380 
 Change in trade and other receivables  515 (1,885) 
 Change in prepayments  (266) (364) 
 Change in tax balances  (1,344) 5,536 
 Income tax received  - 37 
 Change in employee entitlements  368 305 
 Change in trade and other creditors  1,069 1,756 
 Net cash from operating activities  46,082 47,765 
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  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 

18. Other assets    
     
 Current    
     
 Prepayments   1,063 760 
 Loan to Executive Director (refer to note 34)  224 247 
 Other – bonds and deposits  235 613 
 Bailment Rights at cost  857 - 
 Accumulated Amortisation – Bailment rights  (710) - 
   1,669 1,620 
     
 Non Current    
     
 Deferred commission costs   10,960 8,929 
 Less: Accumulated amortisation of deferred commission costs  (6,806) (4,827) 
 Other capitalised costs  82 - 
 Less Accumulated amortisation of other capitalised costs  (21) - 
   4,215 4,102 
  
 Deferred commission costs are amortised over the period of the customer contract. 

 
19. Equity accounted investees 

 
The Group’s accounts for investments in equity accounted investees using the equity method. 

 During the year ended 30 June 2011 the Group received a dividend of $54,000 from its investment in Transaction 
Media Pty Ltd. 

 The Group has the following investments in equity accounted investees at year end: 
  
    Reporting Ownership 
  Principal activities Country Date 2011 2010 
       
 New Zealand ATM Services 

Limited1 ATM Network provider New Zealand 31 March - 34.25% 
 Transaction Media Pty Ltd Advertising Australia 30 June 50.0% 50.0% 
  
 1. On 6 May 2011 the Group obtained control of New Zealand ATM Services Limited. Refer Note 8.  
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19. Equity accounted investees (continued) 

 Summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the Group 

  Ownership 
% 

Current 
assets 

Non current  
assets  

Total 
assets 

Current 
liabilities 

Total 
liabilities 

Revenue Exp’s Profit/ 
(loss)  

   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
 2011          
 Transaction Media Pty Ltd  50.0 305 18 323 205 205 297 129 168 
           

 2010          

 New Zealand ATM Services 
Limited 

34.25 614 1,014 1,628 3,548 3,548 108 1,028 (920) 

 Transaction Media Pty Ltd 50.0 168 9 177 22 22 262 107 155 
 

 Reconciliation of investments accounted for using the equity method 
  2011 2010 

   $000 $000 
     
 Opening balance at 1 July  1,079 316 
 Additions  - 884 
 Equity accounted loss   (352) (121) 
 Carrying amount of investment on gain of control  (569) - 
 Closing balance at 30 June  158 1,079 
     
 Results of associates    
     
 Share of associate loss before income tax  (352) (121) 
 Share of income tax expense  - - 
 Share of associate’s net loss  (352) (121) 
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In thousands of AUD Furniture and 
Fittings 

Plant and 
Equipment ATMs 

 Other 
Capitalised 

costs1 
ATM  Removal 

Provision 
Leasehold 

Improvements Motor Vehicles Total 

Cost         
         
Balance at 1 July 2009 1,942 102 46,438 21,807 - 736 160 71,185 
Additions 706 - 12,589 9,608 3,670 153 122 26,848 
Disposals (22) - (2,950) (315) (519) - (27) (3,833) 
Balance at 30 June 2010 2,626 102 56,077 31,100 3,151 889 255 94,200 
         
Balance at 1 July 2010 2,626 102 56,077 31,100 3,151 889 255 94,200 
Additions 263 - 6,707 5,502 151 109 104 12,836 
Acquisitions through business combinations 12 - 171 594 - - - 777 
Disposals - - (2,311) (17) (620) - - (2,948) 
Write-off of fully depreciated ATMs - - (3,293) - - - - (3,293) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - - 9 30 - - - 39 
Balance at 30 June 2011 2,901 102 57,360 37,209 2,682 998 359 101,611 
        
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment losses      
         
Balance at 1 July 2009 933 102 17,083 10,673 - 245 40 29,076 
Depreciation expense 387 - 8,029 6,445 877 137 35 15,910 
Disposals (5) - (2,722) (313) (519) - (17) (3,576) 
Balance at 30 June 2010 1,315 102 22,390 16,805 358 382 58 41,410 
         
Balance at 1 July 2010 1,315 102 22,390 16,805 358 382 58 41,410 
Depreciation expense 498  8,056 6,058 394 158 45 15,209 
Disposals - - (1,969) (14) (620) - - (2,603) 
Transfer to other non-current assets - - - (447) - - - (447) 
Write-off of fully depreciated ATMs - - (3,293) - - - - (3,293) 
Effect of movements in exchange rates - - - 1 - - - 1 
Balance at 30 June 2011 1,813 102 25,184 22,403 132 540 103 50,277 
         
Carrying amounts         
At 1 July 2009 1,009 - 29,355 11,134 - 491 120 42,109 
At 30 June 2010 1,311 - 33,687 14,295 2,793 507 197 52,790 
         
At 1 July 2010 1,311 - 33,687 14,295 2,793 507 197 52,790 
At 30 June 2011 1,088 - 32,176 14,806 2,550 458 256 51,334 

 
1 Other capitalised costs includes costs such as installation costs, freight and signage. 

20. Plant and equipment      
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21. Intangible assets      
 

 
 In thousands of AUD Goodwill Merchant 

Contracts Software 
Trademarks 
Licence and 
Agreements 

Total 
 

       
 Cost      
       
 Balance at 1 July 2009 139,191 27,306 1,749 - 168,246 
 Additions - - 2,235 997 3,232 
 Disposals - - - - - 
 Balance at 30 June 2010 139,191 27,306 3,984 997 171,478 
       
 Balance at 1 July 2010 139,191 27,306 3,984 997 171,478 

 Additions 3,863 3,725 2,182 360 10,130 
 Disposals - - - - - 
 Effect of movements in exchange rates 186 - - - 186 
 Balance at 30 June 2011 143,240 31,031 6,166 1,357 181,794 

        
 Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment    
       
 Balance at 1 July 2009 5,478 10,421 551 - 16,450 
 Amortisation charge - 3,379 448 - 3,827 
 Disposals - - - - - 
 Balance at 30 June 2010 5,478 13,800 999 - 20,277 
       
 Balance at 1 July 2010 5,478 13,800 999 - 20,277 
 Amortisation charge - 3,963 939 218 5,120 
 Disposals - - - - - 
 Balance at 30 June 2011 5,478 17,763 1,938 218 25,397 

       
 Carrying amounts      
 At 1 July 2009 133,713 16,885 1,198 - 151,796 
 At 30 June 2010 133,713 13,506 2,985 997 151,201 
       
 At 1 July 2010 133,713 13,506 2,985 997 151,201 
 At 30 June 2011 137,762 13,268 4,228 1,139 156,397 
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21. Intangible assets (continued) 

The Group operates three cash generating units (“CGU”) being Convenience ATM, Financial Institutions and New 
Zealand.  

Impairment testing compares the carrying value of an individual asset or CGU with its recoverable amount as 
determined using a value in use calculation. The Group uses a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) methodology in 
assessing the recoverable amount. In assessing the recoverable amount, the Group used the Board approved four 
year forecasts for each CGU. Assumptions for determining recoverable amount of each asset and CGU are based on 
past experience and expectations for the future. These forecasts use management estimates to determine income, 
expenses, capital expenditure and cash flows for each asset and CGU. Specific assumptions relevant to each CGU 
are as follows:  

• Convenience ATM 
o a post tax discount rate of 10.06% was used; 
o terminal value growth rate of 0.00%; 
o average transaction fees used in the forecast period are in line with market pricing; 
o future cash flows are based on average transaction volumes noted in the April to June 2011 period 

adjusted for seasonality and future growth to the network; 
o GST credits on financial supplies and reduced input taxed credits that are not recoverable, cash in 

transit costs now have 75% recoverability; 
o organic growth of the ATM fleet continues in line with recent results; 
o existing merchant/ATM contract churn is in line with long-term historical rates; 
o potential cost savings across the business that are currently being scoped are excluded from the 

model; 
o capital expenditure is calculated in accordance with expected future growth in the network; and 
o as the level of capital expenditure impacts the terminal value calculation, the Group has conducted 

a sensitivity analysis on increased levels of capital expenditure. Increase in capital expenditure 
levels did not result in any impairment.  

• Financial Institutions 
o a post tax discount rate of 12.00% was used reflecting the infancy of the operation and therefore 

an increased risk profile; 
o terminal value growth rate of 0.00%; 
o contract growth is in line with forecast levels and the cash flows assume additional contracts are 

achieved in line with the five year plan; 
o average service fees used in the forecast period are in line with contract pricing; 
o revenue model is service fee per ATM per month;  
o capital expenditure is calculated in accordance with contracted requirements; and 
o the contract period is 5 years and the Group expects the contract to continue. 

• New Zealand 
o a post tax discount rate of 12.00% was used reflecting the infancy of the operation and therefore 

an increased risk profile; 
o terminal value growth rate of 0.00%; 
o average transaction levels are in line with forecast levels; 
o average transaction fees used in the forecast period are in line with market pricing;  
o growth of the ATM fleet in line with recent contract signings;  
o existing merchant/ATM contract churn is in line with that experienced in Australia in Convenience 

ATM; and 
o capital expenditure is calculated in accordance with expected future growth in the network. 

Management has determined that there are no reasonably possible changes that could occur in these assumptions that 
would cause the carrying amount of these CGU’s to exceed their recoverable amount. 
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22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities      

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to the following: 
     
  Assets Liabilities Net 
  2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
        
Intangible assets  - - 1,825 4,052 1,825 4,052 
Trade receivables  (188) (665) - - (188) (665) 
Employee benefits  (376) (265) - - (376) (265) 
Accruals and provisions  (314) (233) - - (314) (233) 
Provision – ATM removals  (37) (107) - - (37) (107) 
Capitalised expenses  - (810) 973 5 973 (805) 
Transaction costs recognised in equity  (55) (281) - - (55) (281) 
Tax (assets) / liabilities  (970) (2,361) 2,798 4,057 1,828 1,696 
Set off of tax  970 2,361 (970) (2,361) - - 
Net tax (asset)/liability  - - 1,828 1,696 1,828 1,696 

 

Movement in temporary differences during the year 

Consolidated 
 

Balance 
1 Jul 2009 

Recognised in 
Income 

Recognised in 
Equity 

Balance 
30 Jun 2010 

Balance 
1 Jul 2010 

Recognised in 
Income 

Recognised in 
Equity 

Balance 
30 Jun 2011 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
         

Intangible assets 5,065 (1,013) - 4,052 4,052 (2,227) - 1,825 
Derivatives (583) 583 - - - - - - 
Trade receivables (264) (401) - (665) (665) 477 - (188) 
Employee benefits (174) (91) - (265) (265) (111) - (376) 
Accruals and provisions (175) (58) - (233) (233) (81) - (314) 
Provision – ATM removals - (107) - (107) (107) 70 - (37) 
Foreign currency (865) 865 - - - - - - 
Capitalised expenses (515) (255) (35) (805) (805) 1,778 - 973 
Transaction costs (472) 191 - (281) (281) 226 - (55) 
Capital gain 582 (582) - - - -  - 
Tax losses1 (2,661) 2,661 - - - - - - 
Tax (assets) / liabilities (62) 1,793 (35) 1,696 1,696 132 - 1,828 

 
1. In 2011 the Group has utilised tax losses of $19,190,000 (2010: $2,661,000).
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23. Trade and other payables    
  2011 2010 

   $000 $000 
    

Current    
Trade creditors  7,980 9,144 
Other creditors and accruals  3,769 1,752 

  11,749 10,896 
     

Non-current    
Payables  2,748 - 

  2,748 - 
    

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 30. 
 

24.  Provisions  
  2011 2010 

   $000 $000 
    
ATM removal costs  2,682 3,151 
  2,682 3,151 
 
The provision relates to the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the ATMs and restoring the sites on which 
they are located. The provision is calculated at its present value, and is reflected in the cost line in “ATM removal 
provision” in plant and equipment. Refer note 20. During the year an amount of $619,660 was expensed in relation to 
the removal of ATMs from the network. 

 
25. Employee benefits    

  2011 2010 
   $000 $000 

   
Current   
Liability for annual leave 951 690 

 951 690 
Non-current   
Liability for long service leave 302 195 

 302 195 
   

 Number Number 
 2011 2010 

Number of employees at year end     139 110 
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26. Loans and borrowings    

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, 
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, currency 
and liquidity risk, see note 30. 

 2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
Current    
Bank loans – syndicated facility  34,000 3,500 
Senior facility transaction costs - deferred  (346) - 
  33,654 3,500 
Non-current    
Bank loans – syndicated facility   - 27,700 
Senior facility transaction costs - deferred  - (586) 

  - 27,114 
    
a) Financing arrangements    
    
At balance date the Group has access to the following lines of credit:   
    
Total facilities available:    
    
Bank overdraft  5,000 5,000 
Bank loans – syndicated facility  34,000 31,200 
Bank loan – capital acquisition draw down facility  3,700 10,000 
  42,700 46,200 
    
Facilities utilised at balance date:    
    
Bank overdraft  - 119 
Bank loans – syndicated facility  34,000 31,200 
  34,000 31,319 
    
Facilities not utilised at balance date:    
    
Bank overdraft  5,000 4,881 
Bank loan – capital acquisition draw down facility   3,700 10,000 
  8,700 14,881 

 
The bank overdraft and loan facilities of the Group are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of 
ATM Solutions Australasia Pty Limited, Customers Operations Pty Limited, Customers ATM Pty Limited and 
Processing Services Australia Pty Limited. 

Interest on the bank overdraft facility is charged at prevailing market rates. The nominal interest rate for the bank 
overdraft facility as at 30 June 2011 is 9.76% (2010: 10.33%). The bank overdraft is payable on demand and are 
subject to annual review. 

All bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars. 
 

Interest on the bank loans is charged at BBSY plus margin. The nominal interest rate as at 30 June 2011 was 7.24% 
(2010: 7.23%). 

 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 

26. Loans and borrowings (continued)    

Terms and debt repayment schedule 
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans were as follows: 

 
In thousands of AUD    30 June 2011 30 June 2010 
 Currency Nominal 

interest 
rate 

Year of 
maturity 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

Face 
value 

Carrying 
amount 

        
Bank loan - syndicated AUD 7.24% June 

2012 34,000 34,000 31,200 31,200 

Total interest bearing 
liabilities 

   34,000 34,000 31,200 31,200 

 
b) Bailment facility 

In addition to the above facilities the Group also has access to a bailment facility varying from $110m to $145m 
bailment facility in order to replenish cash in ATMs owned by the Group. The Group bears certain risks in the areas 
of theft and losses, however insurances are held to mitigate these. 
 
The settlement of the cash asset and corresponding liability is through the Consumer Electronic Clearing System 
(CS3) and as such a right of set off exists. Accordingly, no asset or liability is shown for these amounts. The funds 
cannot be used for any purpose other than to replenish ATM funds. The Group cannot physically access these 
funds. 
 
The Group is charged for this facility based on the amount drawn and the prevailing 30 day BBSY interest rate plus 
a margin of 1.00%. This expense is disclosed as a bailment expense in ATM network expenses. Refer note 11. 

 
27. Share based payments to employees    

The terms and conditions of all performance share rights granted during the current and prior period are as follows. 
All option exercises are settled by physical delivery of shares. 

 
Performance Share 
Rights (PSRs) 

Number of 
instruments 

Vesting conditions/Exercise price 

   

Mr T J Wildash 
23 November 2010 350,000 

 
Remain as an employee until 30 June 2013.  
Percentage of award of award based on EPS achievement criteria as at 30 June 2013. 
EPS Achievement % of Award 
Earnings per share of 33.5 cents  100% 
Earnings per share of 28.3 cents  75% 
Earnings per share of 23.2 cents  50% 
Earnings per share of less than 23.2 cents 0% 
Nil exercise price  

  
 

 
 

Mr P L Campigli 
19 November 2010 55,300 

Mr A R Olding 
19 November 2010 58,334 

Mr C Walker 
19 November 2010 58,334 
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27. Share based payments to employees (continued)    
 
Share based payment plans – Options and Performance Share Rights (PSRs) 
 

 
 
 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
of options 

Number of 
options 

Number of 
PSRs 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
of options 

Number of 
options 

Number 
of PSRs 

 2011 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010 
       

Outstanding 1 July $2.84 75,000 - $3.00 150,000 500,000 
Granted during the year - - 521,968  - - 
Exercised during the year - - -  (75,000) (250,000) 
Cancelled during the year - (75,000) -  - (250,000) 
Outstanding at 30 June - - 521,968 - 75,000 - 
       
Exercisable at 30 June  - -  75,000 - 

 
28. Capital and reserves    

 Share capital  

 The Company recorded the following amounts within shareholder’s equity from the issuance of ordinary shares. 
  

 Share Capital  
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 
   
Issued capital 184,826 186,123 

 
 Number of Ordinary Shares  
 2011 2010 
 000 000 
   
On issue at 1 July 135,522 131,374 
Repurchase of own shares (652) (2,427) 
Exercise of share options and rights - 6,575 
On issue at 30 June – fully paid 134,870 135,522 
 
The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time, one vote per share at the meetings 
of the Company and an interest in the residual assets of the Company on winding up. 
 
Dividends 
 
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group: 
 Cents per share Total amount Unfranked Date of payment 
  $   
     
Final 2010 ordinary share $0.08 10,789,549 Unfranked 14/12/2010 
Interim 2011 ordinary share $0.03 4,046,081 Unfranked 21/04/2011 
Total amount  14,835,630   
 

After 30 June 2011 the following dividends were proposed by the directors. The dividends have not been provided for 
and there are no income tax consequences. 
 
 Cents per share Total amount Unfranked Date of payment 
  $   
     
2011     
Final ordinary share $0.02 2,697,387  28/09/2011 
Total amount  2,697,387   
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28. Capital and reserves (continued)    
 
Transaction costs 

Transaction costs associated with the share buy back of $17,162 (2010:$65,203) (tax effected) have been 
recognised directly in equity. 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR) 

The FCTR comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of financial statements of foreign 
operations. 
 

 Capital return  

 In the previous financial year two capital returns of $0.08 totalling $22,082,079 were paid by the Group to holders of 
fully paid ordinary shares in the Company.  
 

 Repurchase of own shares 

 During the year, the Group continued to buy back shares pursuant to the share buyback which commenced on 6 
December 2009 and expired on 5 December 2010. During the period from 1 July 1010 to 5 December 2011, the 
Group repurchased its own shares at an average price of $1.96. On 23 February 2011, the Company announced a 
further buyback, which commenced on 10 March 2011 and will end on 9 March 2012. No shares have been bought 
back under that buyback. 

 
29. Earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share 

Profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 

 2011 2010 
 Continuing 

operations 
Discontinued 

operations 
Total Continuing 

operations 
Discontinued 

operations 
Total 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
       
Profit / (loss) for the period 18,745 (60) 18,685 18,877 (238) 18,639 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  
 2011 2010 
 000 000 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year used in calculation of basic EPS 135,004 135,288 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year used in calculation of diluted EPS 135,370 137,555 

 

 The calculation of basic earnings per share for the 12 months ended 30 June 2011 was based on the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at 30 
June 2011. 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
   

Basic earnings per share – continuing operations 0.138 0.140 
Basic earnings per share 0.138 0.138 

 
Diluted earnings per share 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the 12 months ended 30 June 2011 was based on the 
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding at 30 June 2011. 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
   

Diluted earnings per share – continuing operations 0.138 0.137 
Diluted earnings per share 0.138 0.136 
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30. Financial instruments 

 Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk 

 The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 
  Carrying amount 

 Note 2011 2010 
  $000 $000 
    
Loans and receivables 16 3,127 5,353 
Cash and cash equivalents 17(a) 5,441 80 
  8,568 5,433 

 
 The Group’s receivables by geographic region were $3,123,000 (2010: $3,638,000) for Australia and $4,000 (2010: 

$1,715,000) for New Zealand. 
 

 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and receivables at the reporting date by type of customer 
was: 

 
 Carrying amount 

 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 
   
Banks 1,794 1,033 
Merchants 135 1,836 
Other 1,198 2,484 
 3,127 5,353 

 
 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was 

$3,123,000 (2010: $5,353,000) for Australia and $4,000 (2010: Nil) for New Zealand, totalling $3,127,000 (2010: 
$5,353,000). 

  
 Impairment losses 

 The ageing of the Group’s loans and receivables at the reporting date was:  
 

 Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
 2011 2011 2010 2010 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 
     
Not past due 2,088 - 3,292 700 
Past due 0 - 30 days 186 - 114 - 
Past due  31 - 60 days 77 - 49 - 
More than 90 days 1,401 625 4,114 1,516 
 3,752 625 7,569 2,216 

 
 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows: 
 

 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 
   
Balance at 1 July 2,216 664 
Impairment allowance  (691) 1,847 
Impairment expense recognised (900) (295) 
Balance at 30 June 625 2,216 
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30. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

 Liquidity risk 

 The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments: 
 

30 June 2011 
 Carrying 

amount 
Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 years 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

      

Secured bank loans 34,000 37,121 3,031 34,090 - - 
Trade and other payables 11,749 11,749 11,749 - - - 
Bank overdraft - - - - - - 
 45,749 48,870 14,780 34,090 - - 

 

  
30 June 2010 
 Carrying 

amount 
Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 years 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Non-derivative financial 
liabilities 

      

Secured bank loans 31,200 35,643 2,940 2,876 29,827 - 
Trade and other payables  10,896 10,896 10,896 - - - 
Bank overdraft  119 119 119 - - - 
 42,215 46,658 13,955 2,876 29,827 - 

 
 Interest rate risk 
 At the reporting date the interest profile of the Company’s and the Group’s financial instruments was: 
 

 Carrying amount 
 2011 2010 
 $000 $000 
Variable rate instruments   
Financial liabilities (34,000) (31,319) 

 
 Cash flow sensitivity 

 A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 
currency rates, remain constant. 

 Effect in thousands of AUD  Profit or loss 
 30 June 2011  100bp increase 100bp decrease 
     
 Variable rate instruments  340 (340) 
 Cash flow sensitivity   340 (340) 

 
 Fair values 

 Fair values versus carrying amounts 

 There is no material difference between the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities at 30 
June 2011 and 30 June 2010. 
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31.  Operating leases  
  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 

Leases as Lessee    

Non-cancellable operating lease payments are payable as follows:    
Less than one year   545 577 
Between one and five years  827 1,324 

  1,372 1,901 
 

The Group leases a number of office and warehouse facilities under operating leases. 
The leases typically run for different timeframes with an option to renew. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2011 $584,693 was recognised as an expense in the profit or loss in respect of 
operating leases (2010: $442,578). 

 
32.  Capital and other commitments  

  2011 2010 
  $000 $000 

Capital expenditure commitments    
Spare parts and modems  996 77 
ATMs  5,220 1,734 
  6,216 1,811 

 
33.  Contingencies  

 
The Directors are of the opinion that the following matters are not a present obligation of the Group or capable of 
reliable measurement. 
 
GST 
 
On 3 March 2009, the Reserve Bank of Australia amended the A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) 
Regulations 1999 (the Principal Regulations) to define the supply of certain automatic teller machine (ATM) services 
as a ‘financial supply’. 
 
Division 129 of the GST Regulations contains a clawback provision for acquisitions above a certain threshold 
purchased for taxable supplies which are then subsequently used for input taxed supplies. The obligation is required 
to be paid over the next five years. The amount payable for each year is only measureable at the end of the 
financial year, and payable in the following month. The key criteria is that the asset must still be in use at the end of 
that financial year. 
 
At 30 June 2011 the contingent liability, is within the range of $100,000 to $150,000. This amount will be payable 
over the next two year period with the final payment in 2013. 
 
New Zealand Services Limited 
 
Upon receiving a notice from Electronic Transaction Services Limited (“ETSL”) in a form agreeable to Customers 
Limited, the Group has 13 months to exercise a call option to acquire the remaining equity in New Zealand ATM 
Services Limited. In the event that Customers Limited does not exercise its call option the shareholders of New 
Zealand Services Limited can exercise a put option requiring Customers Limited to acquire the remaining equity. 
The amount of the put and call option has been agreed inclusive of repayment of shareholders loans and restraint 
fees for key personnel. 
 
The abovementioned notice includes conditions requiring that ETSL will support the deployment of ATMs by New 
Zealand ATM Services Limited and that at least 5 of the 6 issuing banks have agreed to facilitate their cardholders 
conducting withdrawal transactions. 
 
Customers has not received the notice from ETSL as at 24 August 2011. When the company receives the notice in 
form satisfactory to it the following amounts are payable under the put and call option: 
  Acquisition of the remaining equity in New Zealand Services Limited  A$7.8m 
  Restraint fee        NZ$1.1m 
  Repayment of shareholder loans     A$2.7m 
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34. Related parties      
 Key management personnel compensation 

 The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 13) are as follows: 
    
   2011 2010 
   $ $ 
     
 Short-term employee benefits  2,406,343 1,756,034 
 Other long term benefits  9,563 5,026 
 Post employment benefits  204,950 185,593 
 Share based payments  - (112,223) 
   2,620,856 1,834,430 

 
 Key management personnel transactions 

 

Key management personnel include Directors and management personnel who have authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including the five most highly remunerated 
executives. 

 Individual Directors and executives compensation disclosures 

 

Information regarding individual Directors and executives compensation and some equity instruments disclosures 
as required by Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ 
report. 

Apart from the transactions disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the 
Company or the Group since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving 
Directors’ interests existing at year-end. 

 
 Loans to key management personnel and their related parties 

 
Details regarding loans outstanding at the reporting date to key management personnel and their related parties, 
where the individual’s aggregate loan balance exceeded $100,000 at any time in the reporting period, are as follows: 

  

 

 Balance 1 July 2010 Balance 30 June 2011 Interest not charged 
Highest balance in 

period 
     
Mr T J Wildash $247,000 $224,000 - $247,000 

 

 

 Balance 1 July 2009 Balance 30 June 2010 Interest not charged 
Highest balance in 

period 
     
Mr T J Wildash - $247,000 $2,536 $290,000 

  

 

Unsecured loans to Mr T Wildash issued during the year ended 30 June 2011 amounted to $Nil (2010:$247,000). 
Interest is payable at the rate of 7.24% by the Director from the 10 October 2010 and the loan is repayable on 30 
November 2011. 

 

 Options and rights over equity instruments 

 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of share options and rights in Customers Limited, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

 
2011 Held at 

1 July 
2010 

Granted as 
compensation 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Cancelled Held at 
30 June 

2011 

Vested 
during 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
30 June 2011 

Former non-executive 
directors 

       

Mr G K Monaghan1 75,000 - - (75,000) - - - 
        

Executive Director        
Mr T J Wildash - 350,000 - - 350,000 - - 

        
Executives        
Mr P L J Campigli - 55,300 - - 55,300 - - 
Mr C Walker - 58,334 - - 58,334 - - 
Mr A Olding - 58,334 - - 58,334 - - 
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1 Resigned as Chairman and director on 23 November 2010.  
 

34. Related parties (continued)      
 

2010 Held at  
1 July 
2009 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Cancelled 
during the 

year 

Held at  
30 June 

2010  

Vested 
during 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
30 June 2010  

Non-executive Directors       
Mr C V Carbonaro  75,000 (75,000) - - 75,000 - 
Mr G K Monaghan 75,000 - - 75,000 - 75,000 

       
Executive Director       
Mr T J Wildash 500,000 (250,000) (250,000) - - - 

 
     

Note that the issuance of performance share rights in the table above are subject to achievement of KPI’s which are 
considered non-market performance conditions. 

 

 Movements in shares     

 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Customers Limited, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 

 
 2011 

Held at 1 July 
2010  Purchases 

Received on 
exercise of 

options/PSRs Sales 
Held at 30 June 

2011 
Non-executive Directors      
Mr C V Carbonaro  400,000 - - - 400,000 
Mr P L Polson 1 - 50,000 - - 50,000 
Mr R Herron 2 - 100,000 - - 100,000 
Mr R Burney 1 - 38,000 - - 38,000 
      
Former Directors      
Mr G K Monaghan 3 400,000 - - - N/A 
Mr G R Rooke 4 185,834 - - - N/A 
      
Executive Director      
Mr T J Wildash 1,515,191 55,000 - - 1,570,191 
      
Executives      
Mr A Olding 13,000 9,000 - - 22,000 
Mr R Martin 2,500 - - - 2,500 

 
1 Appointed 23 November 2010 3 Resigned as Chairman and director on 23 November 2010. 
2 Appointed 4 October 2010 4 Resigned 23 November 2010 

 
2010 

Held at 1 July 
2009  Purchases 

Received on 
exercise of 

options/PSRs Sales 
Held at 30 June 

2010 
Directors      

Mr C V Carbonaro  300,000 25,000 75,000 - 400,000 
Mr G K Monaghan 400,000 - - - 400,000 
Mr G R Rooke 185,834 - - - 185,834 
      
Executive Director      
Mr T J Wildash  1,265,191 - 250,000 - 1,515,191 

      
Executives      
Mr A Olding - 13,000 - - 13,000 
Mr C Walker - - - - - 
Mr P L J Campigli  - - - - - 
Mr R Martin - 2,500 - - 2,500 
Mr J Wilson  130,000 - - - n/a 

 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 

34. Related parties (continued)      

   
Transactions value year 

ending 30 June  
Balance outstanding  

as at 30 June 
 Consolidated   2011 2010 2011 2010 
   $000 $000 $000 $000 
       
 Associate – sale of goods and on-charge services  372 801 - - 
 Jointly controlled entity – on-charge services  10 19 - - 
 Associate – loans  - - 31 1,715 
       
 Transactions with associates and the jointly controlled entity are priced on an arm’s length basis.   

 
35. Controlled entities    

   
Country of 

Incorporation Percentage Ownership  

    2011 2010 
 Parent Entity:     
 Customers Limited  Aust   
      
 Subsidiaries of Customers Limited:     
 ASP Consulting Pty Limited (in liquidation)  Aust 100% 100% 
 ATM Solutions Australasia Pty Limited  Aust 100% 100% 
 ATM Express Pty Limited (In liquidation)  Aust 100% 100% 
 Customers ATM Pty Limited  Aust 100% 100% 
 Customers Operations Pty Limited  Aust 100% 100% 
 Autocard ATM Australia Pty Limited (In liquidation)  Aust 100% 100% 
 Firstpoint Payments Pty Limited  Aust 100% 100% 
 A.C.N. 113  671 097 Pty Limited (In liquidation)  Aust 100% 100% 
 Customers Point Pty Limited (In liquidation)  Aust 100% 100% 
 Customers Asia Limited (In liquidation)  Hong Kong 100% 100% 
 Processing Services Australia Pty Limited  Aust 100% 100% 
 New Zealand ATM Services Limited 1  NZ 47.75% 34.25% 

  

 
1. Although the Group owns less than half of New Zealand ATM Services Limited and consequently has less than half of the voting power, it is able 
to govern the financial and operating policies through majority of the seats on the Board, the Group consolidates its investment in the Company. 

 
36. Auditors’ remuneration  

  2011 2010 
  $ $ 
 Audit services   
 Auditors of the Company   
 - audit and review of financial reports 385,000 181,646 
 - audit of foreign subsidiary - 11,712 
  385,000 193,358 
 Other services   
 Auditors of the Company   
 - taxation and other advisory services 19,757 374,046 
 - taxation services for foreign subsidiary  - - 
  19,757 374,046 
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37. Deed of cross guarantee      

 

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed 
below are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial 
reports, and directors’ report. 

 

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee. The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in 
the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a 
winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six 
months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that 
the Company is wound up. 

 
 The subsidiaries subject to the Deed dated 27th October 2005 are: 
  Customers Operations Pty Limited  Customers ATM Pty Limited 
  Customers Point Pty Limited    ASP Consulting Pty Limited 
  ATM Express Pty Limited    Autocard ATM Australia Pty Limited 

 
ATM Solutions Australasia Pty Limited became a party to the Deed of Cross Guarantee on 18 June 2008 by virtue 
of a Deed of Assumption. 

 

 

A consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position, comprising 
the Company and controlled entities which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between 
parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, for the year ended 30 June 2011 is set out below. 

    
 

 Statement of comprehensive income and retained earnings   
  2011 2010  
  $000 $000 
 Revenue 124,378 117,025 
 ATM network expenses (56,143) (49,115) 
 Gross profit 68,235 67,910 
 Other income 54 115 
 Operating expenses (45,182) (36,262) 
 Finance income 215 2,252 
 Finance costs (4,067) (4,817) 
 Share of loss of equity accounted investee (352) (121) 
 Profit before tax 18,903 29,077 
    
 Income tax (expense) / benefit 1,337 (7,182) 
 Discontinued operations (60) - 
 Profit after tax 20,180 21,895 
    
 Retained losses at beginning of year (21,204) (43,287) 
 Reduction in retained earnings - 188 
 Dividends recognised during the year (14,836) - 
 Retained losses at end of year (15,860) (21,204) 

 
 



Customers Limited 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 
 

37. Deed of cross guarantee (continued)      

  Company 

  2011 2010  
  $000 $000 
    

 Statement of financial position   

 Current assets   
 Cash and cash equivalents 4,378 80 
 Trade and other receivables 3,083 3,638 
 Other investments - - 
 Other current assets 1,560 1,429 
 Total current assets 9,021 5,147 
    
 Non-current assets   
 Trade and other receivables 6,134 5,029 
 Plant and equipment 49,751 52,028 
 Investments in equity accounted investees 158 1,079 
 Investments in subsidiaries 2,454 - 
 Intangible assets 150,706 149,193 
 Other non current assets 4,039 4,102 
 Total non-current assets 213,242 211,431 
 Total assets 222,263 216,578 
    
 Current Liabilities   
 Bank overdraft - 119 
 Trade and other payables 11,387 11,199 
 Current tax payable 2,513 3,988 
 Interest bearing liabilities 33,654 3,500 
 Employee benefits 951 690 
 Total current liabilities 48,505 19,496 
    
 Non-current liabilities   
    
 Interest bearing liabilities - 27,114 
 Provisions 2,682 3,151 
 Deferred tax liabilities 1,808 1,696 
 Employee benefits 302 195 
 Total non-current liabilities  4,792 32,156 
 Total liabilities  53,297 51,652 
 Net assets  168,966 164,926 
    
 Equity    
 Contributed equity  184,826 186,123 
 Reserves  - 7 
 Accumulated losses  (15,860) (21,204) 
 Total Equity  168,966 164,926 
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38. Parent entity disclosures      
 

As at, and throughout, the financial year ending 30 June 2011 the parent company of the Group was Customers 
Limited. 
  Company 

  2011 2010  
  $000 $000 
    
Result of the parent entity    
    
Profit for the period  15,618 26,347 
Total comprehensive Income for the period  15,618 26,347 
    
Financial position of parent entity at year end    
    
Current assets  3,435 4,097 
    
Total assets  185,153 248,412 
    
Current liabilities  3,499 66,249 
    
Total liabilities  3,516 66,261 
    
Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:    
    
Share capital  184,826 186,123 
Reserves  - - 
Retained earnings  (3,189) (3,972) 
Total Equity  181,637 182,151 
    
GST liabilities of other entities within the GST group   - 
    
Tax liabilities of other entities within the tax consolidated group  2,513 3,988 

 
39. Subsequent events 

 

Acquisition of site contracts 

On 9 August 2011, the Group acquired 124 merchant sites from Aussie ATM’s, part of My ATM Holdings Limited 
for $850,000. The acquisition of sites has been debt funded through the Company’s existing acquisition facility. 

Banking facilities 

The Group has requested that its syndicate banks, National Australia Bank and Westpac, extend its existing 
banking facilities for a term of 3 years and increase the limits under the facility for growth purposes. The Group has 
obtained credit approval from one of the banks to the requested extension and is awaiting credit approval from the 
second bank. At this point in time the Group has no reason to believe that approval will not be granted. 

Dividends 

After the reporting date a final dividend of 2 cents was proposed by the Directors. The dividends have not been 
provided for. 



 

Directors’ Declaration 
 
1 In the opinion of the Directors of Customers Limited (‘the Company’): 
 
 (a) the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 28 to 64, and the Remuneration 

report in the Directors’ report, set out on pages 13 to 18, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its performance 

for the financial year ended on that date; and 
 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 
 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 
2 There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Group entities identified in note 37 will be 

able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of 
Cross Guarantee between the Company and those Group entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418. 

 
3 The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the 

Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
4 The Directors draw attention to Note 2 (a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement of 

compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 
 
 
Dated at Melbourne this 24th day of August 2011 
 

 
 
Peter Polson 
Chairman 
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Independent audit report to the members of Customers Limited  

 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Customers Limited (the Company), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and  
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on t hat date, notes 1 to 39 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and 
the directors’ declaration of the Group comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at 
the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether 
due to fraud or error. In note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial 
statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on t he financial report based on o ur audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report.  

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report 
presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting 
Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Group’s 
financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

  



 
 
 
 

   

ABCD 

Independence  

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:   

i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and  

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Regulations  
2001. 

(b) the financial report of the Group also complies with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as disclosed in note 2.  

Report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 18 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 30 June 2011. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards. 

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion, the remuneration report of Customers Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011, 
complies with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

  

 
 
KPMG 

 

 
Suzanne Bell  
Partner  

 

Melbourne 
24 August 2011 
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Note
9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

4 95,698 93,612 

37  -  
59 54 

(29,492) (24,840)
(19,546) (17,373)
(11,795) (9,182)

5 (17,255) (16,662)
(1,817) (1,610)

 -  (162)
(7,823) (6,545)

5 (3,596) (2,956)

4,470 14,336 

(1,878) 1,083 

2,592 15,419 

6  -  (36)

2,592 15,383 

(1) (7)

(1) (7)

2,591 15,376 

(842)  -  
3,434 15,383 

2,592 15,383 

(875)  -  
3,466 15,376 

2,591 15,376 

Non-controlling interest

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period is attributable to:

Foreign currency translation

Profit before income tax (expense)/benefit from continuing operations

 

Expenses
ATM transaction based payments

Customers Limited

For the period ended 31 March 2012
Statement of comprehensive income

ATM communication, servicing and other expenses
Employee benefits expense

Share of loss of associates accounted for using the equity method 

Owners of Customers Limited

Other income

Revenue from continuing operations

Share of profits of associates accounted for using the equity method

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Non-recoverable GST

Finance costs
Other expenses

Total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of Customers Limited

Profit after income tax (expense)/benefit from continuing operations

Loss after income tax benefit from discontinued operations

Other comprehensive income

Profit after income tax (expense)/benefit for the period

Income tax (expense)/benefit

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note
9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

 

Customers Limited

For the period ended 31 March 2012
Statement of comprehensive income

Cents Cents

12 2.546 11.418 
12 2.546 11.418 

12  -  (0.027)
12  -  (0.027)

12 2.546 11.391 
12 2.546 11.391 

Basic earnings per share

Refer to note 2 for detailed information on restatement of comparatives.

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Earnings per share from discontinued operations attributable to the 
owners of Customers Limited
Basic earnings per share

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the owners of Customers 
Limited

Earnings per share from continuing operations attributable to the 
owners of Customers Limited

Diluted earnings per share

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Note 31 Mar 2012 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000

1,051 5,441 
4,825 3,123 
1,153 1,669 
7,029 10,233 

195 158 
56,926 48,784 

154,752 156,397 
4,462 4,219 

216,335 209,558 

223,364 219,791 

8,763 11,749 
7 41,205 33,654 

232  -  
2,098 2,513 

990 951 
2,697  -  
2,214  -  

58,199 48,867 

1,526 1,865 
336 302 

8,654 2,748 
10,516 4,915 

68,715 53,782 

154,649 166,009 

184,826 184,826 
8 (8,664) (42)

(19,060) (17,197)
157,102 167,587 

(2,453) (1,578)

154,649 166,009 

Customers Limited
Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2012

 

Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Income tax

Provisions

Total assets

Contributed equity
Equity

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

Other

Deferred tax
Employee benefits

Total equity

Refer to note 2 for detailed information on restatement of comparatives.

Accumulated losses

Trade and other receivables

Total current liabilities

Current liabilities

Non-current assets

Total current assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method

Employee benefits

Current assets

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Other

Non-controlling interest
Equity attributable to the owners of Customers Limited

Reserves

Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Other

Total liabilities

Liabilities

Other

Total non-current assets

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes



Total
equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

186,123  -  7 (21,254)  -  164,876 

 -   -  (7)  -   -  (7)

 -   -   -  15,383  -  15,383 

 -   -  (7) 15,383  -  15,376 

(1,285)  -   -   -   -  (1,285)

(12)  -   -   -   -  (12)
 -   -  (4,846)  -  (4,846)

 -   -   -  (9,990)  -  (9,990)

184,826  -   -  (20,707)  -  164,119 

Total
equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

184,826  -  (42) (17,197) (1,578) 166,009 

 -   -  32  -  (33) (1)

 -   -   -  3,434 (842) 2,592 

 -   -  32 3,434 (875) 2,591 

 -   -   -  97  -  97 
 -  (8,654)  -   -   -  (8,654)

 -   -  (2,697)  -  (2,697)
 -   -   -  (2,697)  -  (2,697)

184,826 (8,654) (10) (19,060) (2,453) 154,649 

Accumulated 
losses interest

Non-
controlling

New Zealand
option
reserve r eserve

Foreign
currency Accumulated

losses

Non-
controlling

interest

 
Balance at 1 July 2010

Profit after income tax 
(expense)/benefit for the 
period

Capital returns to equity 
holders

Total comprehensive income 
for the period

Own shares acquired

Dividends paid

Balance at 31 March 2011

 

Contributed

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

equity

Dividends payable

Customers Limited

For the period ended 31 March 2012
Statement of changes in equity

Other comprehensive income 
for the period, net of tax

Contributed
equity reserve

New Zealand
option

Foreign
currency
reserve

Other comprehensive income 
for the period, net of tax
Profit/(loss) after income tax 
(expense)/benefit for the 

Total comprehensive income 
for the period

Balance at 1 July 2011

Dividends payable
Dividends paid

New Zealand option acquired
Share-based payments

Balance at 31 March 2012

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes



Note
9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

93,687 90,708 
(71,794) (59,306)

21,893 31,402 
107 53 

 -  (41)
(2,631)  -  

19,369 31,414 

(21,029) (11,214)
(2,871) (6,138)

25 (118)
 -  109 

(1,216) (2,305)
 -  1,000 
 -  47 

(25,091) (18,619)

10,250 4,400 
9 (2,697) (9,990)

(2,500) (1,750)
 -  (1,284)

(3,201) (2,681)
(520) (129)

1,332 (11,434)

(4,390) 1,361 
5,441 (39)

1,051 1,322 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Interest paid on debt and finance leases
Repurchase of own shares

Dividends paid
Repayment of borrowings

Financing costs

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Interest on convertible notes

Income taxes paid

Payments for intangibles

Customers Limited

For the period ended 31 March 2012
Statement of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

 

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)

Interest received

Loan from/(to) equity accounted investees

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)

Net cash from operating activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Proceeds from convertible notes
Payment for acquisition of other non-current assets

Discontinued operations

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes



Note 2.  Restatement of comparatives

The consolidated entity had previously recognised the cost associated with the removal of ATMs at the time the ATM
was being installed. Given difficulties reliably estimating both the amount and timing of the restoration costs, the
accounting policy has been changed to recognise the cost of removing the ATM and restoration of the site as
incurred. Accordingly, the balances relating to this item have been restated and are shown in the extract of the
relevant statement that follows:

Change in accounting policy

Statement of comprehensive income
The effect of the adjustment for the 9 month period ended 31 March 2011 was an increase in ATM communication,
servicing and other expenses of $411,000, a decrease to depreciation and amortisation of $295,000 and a net
decrease to profit after tax of $81,000.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been
early adopted.

These general purpose financial statements do not include all the notes of the type normally included in annual
financial statements. Accordingly, these financial statements are to be read in conjunction with the annual report for
the year ended 30 June 2011 and any public announcements made by the company during the interim
reporting period in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

These general purpose financial statements for the interim 9 month reporting period ended 31 March 2012 have
been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 134 'Interim Financial Reporting' and
International Financial Reporting Standard IAS 34 'Interim Financial Reporting'.

The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial
performance or position of the consolidated entity.

Going concern

The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year and corresponding
interim reporting period.

New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

Customers Limited

Note 1.  Significant accounting policies

31 March 2012

The working capital deficiency at the reporting date is due to the requirement to reclassify long term debt as current
due to a breach of the debt service covenant on the syndicated senior debt facility during the period, as disclosed in
note 7 to the financial statements. This reclassification is a requirement of the Australian Accounting Standards in the
absence of a debt waiver at the reporting date. The consolidated entity received written confirmation of the breach
waiver from it’s lenders on 27 April 2012. This waiver was conditional on and in force through until, the
implementation of the scheme of arrangement between Customers Limited and DirectCash Payments Inc. The
consolidated entity was able to fulfil it’s liabilities that fell due through until 4 July 2012 when the acquisition by
DirectCash Payments Inc. became effective and accordingly fulfilled its obligations under the waiver.

Notes to the financial statements

The financial statements has been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors believe that funds will be
available to finance operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities will occur in the normal
course of business. In assessing whether a going concern basis is appropriate, the directors have taken into account
all available information about the future which is at least 12 months from the date the financial statements were
authorised for issue. 
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31 March 2012
Notes to the financial statements

30 Jun 2011 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000 $'000

Reported Adjustment Restated

51,334 (2,550) 48,784 
212,108 (2,550) 209,558 
222,341 (2,550) 219,791 

1,828 37 1,865 
2,682 (2,682)  -  
7,560 (2,645) 4,915 

56,427 (2,645) 53,782 

165,914 95 166,009 

(17,292) 95 (17,197)
165,914 95 166,009 

The provision of ATM services to the New Zealand market

Assets

Extract

Total non-current assets

 

Non-current assets

Financial Institutions

Intersegment transactions

The CODM reviews both adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (segment result) and
profit before income tax. The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those
adopted in the financial statements.

Identification of reportable operating segments
The consolidated entity is organised into 3 operating segments as described below. These operating segments are
based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Managing Director (who is identified as the Chief
Operating Decision Maker ('CODM')) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. There
is no aggregation of operating segments.

The information reported to the CODM is on at least a monthly basis.

Note 3.  Operating segments

Types of products and services

Convenience ATM

New Zealand

The provision of ATM services and other services to the financial institution industry
and corporate markets in Australia

The provision of ATM services to the convenience market in Australia

Net assets

Total assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intersegment transactions were made at market rates. Intersegment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows:

Note 2.  Restatement of comparatives (continued)

Statement of financial position at the end of the earliest comparative period

Liabilities

Equity

Deferred tax

Accumulated losses
Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities
Provisions

Total liabilities
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31 March 2012
Notes to the financial statements

unallocated  
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 -  90,721 4,147 724  -  95,592 
 -  664  -   -  (664)  -  
 -  91,385 4,147 724 (664) 95,592 
 -  37  -   -   -  37 
 -  165  -   -   -  165 
 -  91,587 4,147 724 (664) 95,794 

 -  28,080 (1,560) (1,305)  -  25,215 
 -  (15,854) (903) (498)  -  (17,255)
 -  106  -   -   -  106 
 -  (3,550)  -  (46)  -  (3,596)

 -  8,782 (2,463) (1,849)  -  4,470 
(1,878)

2,592 

 -  211,689 10,169 6,715 (5,209) 223,364 
223,364 

 -  195  -   -   -  195 

 -  13,837 6,931 2,184  -  22,952 

 -  66,237  -  7,687 (5,209) 68,715 
68,715 

Total assets

Operating segment information

Total liabilities
Segment liabilities

Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans
payable that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.
Intersegment loans are eliminated on consolidation.

31 Mar 2012
Institutions

New Zealand

Profit/(loss) before income 
tax expense

Segment assets

Finance costs

Revenue

Other income

Segment result

Share of profits of associates

Depreciation and amortisation

Intersegment sales

Acquisition of non-current 
assets

Investments in associates

Total revenue

Financial
ATMs

eliminations/Convenience

Intersegment receivables, payables and loans

Sales to external customers

Intersegment

Interest revenue

Total sales revenue

Profit after income tax 
expense

Income tax expense

Assets

Liabilities

Note 3.  Operating segments (continued)

Total assets includes:
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31 March 2012
Notes to the financial statements

unallocated  
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 -  93,495  -   -   -  93,495 
 -  93,495  -   -   -  93,495 
 -  171  -   -   -  171 
 -  93,666  -   -   -  93,666 

 -  35,194 (1,178) (179)  -  33,837 
 -  (16,291) (371)  -   -  (16,662)
 -  117  -   -   -  117 
 -  (2,956)  -   -   -  (2,956)

 -   -   -   -  (41) (41)

 -  16,064 (1,549) (179) (41) 14,295 
1,088 

15,383 

 -  208,648 4,921 6,222  -  219,791 
219,791 

 -  158  -   -   -  158 

 -  11,235 1,425 176  -  12,836 

 -  51,034  -  2,748  -  53,782 
53,782 

Total assets

Income tax benefit

Interest revenue

Liabilities

Total revenue

Segment assets

Total liabilities

9 months to 31 Mar 2011

Profit/(loss) before income 
tax benefit

Total sales revenue

Convenience

Other income

Total assets includes:

Depreciation and amortisation

New ZealandFinancial

Segment liabilities

Intersegment

Assets

Segment result

Note 3.  Operating segments (continued)

Revenue
Sales to external customers

ATMs eliminations/Institutions

Loss on disposal of 
discontinued operations

Finance costs

Profit after income tax 
benefit

30 Jun 2011

Investments in associates
Acquisition of non-current 
assets
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31 March 2012
Notes to the financial statements

9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

87,708 88,143 
5,753 1,895 
2,131 3,457 

 -   -  95,592 93,495 

106 117 

 -   -  95,698 93,612 

9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

124 117 
222  -  
106 383 
46 31 

7,449 7,201 
3,427 3,388 

 -   -  11,374 11,120 

3,400 2,890 
1,011 818 

184 188 
1,140 1,155 

146 491 

 -   -  5,881 5,542 

 -   -  17,255 16,662 

939 1,953 

Total amortisation

Sales revenue

Other revenue

From continuing operations

Bailment rights

 

Other expenses

Merchant contracts

ATM transaction revenue

Note 4.  Revenue

 

Contractual merchant revenue

Interest

Other ATM revenue

Revenue from continuing operations

Fixtures and fittings

Note 5.  Expenses

Bad debt expense

ATMs

Amortisation

Total depreciation

Plant and equipment

Capitalised commission

Depreciation

Trademarks, licences and agreements

Profit before income tax from continuing operations 
includes the following specific expenses:

Software

Other capitalised costs

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles

Total depreciation and amortisation
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31 March 2012
Notes to the financial statements

9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

3,143 2,681 
322 273 

(101) 2 
232  -  

 -   -  3,596 2,956 

9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

 -  (41)
 -   -   -  (41)

 -   -   -  (41)
 -   -   -  5 

 -   -   -  (36)

 -   -   -  (36)

31 Mar 2012 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000

41,750 34,000 
(545) (346)

 -   -  41,205 33,654 

Deferred facility transaction costs

 

Note 7.  Current liabilities - borrowings

Interest expense on borrowings and finance lease

Note 5.  Expenses (continued)

Foreign exchange currency (gain)/loss

 

Amortisation of borrowing costs

Fair value movement on interest rate swap

Finance costs

Finance costs expensed

Note 6.  Discontinued operations

Financial performance information

Loss before income tax benefit

Total expenses
Discontinued operations

 

Income tax benefit

Bank loans

The bank loans have been classified as current, due to the consolidated entity breaching its covenants as at 31
March 2012. As detailed in note 11 to the financial statements, the consolidated entity has subsequently received a
waiver for the breach. On 4 July 2012 the existing bank loans (overdraft and senior debt facilities) were paid as part of
the acquisition and recapitalisation of the consolidated entity by DirectCash Payments Inc.

 

Loss after income tax benefit

Loss after income tax benefit from discontinued operations
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Notes to the financial statements

31 Mar 2012 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000

41,750 34,000 

31 Mar 2012 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000

(10) (42)
(8,654)  -  

 -   -  (8,664) (42)

The total secured current liabilities are as follows:

Note 7.  Current liabilities - borrowings (continued)

Total secured liabilities

New Zealand option reserve

As at 31 March 2012, 5 of the 6 banks have agreed to facilitate their cardholders conducting withdrawal transaction,
and notice from ETSL has been received in a form satisfactory to the consolidated entity such that Full Deployment
has been triggered. Accordingly a liability of the put option has been recorded by the consolidated entity, being
estimated at  $8,654,000 based on expectations on the timing of exercise and the price at that future point in time.  

The reserve is used to recognise the corresponding equity adjustment of the put option following the recognition of
the non-current liability.

Foreign currency reserve
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations to Australian dollars.

Foreign currency reserve
New Zealand option reserve

 

Note 8.  Equity - reserves

Under the terms of the NZ ATM Services Limited (‘NZ ATM’) shareholder agreement entered into with the non-
controlling shareholders in NZ ATM, the consolidated entity holds a call option over the non-controlling shareholders
52.25% interest in NZ ATM, and the non-controlling shareholders have a corresponding put option. These options are
exercisable as follows:
  
- Call option: at any time until the date which is 13 months after Full Deployment* 
- Put option: at any time after the call option expiry date, being 13 months after Full Deployment* and before 14
months after Full Deployment 

* Full Deployment, being the date of commencement of full deployment of ATMs by NZ ATM subsequent to NZ ATM
receiving notice from Electronic Transaction Services Limited (‘ETSL’) in a form satisfactory to the consolidated entity
that ETSL will support the full deployment of ATMs by NZ ATM and at least 5 of the 6 Issuing Banks have agreed to
facilitate their cardholders conducting withdrawal transactions.

 

Bank loans
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9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

2,697  -  

 -  9,990 

2,697  -  

 -  4,846 

5,394 14,836 

31 Mar 2012 30 Jun 2011
$'000 $'000

602  -  Bank guarantees

Legal claims
There are several legal claims and exposures ongoing at the moment, which are of the type that arise in the ordinary
course of business. There is significant uncertainty as to whether a future liability will arise in respect of these items.
Accordingly, the amount of the liability, if any, which may arise cannot be reliably measured at this time. In the opinion
of directors, any further information about these matters would be prejudicial to the interest of the consolidated entity.

GST
A contingent liability estimated to be $115,000 (30 June 2011: $100,000 to $150,000) will arise over the next two year
period due to the operation of Division 129 of the GST regulations regarding the supply of certain automatic teller
machine ('ATM') services being defined as a 'financial supply' due to an amendment by the Reserve Bank of Australia
to A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Regulations 1999. The amount payable is only measurable at the
end of each of the financial years, and payable in the following month.

 

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 2.0 cents per ordinary share paid on
28 September 2011 unfranked

* The directors declared an interim franked dividend on 27 February 2012 of 2 cents per share be paid on 20 April
2012. A provision has been recognised for the dividend.

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2011 of 3.0 cents per ordinary share paid
on     21 April 2011 unfranked

 

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2010 of 8.0 cents per ordinary share paid on
14 December 2010 unfranked

Note 9.  Equity - dividends

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 of 2.0 cents per ordinary share
payable on 20 April 2012 *

Note 10.  Contingent liabilities
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Notes to the financial statements

Acquisition of Customers Limited by DirectCash Payments Inc. ('DirectCash')
On 2 April 2012 Customers Limited and DirectCash of Canada executed a Scheme Implementation Deed to effect
the acquisition of 100% of the issued shares in Customers Limited by DirectCash under a scheme of arrangement.
Under the scheme DirectCash offered to acquire 100% of the issued shares of Customers Limited at $1.27 per share
which represented a 53% premium to the 3 month Volume-Weighted Average Price ('VWAP') to October 2011 and
implied a fully diluted equity value for Customers Limited of $173,000,000. The scheme was approved at a scheme
meeting of shareholders on 18 June 2012 and received final approval to proceed by the Supreme Court of Victoria on
22 June 2012. On 4 July 2012, the implementation date, Customers Limited became a fully owned subsidiary of
DirectCash.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 March 2012 that has significantly affected, or may significantly
affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's state of affairs
in future financial years.

Vesting of performance share rights (share based remuneration payments)
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the Scheme Implementation Deed, all Performance Share Rights
issued and outstanding as part of the consolidated entity's employee long term incentive ('LTI') plan vested as part of
the completion of the acquisition transaction. This resulted in a share based remuneration expense of $1,147,000
recognised in June 2012, based on 1,411,465 shares.

Note 11.  Events after the reporting period

Receipt of waiver on senior debt facility
The syndicated senior debt facility which the consolidated entity has with National Australia Bank ('NAB') and
Westpac Bank, amounting to $41,750,000, contains covenants with respect to ratios for operating leverage, debt
service cover and gearing. During the period the consolidated entity breached the debt service cover ratio and has
remained in breach through to 30 June 2012. This breach was communicated to the NAB (as facility agent and lead
partner in the syndicate) in March 2012 and a waiver was subsequently received in writing on 27 April 2012, subject to
the completion of the acquisition. On 4 July 2012 the existing bank loans (overdraft and senior debt facilities) were
paid as part of the acquisition and recapitalisation of the consolidated entity by DirectCash Payments Inc.

Change in directors
On 4 July 2012 Peter L Polson, John A Russell, Ross A Burney, Charles V Carbonaro and Ross M Herron resigned
as directors of Customers Limited. Jeff Smith, Barry Sechos and Mark Stanbridge were appointed directors on the
same date.
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9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

2,592 15,419 
842  -  

3,434 15,419 

Number Number

134,869,357 135,040,136 

134,869,357 135,040,136 

Cents Cents

2.546 11.418 
2.546 11.418 

9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

 -  (36)

Number Number

 -  135,040,136 

 -  135,040,136 

Cents Cents

 -  (0.027)
 -  (0.027)

Basic earnings per share

Earnings per share from discontinued operations

Profit after income tax

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share

Basic earnings per share

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share

 

Non-controlling interest

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share

Diluted earnings per share

Earnings per share from continuing operations

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Customers Limited

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Customers Limited

Diluted earnings per share

Note 12.  Earnings per share
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9 months to 
31 Mar 2012

9 months to 
31 Mar 2011

$'000 $'000

2,592 15,383 
842  -  

3,434 15,383 

Number Number

134,869,357 135,040,136 

134,869,357 135,040,136 

Cents Cents

2.546 11.391 
2.546 11.391 Diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Customers Limited

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share

Profit after income tax

 

Non-controlling interest

Note 13.  General information

The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 9 July 2012.

Note 12.  Earnings per share (continued)

Earnings per share for profit



C-1 

CERTIFICATE OF DIRECTCASH 

Dated: August 1, 2012 
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Officer and Director 
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By: "Sean M. Brown"  
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